Confronting feedback processes on degraded coral reefs

Thesis submitted by

Jan-Claas Dajka, MSc

in March 2020

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Environmental Science

at Lancaster Environment Centre,

Lancaster University, Lancashire, United Kingdom



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Working on this doctoral thesis has been an incredibly rewarding experience for me. The time spent on my PhD-project was a consistent flow of challenges which resulted in me learning vital scientific skills. The primary reason for why my PhD-experience was so consistently rewarding is my main supervisor, Nick Graham. Through weekly meetings, in-depth revisions of all parts of my thesis, insightful comments to my questions, availability for advice whenever needed, being unbelievably cool about it when I flooded the lab group's underwater camera, and countless other aspects, Nick showed how much he cares for the next generation of scientists. Thank you, Nick.

My learning curve soared to previously unknown heights when I embarked on my fourth chapter, a conceptual social-ecological study. As my conceptual guide for whenever I visited Stockholm, Magnus Nyström was able to steer me through these uncharted interdisciplinary waters with incredible foresight and the most creative ways of thinking. Equally, Jos Barlow guided me through the complexities of ecological feedback processes with examples from rainforests from day one of my PhD. Jos' breath of knowledge helped me gain a richer, more nuanced understanding and appreciation for ecological networks and feedbacks. Thank you, Magnus and Jos.

Thank you to all members of the LEC-Reefs group for always being at the ready to embark on deep discussions and for helping me out of tricky situations with valuable advice on statistics, study designs, or field work. Thank you Seychelles National Parks Authority, Seychelles Fishing Authority, and Nature Seychelles for logistical support and I especially thank the Curieuse rangers as well as Morgan Purdy for their in-field assistance.

I thank my co-authors Shaun Wilson, James Robinson, Karen Chong-Seng, Alasdair Harris, Victoria Beasley, Gilberte Gendron, Anna Woodhead, Albert Norström, and Maraja Riechers for your patience with half-baked manuscript drafts and how you were always able to fully bake them so quickly. I also thank Christina Hicks, Mariana Alvarez-Noriega, Rebecca Fisher, Gareth Williams, and Samuel Taylor for their insightful help with the concepts, designs, and statistics of my manuscripts.

I thank my tremendous house mate of over 2.5 years, Joshua Gittins, for providing a middle ground opinion when my objectivity threatened to wane and for always being my first-stop option for even the most unfinished of drafts.

Finally, I thank my family. Fritzi, Ma und Pa, eure fortwährende Unterstützung für den unorthodoxen Wunsch eines bestimmten Halbstarken, Meeresbiologe zu werden, war von unvergleichlicher Bedeutung für mich. Egal aus welcher Ecke der Welt ich in Zukunft anreise, ihr seid der Grund, weshalb ich mit einem Lächeln nach Hause komme. Danke.

STATEMENT OF CONTRIBUTION OF OTHERS

My thesis includes collaborations with my supervisors Nick Graham, Magnus Nyström, and Jos Barlow, and other co-authors such as Shaun Wilson, James Robinson, Karen Chong-Seng, Alasdair Harris, Victoria Beasley, Gilberte Gendron, Anna Woodhead, Albert Norström, and Maraja Riechers. I was responsible for the project's conceptual and experimental design, data collection, analysis, interpretation, and synthesis into final form for publication. My supervisors provided intellectual guidance, equipment, funding support, and editorial assistance.

Funding for this PhD-project was provided through Nick Graham's Royal Society grant, Magnus Nyström's Stockholm Resilience Centre grant, Lancaster University postgraduate conference grant, Lancaster University Graduate School travel grants, Lancaster University Faculty of Science and Technology travel grants, and a Lancaster University Faculty of Science and Technology PhD studentship.

ABSTRACT

Coral reefs are degrading under global stressors that are increasing in frequency and severity as the Anthropocene accelerates. My thesis contributes to our scientific understanding of the dynamics that govern degraded coral reef states. More specifically, I contribute to our understanding of feedback processes on degraded coral reefs in conceptual and experimental ways by confronting both ecological and social-ecological feedbacks in ways that may have merit in triggering coral recovery.

My four presented studies (**Chapters 1-4**) pursue the following research questions: 1. Which habitat drivers best predict juvenile coral densities following bleaching? 2. Can macroalgae-reinforcing feedbacks be weakened through shading? 3. Can sea urchins effectively weaken macroalgal feedbacks given their current natural densities? 4. Can red and green loops uncover missing social-ecological feedbacks?

Juvenile corals are a critical life history stage representing survival and growth of new recruits into the population. **Chapter 1** compares juvenile coral densities from before the 2016 bleaching event with those after and identifies abiotic and biotic habitat drivers collected in the inner Seychelles that predict juvenile coral densities. Following the 2016 bleaching event, juvenile coral densities were significantly reduced by about 70 %, with a particularly severe decline in juvenile *Acropora* corals. Macroalgae present a major obstacle to survival of juvenile corals shortly following mass bleaching, but their influence varies as a function of herbivore biomass, reef structure, and reef type. In contrast, increasing structural complexity on granitic reefs is a strong positive predictor of juvenile coral density.

Macroalgae can maintain and increase their dominance with effective self-reinforcing feedback mechanisms and can significantly compromise ecosystem function. **Chapter 2** assesses shading as a management tool in an experimental confrontation of macroalgal feedbacks, aiming to maximise the benefit of habitat mosaic reefscapes in the inner Seychelles. Shading reduces the algae's ability to photosynthesise by 29 % to the point where macroalgal cover can be reduced by 51 % and turf algal growth can be reduced by 82 % within six weeks of shading. After removal of shading structures,

herbivore grazing rates decreased at shading plots, and algal beds recovered quickly, almost completely regrowing within three months.

Tropical sea urchins are often considered as macroalgal grazers, but this assumption relies heavily on geographically limited observations of select species. **Chapter 3** addresses these gaps for a common urchin species in the Seychelles, *Echinothrix calamaris*, using a combination of survey and experimental approaches in the inner Seychelles. Habitat driver models revealed patch-reef types as the best positive predictor and macroalgae as the best negative predictor of urchin densities. Experimentally penning urchin densities (maximum 4.44 urchins m⁻²) resulted in a reduction of macroalgal cover by only 13 %. Therefore *E. calamaris* at current densities in Seychelles (mean: 0.02 urchins m⁻², maximum: 0.16 urchins m⁻²) are unlikely to perform significant macroalgae controlling functions.

People use their local ecosystems and can retrieve signals about how their actions affect ecosystem health. Capturing, interpreting, and responding to signals that indicate changes in ecosystems is key for their sustainable management and breaks in this signal-response, called missing feedbacks, will allow ecosystem health to degrade unnoticed. **Chapter 4** applies an existing concept from sustainability science, the red-loop green-loop (RL-GL) model, to uncover missing feedbacks between reefs and people of Jamaica from the year 600 until now. This allowed the factors responsible for missing feedbacks to be identified – a main factor in Jamaica was seafood exports. An intervention to move Jamaica back to more sustainable dynamics between people and reefs could be to gradually move away from seafood exports and build ownership and management capacity in local seafoods.

Overall, my thesis emphasises the importance of habitat for coral recruitment following severe coral bleaching as well as for urchin density and function in Seychelles. Furthermore, I cover management approaches to confront reinforcing feedbacks of expanding macroalgal fields, especially for a mosaic reefscape setting. I test the first method to reduce macroalgal cover via the alteration of the light regime. My thesis also includes the first study to apply the RL-GL concept to a coral reef social-ecological system and I advocate for its practicality in uncovering missing feedbacks and in gaining an understanding of past, present, and future sustainability that can be of use in other systems.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsiii			
Statement of contribution of others iv			
Abstract v			
List of tables xi			
List of figures xii			
General introduction xiv			
Coral reef degradation and regime shifts xiv			
Coral reef recovery and juvenile coral density xiv			
Alternative stable states and feedback processes xv			
Stability landscapes diagram xvii			
Coral-algal regime shifts and macroalgal feedbacksxvii			
Managing feedbacks on coral reefs of the Anthropocene xix			
Sea urchins and herbivoryxxi			
Coral reef social-ecological systems and associated feedbacks			
Aims and thesis outlinexxv			
Thesis outlinexxvi			
1 Uncovering drivers of juvenile coral density following mass bleaching 1			
1.1 Abstract			
1.2 Introduction			
1.3 Methods			
1.3.1 Statistical analysis			

	1.4	Resi	ults	8
1.4.1		1	Temporal patterns	8
1.4.2		2	Habitat predictors	9
	1.5	Disc	cussion	. 13
2	Wea	akenii	ng macroalgal feedbacks through shading on degraded coral reefs	. 19
	2.1	Abs	tract	. 19
	2.2	Intro	oduction	. 20
	2.3	Met	hods	. 21
	2.3.	1	Study site and organisms	. 21
	2.3.2	2	Experimental setup	. 22
	2.3.	3	Sampling and statistical analysis	. 23
	2.3.4	4	Macroalgal cover	. 24
	2.3.	5	Settlement blocks: turf algal growth potential	. 24
	2.3.0	6	Photosynthetic efficiency	. 24
	2.3.7	7	Herbivore feeding following experimental deconstruction	. 25
	2.4	Resu	ults	. 26
	2.4.	1	Macroalgal cover	. 26
	2.4.2	2	Settlement blocks: turf algal growth potential	. 27
	2.4.3	3	Photosynthetic efficiency	. 27
	2.4.4	4	Herbivore feeding following shade sail removal	. 28
	2.5	Disc	cussion	. 29
3	Inve	estiga	ting sea urchin densities critical to macroalgal control on degraded coral reefs	. 34
	3.1	Abs	tract	. 34
vi	3.2 ii	Intro	oduction	. 35

3.3	Met	hods	35
3.3	3.1	Study organism and site	37
3.3	3.2	Benthic drivers of sea urchin abundance & statistical analysis	37
3.3	3.3	Experimental sea urchin penning & statistical analysis	40
3.4	Resi	ılts	40
3.4	4.1	Benthic drivers of sea urchin abundance	42
3.4	4.2	Experimental sea urchin penning	45
3.5	Disc	pussion	45
4 Re	ed and g	green loops help uncover missing feedbacks in a coral reef social-ecological system.	45
4.1	Abst	tract	50
4.2	Intro	oduction	52
4.2	2.1	Reinstating missing feedbacks to recouple social-ecological systems	53
4.2	2.2	Using the 'red loop-green loop' model to identify missing feedbacks	54
4.3	Jama	aican coral reef SES dynamics through time	56
4.3	3.1	Ostionan period (600s-900s): Green-loop dynamics	58
4.3	3.2	Meilican period (900s-1500s): Green-trap dynamics	58
4.3	3.3	Spanish occupation period (1509-1655): Green-loop dynamics	58
4.3	3.4	British colonisation period (1656-1834): Green-loop dynamics	58
4.3	3.5	Post-emancipation period (1834-1900): Red-trap dynamics	59
4.3	3.6	World Wars I & II period (1901-1945): From red- to green-trap dynamics	59
4.3	3.7	Post-war period (1946-1985): Green-trap dynamics	60
4.3	3.8	Shifted reefs period (1985-2017): Red-trap dynamics	61
4.3	3.9	Jamaica's recent red-loop economy supporting a red-trap coral reef SES	61
4.4 ix	Rein	stating missing feedbacks in a local red-trap system	64

4.4.1	Pursuing a green-loop coral reef social-ecological system design through seafood	
export ba	ans	64
4.4.2	Strengthening green loops in other regions	65
4.4.3	Monitoring required for the green loop	67
4.5 Con	clusion	68
General discu	ssion	70
Coral reef r	recovery dynamics in the Anthropocene	70
Feedback p	rocesses	70
Confront	ing existing feedbacks	70
Confront	ing missing feedbacks	73
Manageme	nt and research directions	74
Potential	habitats of juvenile corals and sea urchins in the Anthropocene	74
Combini	ng shading and sea urchin penning to confront macroalgal feedbacks	75
Confront	ing missing feedbacks for social-ecological system sustainability	76
References		77
Appendix A:	Supplementary material	86
Appendix B: 1	Publications arising from thesis	89

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1: Biotic and abiotic variables considered in habitat predictor analysis to explain spatial variation in juvenile coral density	5
Table 3.1: Biotic and abiotic variables considered in habitat predictor analysis to explain spatial variation in sea urchin abundance)
Table 3.2: Model selection in backwards stepwise selection based on Akaike information criterion (AIC) and degrees of freedom (df)40)
Table 4.1: Historical data types and sources per time period of Jamaican history	5
Supplementary table 1.1 Tukey HSD results for significant differences between individual years86	
Supplementary table 3.1 Tukey HSD results for significant differences between individual experiment weeks and urchin stocking densities	7

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 0.1 Ball-and-valley diagram (above) and feedback-threshold diagram (below) showing transition from ecosystem state A (e.g. coral) to degraded state B (e.g. macroalgae) through range of environmental conditions and with effect of feedback processes (single arrows) and disturbances (double arrow), two balls in one environmental condition point display alternative stable states, split by the feedback threshold (dotted line); modified from Scheffer et al. (2001)xvi
Figure 0.2 Alternative community states with respective feedbacks promoting coral (solid arrows) or macroalgal dominance (dashed arrows); destabilising feedbacks 'pull' the system over the feedback threshold into an alternative community state while reinforcing feedbacks strengthen one community state
Figure 0.3 Map of Seychelles showing 21 study sites categorised into previous categorisations regime shifted to macroalgal dominance (red) and recovering (blue) from the 1998 bleaching event, adapted from Graham et al. (2015)xxiii
Figure 0.4 Schematic of existing and missing feedbacks in social-ecological systemsxxiv
Figure 0.5 Schematic of the individual rationales, research processes, and outcomes as well as the interplay of the four research chapters contained in this PhD-thesisxxvi
Figure 1.1 Average juvenile coral densities per square metre (±SE) of all sampled coral genera from 2008, 2011 and 2017, (A); average juvenile coral densities (±SE) of common coral genera <i>Acropora, Favites</i> and <i>Porites</i> from 2008, 2011 and 2017 (B)9
Figure 1.2 Effect size estimates of predictor coefficients in zero model with standard error (thick line) and 95% confidence intervals (thin line); zero-model component: positive coefficient estimates predict coral absences (0) and negative coefficient estimates predict coral presence (1), stronger negative values indicate stronger positive effect on juvenile coral density (A); count-model component: negative coefficient estimates predict lower juvenile coral density, positive coefficients predict higher density (B)10
Figure 1.3 Model prediction trends of macroalgae (A), sand & rubble (B), CCA (C), and herbivores (D) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model, panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable11
Figure 1.4 Model prediction trend for interactions macroalgae * structural complexity (A) and macroalgae * herbivore biomass (B) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable
Figure 1.5 Model prediction trend for interaction reef type * structural complexity for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands)
Figure 2.1 Shading structure (white bars seen in structural picture [top] are unessential to construction, they were used for camera attachment, which produced unreliable data and was therefore omitted from the paper)
Figure 2.2 Macroalgal cover (in %) changes observed monthly in shaded plots and unshaded control plots of different sizes (4 m ² & 9 m ²) over the active shading period (grey area) and post-removal/algal regrowth period (white area); central line: mean, boxplot boundaries: interquartile range, outside dot: value is > 1.5 times and < 3 times the interquartile range beyond either end of the box, whiskers: ± standard error

- Figure 3.1 Effect size estimates of predictor coefficients in zero model with standard error (thick lines) and 95% confidence intervals (thin lines); zero-model component: positive coefficient estimates predict urchin absences (0) and negative coefficient estimates predict urchin presence (1), stronger negative values indicate stronger positive effect on urchin abundance (A); count-model component: negative coefficient estimates predict lower urchin abundance, positive coefficients predict higher abundance (B)......42

- Figure 4.1 Summary schematic of our approach to 1) using red-loop green-loop classification of historical time periods to 2) uncovering missing feedbacks for which we suggest 3) mechanisms to reinstate the feedbacks and recouple the coral reef social-ecological system..55

Coral reef degradation and regime shifts

Many coral reefs around the world are degrading (Pandolfi et al. 2003; Wilkinson 2008; Cinner et al. 2016). The habitat-forming hard corals (Order Scleractinia) are degrading under an array of stressors that extend from local to global scales. Stressors such as eutrophication from coastal run-off (Bell 1992; McCook 1999), overfishing (Hughes 1994), erosion (Schönberg et al. 2017) from ocean acidification or storms (De'ath et al. 2012), as well as mass bleaching from ocean warming (Graham et al. 2015) have led to major shifts in the structure and function of coral reef systems. Future projections of some of these stressors underpin an increasing frequency of shifts away from coral-dominated regimes (Mumby 2009). Mass bleaching of corals, for instance, is expected to increase in frequency over the coming decades (Hughes et al. 2018) and is one of the major stressors that caused significant losses in coral cover on global reefs (Goreau et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2017b). When scleractinian corals are reduced in benthic dominance, shifts to alternative regimes, such as algae, sponges, or soft corals (Norström et al. 2009) are often reported. Even reef ecosystems where corals are still dominant or instances where they are recovering often show assemblages vastly different from historical baselines (Graham et al. 2014). For instance, on Indo-Pacific coral reefs, modern climate and anthropogenic disturbances appear to select stress-tolerant and 'weedy' (quick growth, short-lived, small size) traits within the coral community (McClanahan et al. 2014). Despite it still being a coral-dominated state, the new community composition can be very different in composition and function (Alvarez-Filip et al. 2013).

Coral reef recovery and juvenile coral density

Corals can recover from large scale losses in coral cover which requires the reassembly of the scleractinian community (Connell et al. 1997). Coral recovery often takes decades to accomplish (Gilmour et al. 2013; Graham et al. 2015), provided key factors such as anthropogenic climate change, water quality, and fishing are kept within safe operating spaces (Norström et al. 2016). Coral recruitment, the replenishment of the local population by new individuals from within or outside an

existing population (Hughes et al. 2010), is a key aspect of coral recovery. The coral recruit stage, the life stage immediately after coral larvae have settled from the water column onto the reef, is when benthic coral mortality is proportionately highest (Hughes et al. 2007; Doropoulos et al. 2016). Despite mortality rates still being higher than in other benthic coral life stages, the juvenile coral stage (0.5 - 5 cm; Roth and Knowlton 2009) marks the survival of the initial demographic mortality spike following recruit settlement (Doropoulos et al. 2016). The importance of this critical life stage to recovery dynamics paired with the relative ease of measurement (Doropoulos et al. 2016) make juvenile coral density a common measures of coral recovery potential (Doropoulos et al. 2015; Graham et al. 2015; Álvarez-Noriega et al. 2018; Jonker et al. 2019).

In their long-term study, Graham et al. (2015) found five positive predictors of whether a coral reef is able to rebound from mass-bleaching events, including herbivore biomass, nutrient concentration, initial structural complexity, depth, and juvenile coral density. However, which habitat drivers predict where juvenile coral densities are likely to be highest immediately after a mass-bleaching event, are poorly studied. Being able to predict in which areas juvenile corals are most likely to aggregate in light of more frequent bleaching events is an important research gap to coral recovery research and coral reef management alike.

Alternative stable states and feedback processes

Regime shifts are often initiated by press disturbances or external drivers (chronic events, e.g. climate change, pollution). These can trigger a new ecosystem trajectory, alter environmental conditions (e.g. high temperatures, eutrophication) and render the current state more susceptible to pulse disturbances (acute events, e.g. mass bleaching of corals, algal blooms), which can push the system into an alternative stable state (Sternberg 2001). When systems do not readily recover to their original state and instead become locked in an alternative stable state, the occurring lag is called 'hysteresis' (Scheffer et al. 2001). Alternative stable states can exist in similar environmental conditions as the original state and each can be stabilised or destabilised by internal processes. These are integral parts of any ecosystem and are referred to as 'feedback processes' (Nyström et al. 2012) – two-way (A affects B affects A) or more complex, circular interactions (A affects B affects C affects A) between various ecosystem components xv

(van de Leemput et al. 2016). The reduction of one component can lead to amplification of another and vice versa. Those that reduce fluctuations, create attractors, and can lock a system in a state are referred to as 'reinforcing feedbacks' (or 'negative' or 'stabilising feedbacks'). Feedbacks that oppose this trajectory amplify changes and cause the system to destabilise, are therefore referred to as 'destabilising feedbacks' (or 'positive' or 'amplifying feedbacks'; DeAngelis et al. 1986). Pulse and press disturbances can interact with feedbacks, weaken reinforcing ones, and cause destabilising ones to gain dominance. In summary, feedback processes can weaken or strengthen the stability of individual states in an alternative stable states model (Fig. 0.1).



Figure 0.1 Ball-and-valley diagram (above) and feedback-threshold diagram (below) showing transition from ecosystem state A (e.g. coral) to degraded state B (e.g. macroalgae) through range of environmental conditions and with effect of feedback processes (single arrows) and disturbances (double arrow), two balls in one environmental condition point display alternative stable states, split by the feedback threshold (dotted line); modified from Scheffer et al. (2001).

Stability landscapes diagram

The nature of feedbacks can change depending on whether they are acting across or within a feedback threshold. Feedback thresholds or tipping points are often depicted by a hill peak in the ball-and-valley diagram and as a dotted line in the feedback-threshold diagram (Fig. 0.1). Destabilising feedbacks promote the ecosystem trajectory to an alternative attractor across the threshold or hill peak. Once the valley of the alternative attractor is reached, they act as reinforcing feedbacks to it (Mumby and Steneck 2008). The diagram is also referred to as a 'stability landscapes diagram' because it displays the stability of each attractor and state as a valley (Scheffer et al. 2001). The depth of each valley represents the state's resilience and the strength of reinforcing feedbacks. Changes in environmental conditions, strength of disturbances and strength of destabilising feedbacks can alter the size and shape of the slopes even to the point where a valley disappears completely (Scheffer and Carpenter 2003). Often, more localised feedbacks act within the threshold boundaries and only become apparent once the system approaches the feedback threshold or tipping point between two attractors; i.e. once the ball approaches a downward slope. Since interactions between processes are the core of ecosystems, feedback processes are no exception (Scheffer et al. 2001). Multiple feedbacks can work in conjunction, alongside or opposing each other and vary in strength. Single feedbacks, if strong enough in relation to other ecosystem processes (including opposing feedbacks), can create an alternative attractor and push a system's current state towards it, creating a hysteretic response to environmental condition (van de Leemput et al. 2016). Strong feedbacks can cause a threshold response (i.e. ball pushed up to a hill peak) while even stronger ones can cause a hysteresis and catastrophic shifts (i.e. ball pushed into alternative attractor valley; Scheffer et al. 2001; Nyström et al. 2012). Several weaker but interactive feedbacks can have a similar effect. Multiple weak feedbacks can act in conjunction and are most often the cause for unexpected and abrupt shifts between alternative stable states or dominant regimes (van de Leemput et al. 2016; Hughes et al. 2017a).

Coral-algal regime shifts and macroalgal feedbacks

Reef regime shifts from coral to algae are arguably among the most well-documented (Bellwood et al. 2004; Hughes et al. 2007; Mumby 2009; Graham et al. 2015) and are governed by the interplay of

external (e.g. chronic and acute disturbances) and internal drivers (e.g. reinforcing and destabilising feedbacks). The coral-dominated reef ecosystem state is becoming increasingly degraded by chronic stressors, i.e. the valley sidewalls are eroded away (Fig. 0.1). Communities of fleshy macroalgae can act as one alternative attractor to corals and current climatic drivers appear to often favour macroalgae-dominated ecosystem states (Bellwood et al. 2004). Macroalgal dominance is not determined by a clear quantitative cut-off. The term 'macroalgal dominance' is usually referring to the relative increase of macroalgal cover compared to historic baselines and other specific benthic settlers (Hughes et al. 2010). The same applies to corals. For instance, baselines for Caribbean reef benthic coverage were collected in the 1970s and quantified macroalgae to cover an average of 2% benthic space. In collections from 1996-2006, average macroalgal cover had risen to 40%, a 20-fold increase. Macroalgal cover in the Caribbean is now substantially higher than coral cover (Hughes 1994).

Between the coral attractor and the macroalgal attractor, the process of herbivory is a feedback that acts across the feedback threshold, reinforcing coral dominance and destabilising algal dominance (Fig. 0.1). As primary consumers, herbivores physically remove and control algae which can act to destabilise and control algal dominance (Hughes et al. 2007). The resilience of the algal attractor is weakened, i.e. the algal valley becomes shallower. Algae are therefore less competitive with increasing herbivory rates and herbivory can support coral dominance, i.e. the coral valley becomes deeper (Lirman 2001). However, like all feedbacks, the herbivory feedback that is effectively controlling algae can be weakened through a range of causes. Densities of herbivores could simply be too low (Cheal et al. 2010) and cannot keep up the grazing intensity necessary to effectively control algal populations (Williams et al. 2001). The herbivores are saturated with less algal mass than is available. Herbivores could also be present in sufficient densities but have a preferred food source that is alternative to the algal community composition that asserts its dominance at a given time (Ledlie et al. 2007). Similarly, many mature macroalgae become unpalatable as they grow (McClanahan et al. 2002) which can increase food handling time of herbivores (Vergés et al. 2011), causing herbivores to divert away to more palatable ones (Dell et al. 2016). Even in immature turf algal stages, algae are reported to retain sediment and thereby reduce herbivory (Bellwood and Fulton 2008; Goatley and Bellwood 2012; Tebbett et al. 2016). Additionally, when macroalgae form dense stands, herbivorous fishes have been observed to avoid xviii

macroalgal patches, potentially to circumvent predators that could be hiding in between the algae or to avoid excessive abrasion by the algal blades (Hoey and Bellwood 2011).

Studies show macroalgae efficiently outcompeting other benthic settlers (e.g. corals) by inhibition of their settlement (Diaz-Pulido et al. 2009), physical interference (Tanner 1995), chemical interference (Rasher and Hay 2010) or sediment retention (Birrell et al. 2005). In addition to reducing herbivory, reports of the common macroalgal genus *Sargassum* suggest the forming of dense stands as a mechanism to lessen physical stresses and to supress microbes. The fitness of *Sargassum* recruits within dense stands was also significantly improved by depositing nutrients, propagules, and rhizomes into the sediment when mature algae decay (Dell et al. 2016). The same genus has also been shown to have attachment structures (holdfasts) extremely resistant to damage and physical disturbance such as grazing (Loffler and Hoey 2018; Loffler et al. 2018). *Sargassum* macroalgae have been observed to regrow readily from leftover holdfasts, shortening the time in which macroalgal feedbacks can be re-established (Ceccarelli et al. 2018).

Managing feedbacks on coral reefs of the Anthropocene

Comprehensive management approaches that build on our understanding of fundamental feedbacks in degraded coral reefs, can be used to trigger coral recovery (Hughes et al. 2010). Coral reefs already show high alterations in composition and there is a high probability that they will continue to do so as the Anthropocene accelerates (Graham et al. 2014). One likely future pathway of tropical reefs is a mosaic of habitat patches, where multiple patch reefs of different habitat types form an interconnected tropical seascape (Fulton et al. 2019). A mosaic habitat reefscape can consist of habitat patches such as corals, seagrass or macroalgae, that each can benefit different communities or life stages of individual species within those communities (e.g. fishes; Berkström et al. 2013; van Lier et al. 2018). Connectivity between the habitat patches is critical for functioning mosaic reefscapes (Olds et al. 2018) carefully managed mosaic reefscapes will demonstrate asymmetric patch sizes (Beger et al. 2010a). Yet, expanding patches of singular habitat type, such as uniform macroalgal communities (Fulton et al. 2019), can grow too large and undermine this connectivity. Self-reinforcing feedbacks can allow

uniform patches to efficiently expand when unchecked (Johns et al. 2018). In order to maximise the benefit of a mosaic reefscape, interventions are required that can manage undesirable patch expansion.

The expansion and succession of macroalgae could be halted when light availability is limited for extended time periods. This was shown for tropical macroalgae in a study at Kāne'ohe Bay, Hawai'i (Stimson and Conklin 2008). An unusually extended overcast period of 42 days caused significant dieoffs in the algal community and assisted in the recovery of local corals. It is likely that this can be exploited. Macroalgae likely adapt to changing light regimes by diverting energy away from growth and achieving unpalatability towards maximising photosynthesis (Littler et al. 1988; Teichberg et al. 2013). Shading macroalgae could alter the re-allocation of nutrients within the algal tissue to favour herbivory. A study associated decreased grazing rates by herbivores on macroalgae with algal maturation and suggested the correlation between algal maturation and decreased palatability to herbivores as the mechanisms behind it (Duran et al. 2016). This could be traced back to nitrogen content in the algae as a driver of grazing rates. Studies associate lower carbon-to-nitrogen (C:N) -ratios in algae with higher palatability to herbivores (Vergés et al. 2011). For instance, two marine herbivorous gastropods have been reported to prefer diets with low C:N-ratios and increase growth rates on them (Barile et al. 2004; Van Alstyne et al. 2009). Similarly, seagrasses have been reported to show short-term reductions in Ncontent when grazed by fishes and urchins (Alcoverro and Mariani 2005; Vergés et al. 2008) and shifts from palatable algal communities to unpalatable ones seem to occur when herbivores are experimentally excluded (Thacker et al. 2001; Duran et al. 2016).

In summary, by utilising the interactions between shading and palatability, herbivores could be encouraged to graze areas where reefs have shifted to macroalgal dominance and control algal expansion. The key is that this interaction of processes has potential to both weaken algae-reinforcing feedbacks via shading and strengthen algae-destabilising feedbacks via herbivory (Fig. 0.2).



Figure 0.2 Alternative community states with respective feedbacks promoting coral (solid arrows) or macroalgal dominance (dashed arrows); destabilising feedbacks 'pull' the system over the feedback threshold into an alternative community state while reinforcing feedbacks strengthen one community state.

Sea urchins and herbivory

Herbivory has been repeatedly shown to be able to boost the feedback processes in the coral's favour by reducing the competition pressure between corals and algae (Mumby et al. 2007) and even by clearing space that can allow corals to settle (Baird et al. 2003). Alongside fish herbivores, sea urchins have been reported as effective algal consumers on coral reefs (Odgen and Lobel 1978; McClanahan and Shafir 1990; Graham et al. 2017). Urchins have been suggested to be especially important for controlling algae in heavily fished areas (McClanahan 1992). Urchin abundance decreases have also been shown to be correlated with regional herbivorous fish increases (Carpenter 1988) highlighting their potential to substitute for depleted fish herbivore populations. In a system widely regarded as regime shifted to algal dominance, the recent urchin recovery in the Caribbean has been strongly correlated with macroalgalcover recessions and coral recovery in both local and regional scales (Carpenter and Edmunds 2006; Myhre and Acevedo-Gutiérrez 2007). Similar to the importance to other reef organisms, structural complexity has been shown to increase urchin survival and therefore grazing effectiveness (Hereu et al. 2004) and to be essential to urchin retention in an area (Lee and Hessen 2006). Most studied urchins have been shown to be largely opportunistic grazers (Solandt and Campbell 2001), some even controlling physically and chemically defended macroalgae (Furman and Heck 2009) and turf algae (Carpenter 1988).

Most studies have explored urchin impacts in Caribbean or Kenyan coastlines (McClanahan 1992,1995; Carpenter and Edmunds 2006; Hughes et al. 2010), and few have attempted to actively utilise urchins in a focussed area. Whether urchins can be used to effectively control algal expansion or even clear algal patches and thereby aid coral recovery is yet to be determined. Maciá et al. (2007) conducted experiments transplanting urchins to high algal density areas to explore this ability. The urchins were recorded to graze the algae but vacated the area too quickly to show a controlling impact. According to the authors, there were no apparent signs of mortality or predation that led to the urchin loss. The potential of this approach to reveal the focussed impact of urchins on algae thus remains unexhausted and could be improved to determine urchins' potential as macroalgal controllers outside of the classically studied systems.

Seychelles as an ecological study site

My chosen study sites for ecological studies were located in the inner Seychelles (4°30'S, 55°30'E). I made this choice based on the rich data that is available for comparisons to historical baselines in juvenile coral densities and recent studies reporting extensive shifts to macroalgal dominance (e.g. Graham et al. 2015). My focus falls on the reefs surrounding the granitic islands of Mahé and Praslin (Fig. 0.3), which rise from the Seychelles Bank, an underwater plateau at average depths of 44 - 65 m. Extensive fringing reefs have developed their carbonate framework around the islands, and, at greater depths, the corals grow directly on the granitic substrate. In recent history, these reefs have been strongly affected by thermal anomalies that caused the 1998 coral bleaching event (~ 90 % loss; Goreau et al. 2000) and the 2016 coral bleaching event (~ 70 % loss; Wilson et al. 2019). Of the 21 reefs that I focus on in my thesis, 9 have undergone a benthic regime shift to macroalgal dominance after the 1998 bleaching event, the other 12 were recovering (Graham et al. 2015). My thesis will contribute to determining their recovery status following the 2016 bleaching event.



Figure 0.3 Map of Seychelles showing 21 study sites categorised into previous categorisations regime shifted to macroalgal dominance (red) and recovering (blue) from the 1998 bleaching event, adapted from Graham et al. (2015).

Coral reef social-ecological systems and associated feedbacks

While the described feedback processes above operate solely in the ecological component of degraded coral reefs, sustainable conservation management must consider connections between multiple ecosystems (Beger et al. 2010b) as well as connections between ecological and social components of a social-ecological system (SES) and can span across spatial and temporal scales (Cumming et al. 2014). Social-ecological feedbacks are indeed vital to the function and integrity of the SES because of their ability to feed the ecosystem state back to the human community (Fig. 0.4), for instance by indicating overharvesting of natural resources (Meyfroidt 2013). These feedback-driven cause-and-effect relationships allow human communities to capture, interpret, and respond to signals that indicate changes in ecosystems, a key factor for sustainable management in SES (Hoole and Berkes 2010; Hamann et al. 2015). If this signal-response chain is interrupted or re-routed onto external systems, the

break can allow ecological changes to occur and go unnoticed, increasing the potential for ecological collapse (Berkes 2007; Nyström et al. 2019). Therefore, knowing when and where these "missing feedbacks" occur, is of high priority for SES management (Barnett and Anderies 2014; Crona et al. 2016).

In coral reef SES, missing feedbacks have facilitated a range of social-ecological issues, such as poverty traps on Kenyan reef fisheries (Cinner 2011) or the iconic coral-to-algal regime shift on Jamaican coral reefs (Hardt 2009; Hughes et al. 2010), and will continue to do so until they are addressed. In order to address them, missing feedbacks must first be uncovered, but this is impeded by their absent nature. Social-ecological sustainability research has developed frameworks that can be used to uncover missing feedbacks that need to be applied to the diverse data types available for coral reef SES.

The red loop-green loop (RL-GL) concept first described by Cumming et al. (2014) can uncover missing feedbacks through the characterisation of SES dynamics along a spectrum of human resource dependence. Resource dependence on a national scale can follow two fundamentally different trajectories - one with weak local ecosystem ties and strong ties with distal systems (red loop), the other with strong local ecosystem ties and weak ties with distal systems (green loop). Both ends of the RL-GL spectrum also display a variant of unsustainable trajectories (red trap & green trap).



Figure 0.4 Schematic of existing and missing feedbacks in social-ecological systems.

Aims and thesis outline

My thesis aims to contribute to our knowledge of coral reef dynamics in the Anthropocene. I achieve this by using our current understanding of feedback processes on degraded coral reefs to conceptually and experimentally confront both ecological and social-ecological feedbacks that may have merit in triggering coral recovery. My thesis addresses the following overarching research questions:

- 1. Which habitat drivers best predict juvenile coral densities following bleaching?
- 2. Can macroalgae-reinforcing feedbacks be weakened through shading?
- 3. Can sea urchins effectively weaken macroalgal feedbacks given their current natural densities?
- 4. Can red and green loops uncover missing social-ecological feedbacks?

The overarching research questions are addressed in the following research chapters. **Chapter 1** gives predictions of coral recruitment density shortly following mass bleaching of corals in the inner Seychelles. **Chapter 2** assesses shading as a management tool in an experimental confrontation of macroalgal feedbacks to maximise the benefit of mosaic habitat reefscapes. **Chapter 3** uses survey and experimental methods to determine the potential role that sea urchins can play in reducing macroalgal cover with regards to current natural densities of urchins in Seychelles. **Chapter 1, 2, and 3** all tackle ecological coral reef recovery dynamics (Fig. 0.5). **Chapter 4** conceptually integrates two frameworks from social-ecological sustainability research to historical and current dynamics between human communities and coral reef ecosystems of Jamaica. All chapters are either published or submitted to international research journals and I indicate the status of each in each chapter's title page.

Thesis outline



Figure 0.5 Schematic of the individual rationales, research processes, and outcomes as well as the interplay of the four research chapters contained in this PhD-thesis.

1 UNCOVERING DRIVERS OF JUVENILE CORAL DENSITY FOLLOWING MASS BLEACHING

1.1 Abstract

Thermally induced mass coral bleaching is globally responsible for major losses of coral cover. Coral recovery from mass coral disturbances like the 2016 bleaching event hinges on successful recruitment of new coral colonies to the existing population. Juvenile corals as a life history stage represent survival and growth of new recruits. As such, habitat preferences of juvenile corals and how environmental parameters interact to drive coral recovery following a mass bleaching disturbance are important research areas. To expand our knowledge on this topic, we compared juvenile coral densities from before the 2016 bleaching event with those after the disturbance and identified abiotic and biotic characteristics of 21 reefs in the inner Seychelles that predict juvenile coral densities. Our results show that following the 2016 bleaching event, juvenile coral densities were significantly reduced by about 70 %, with a particularly large decline in juvenile Acropora. Macroalgae present a large obstacle to survival of juvenile corals in a post-bleaching setting, but their influence varies as a function of herbivore biomass, reef structure, and reef type. Higher biomass of herbivorous fish weakens the negative effect of macroalgae on juvenile corals and structural complexity on granitic reefs is a strong positive predictor of juvenile coral density. However, structural complexity on carbonate or patch reefs was negatively related to juvenile coral density, highlighting the importance of considering interactive terms in analyses. Our study emphasises the importance of habitat for juvenile coral abundance at both fine and seascape scales, adding to the literature on drivers of reef rebound potential following severe coral bleaching.

Published:

Dajka, J.-C., Wilson, S. K., Robinson, J. P. W., Chong-Seng, K. M., Harris, A. & Graham, N. A. J. (2019) Uncovering drivers of juvenile coral density following mass bleaching. Coral Reefs 38:637–649, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-019-01785-w

1.2 Introduction

Mass coral bleaching events resulting from ocean warming have led to significant losses of coral cover across many of the world's reefs (Goreau et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2017). Coral reefs have the ability to rebound from extensive coral bleaching, but it can take more than a decade for coral cover to reach pre-bleaching levels (Gilmour et al. 2013; Graham et al. 2015). Coral reef recovery depends on the reassembly of the habitat-forming hard coral (scleractinian) community (Connell et al. 1997), driven in part by coral recruitment – the replenishment of the local population by new individuals from within or outside an existing population (Hughes et al. 2010).

Successful coral recruitment is dependent on several important factors that can result in significant demographic bottlenecks. Firstly, recruitment depends on sufficient supply of coral larvae, requiring inputs of external larvae on well-connected reefs (Hughes and Tanner 2000; Elmhirst et al. 2009) or self-recruitment on geographically isolated reefs (Gilmour et al. 2013). Secondly, availability of suitable benthic space for coral settlement is important (Connell et al. 1997; Diaz-Pulido et al. 2009). Some benthic algae (e.g. turf algae or mature fleshy macroalgae) inhibit larval settlement of corals when the algal beds become too dense (Johns et al. 2018), whilst other surfaces, such as some crustose coralline algae (CCA), can be preferred settlement sites by coral larvae (Yadav et al. 2016). Thirdly, postsettlement mortality of juvenile corals (0.5 - 5 cm; Roth and Knowlton 2009) is high (Hughes et al. 2007). Two major drivers of early post-settlement mortality are competition with other benthic organisms, such as macroalgae (Rasher et al. 2011; Johns et al. 2018), and predation, for instance by corallivores and incidental predation by some herbivores (Cole et al. 2008; Doropoulos et al. 2012). Unstable substrates such as rubble have also been suggested to cause major coral recruit die-offs (Fox et al. 2003; Chong-Seng et al. 2014). Mortality rates gradually reduce with coral growth and most corals escape mortality once they have reached sizes above 5 cm (Doropoulos et al. 2015), allowing the corals to grow to reproductive sizes and contribute to the adult population (Hughes et al. 2010; Gilmour et al. 2013).

Coral reefs can recover from extensive coral mortality, provided key factors such as fishing, water quality, and anthropogenic climate change are kept within safe operating spaces (Norström et al. 2016).

However, the likelihood of experiencing mass coral bleaching events in the coming decades is increasing (Hughes et al. 2018). A long-term study by Graham et al. (2015) in the inner Seychelles determined the density of juvenile corals as one of five parameters that can positively predict the rebound potential of mass-bleaching disturbed coral reefs. Initial post-disturbance recovery rates are usually slow and global average increases in percent coral cover following mass bleaching are only 3 % (Graham et al. 2011). However, recovery rates can speed up exponentially once juvenile corals have grown into reproducing colonies (Gilmour et al. 2013) to create an efficient positive feedback that can result in rapid rates of coral cover expansion (Nyström et al. 2012).

Studies spanning multiple decades demonstrate that corals are affected by abiotic factors such as light, depth, and substratum orientation (Babcock and Mundy 1996; Roth and Knowlton 2009), seawater temperature (Edmunds 2004), or cryptic microhabitat orientation along a depth gradient (Edmunds et al. 2004) during early post settlement. Some biotic surfaces facilitate juvenile coral growth and survival, such as some CCA species (Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold et al. 2011; Yadav et al. 2016), calcareous polychaete worm tubes, biofilms (Arnold et al. 2010), and other coral skeletons (Norström et al. 2006). Conversely, other biotic factors inhibit coral recruitment, for instance macroalgae (Box and Mumby 2007; Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011), turf algae, and other invertebrates (Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011). More recently, interacting biotic processes have been identified, such as between herbivory of turf algae (Arnold et al. 2010) and how herbivore exploitation reduced algal consumption and ultimately affected juvenile coral densities (Steneck et al. 2018).

Despite the extensive body of research, most of our knowledge on the early life history of settled corals does not stem from recently disturbed reefs. With the likelihood of thermally driven coral bleaching events increasing across the tropics (Hughes et al. 2018), an improved understanding of the drivers of post-bleaching coral recruitment will help to identify which processes promote or inhibit coral recovery. A recent study on juvenile coral densities on the Great Barrier Reef following the 2016 bleaching event considered abiotic predictors (temperature, rugosity, location around island, depth) as well as one biotic predictor (coral taxon; Álvarez-Noriega et al. 2018), but post-bleaching influences of other environmental factors, such as herbivory, CCA or macroalgae, remain unclear. Thus, an important

research gap exists regarding post-bleaching habitat and biotic predictors of juvenile coral density. Insight into which cross-scale abiotic and biotic drivers predict juvenile coral densities and how they interact shortly after large-scale coral bleaching events will improve our understanding of how early coral reef recovery dynamics vary spatially following extensive bleaching. Our study addresses this gap by investigating reefs of the inner Seychelles one year after the 2016 bleaching event. We explore temporal patterns of juvenile coral densities before and after the 2016 bleaching event and investigate how key habitat characteristics interact to limit or facilitate juvenile coral density.

1.3 Methods

The inner Seychelles (4°30'S, 55°30'E) are mostly granitic islands with well-developed carbonate fringing reefs. In recent history, the inner Seychelles' coral reefs have been affected by two major bleaching events caused by thermal anomalies (in 1998: ~ 90 % loss; Goreau et al. 2000; and 2016: ~ 70 % loss; Wilson et al. In review). We surveyed 21 sites within the inner Seychelles in April 2017, 18 of which had been previously surveyed in 2008 and 2011. At each of the 21 sites, we recorded the abundances of diurnally active, non-cryptic, reef-associated fish species along with estimates of their individual total lengths at 8 replicate point counts (7 m radius) along the reef slope. We excluded any individual fish entering the cylindrical area once sampling had commenced from abundance estimates. To ensure accurate length estimates of fish, the surveying diver estimated the lengths of sized PVC pipes until accuracy was consistently within 4 % of actual lengths every day (Graham et al. 2007). After the survey, we converted estimated fish lengths from surveys into biomass using published length-weight relationships (Letourneur et al. 1998; Froese and Pauly 2018) and species assigned to feeding groups based on their diet and feeding behaviour (Wilson et al. 2008). Within the same point counts, we visually estimated structural complexity of the reef using a scale from 0 (no vertical reef) to 5 (exceptionally complex with numerous caves and overhangs) as per Polunin and Roberts (1993), which correlates strongly with a range of other methods for capturing the structural complexity of coral reefs (Wilson et al. 2007). We counted sea urchin abundance (Family: Diadematidae) within each point count area. Lastly, we randomly deployed a 50 x 50 cm quadrat repeatedly within each point-count and counted juvenile corals in it. The number of quadrat deployments in each point count area and associated juvenile

coral counts was limited to the maximum number that could be deployed within 8 min (3 - 13 quadrats per point count). Prior surveys of juvenile corals at these sites in 2008 and 2011 had used quadrat sizes of 33 x 33 cm for juvenile density (Chong-Seng et al. 2014; Harris et al. 2014), however we used larger 50 x 50 cm quadrats to obtain a better assessment of the habitat surfaces around juvenile corals. We searched each quadrat for juvenile corals with diameters up to 5 cm (Roth and Knowlton 2009), identified the corals to genus level, and measured their diameter to the nearest 0.1 cm. Colonies clearly resulting from shrinkage, fragmentation, or overgrowth of older colonies were not recorded (Hughes and Jackson 1985). We recorded the coral's attachment substrate and took a HD-photograph of each quadrat from above in a way that all borders of the quadrat were visible. We later analysed the photographs with Coral Point Count with extension for Excel (CPCe; Kohler and Gill 2006) to obtain percent cover values for the benthos categories: macroalgae, turf algae, CCA, sand, rubble, pavement (bare rock).

1.3.1 Statistical analysis

We analysed temporal variation in juvenile coral density between 2008 (Harris et al. 2014), 2011 (Chong-Seng et al. 2014), and 2017 at the 18 sites surveyed each year. To standardise varying sampling efforts, we averaged the juvenile coral abundances across quadrats, for each site of each year (18 sites of 3 years: n = 54), rounded to give an average coral abundance. Because different quadrat sizes were used throughout the years, we included the quadrat area as an offset variable, a pre-specified coefficient, in our models. To account for overdispersion of the response variable, we fitted generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) from the 'lme4' package (Bates et al. 2015) in R (R-Core-Team 2018) for Poisson distributed errors. Our final models with 'site' as a random intercept term were selected based on Akaike information criterion (AIC; Zuur et al. 2009):

 $Juvenile\ coral\ abundance (All, Acropora, Favites, Porites) \sim Year + offset (Area)$

$$+ (1 | Site)$$

We fitted GLMMs to total juvenile corals abundances, as well as to two common genera, *Acropora* and *Porites*. For a third genus, *Favites*, we fitted the same model structure but with Gaussian errors (linear

mixed model, LMM), using the 'nlme' package (Pinheiro et al. 2018). We conducted Tukey HSD posthoc tests to identify significant year differences.

Using only the dataset for 2017, we analysed the data for 21 sites at the scale of the 7 m radius point counts to examine abiotic and biotic drivers of juvenile corals after 2016 bleaching. Because multiple quadrats were deployed within each point count, we averaged and rounded the resulting juvenile coral count across quadrats for each point count (n = 168). We expected juvenile coral density to be predicted by 7 biotic and abiotic variables measured at different scales (Table 1.1) and included ecologically sensible two-way interactions between variables.

Predictor	Rationale	Reference
Sand &	Sand or sediment act as inhibitors to the settlement	(Fox et al. 2003; Birrell et al.
rubble	of coral larvae while unstable rubble can induce	2005; Chong-Seng et al.
	post-settlement mortanty in corais.	2014; RISK 2014; Cameron et al. 2016; Vaday et al. 2016
Crustose	Coral larvae are able to settle and grow on certain	(Harrington et al 2010)
coralline	CCA species CCA can also act as a competitor for	Buenau et al 2011: Vermei
algae (CCA)	space with macroalgae as well as corals themselves.	et al. 2011 : Yaday et al.
		2016)
Macroalgae	Macroalgae are amongst the primary competitors for	(McCook et al. 2001; Jompa
	space with corals and can also induce post-settlement	and McCook 2003; Kuffner et
	mortality to corals via physical and chemical	al. 2006; Diaz-Pulido et al.
	pathways.	2009; Johns et al. 2018)
Herbivorous	Feeding by herbivorous fish removes algae creating	(Bellwood et al. 2004;
fish biomass	space for corals to settle and grow. The grazing	Lokrantz et al. 2008;
	impact scales with abundance and body size.	Doropoulos et al. 2012;
	Incidental predation by herbivorous fish on coral	Mumby et al. 2013; Graham
0 1:	spat has also been reported.	et al. 2015)
Sea urchin	Similar to herbivorous fish, sea urchins can both	(Glynn et al. 1979; Carpenter
abundance	facilitate and limit coral recruitment by (1) grazing	and Edmunds 2006; Furman
	argae and (2) incidental predation on correl anot	and Heck 2009; Edgar et al. 2010 ; Hughes et al. 2010 ;
Structurol	Space and (2) incidental predation on coral spat.	(Vargás at al. 2011): Graham
complexity	for a diverse range of organisms including fish or sea	and Nash 2013: Rogers et al
complexity	urching and create niche space for coral settlement	2014: Doropoulos et al. 2016)
	and survival.	2014, Doropoulos et al. 2010)
Reef type	Three reef types surveyed: carbonate, patch and	(Jennings et al. 1995; Creed
	granite reefs; reef type can affect coral recruitment	and Paula 2007; Graham et al.
	success.	2007; Burt et al. 2009; Wilson
		et al. 2012)

Table 1.1: Biotic and abiotic variables considered in habitat predictor analysis to explain spatial variation in juvenile coral density.

All variables were only weakly correlated and so the model was not biased by collinearity issues (Zuur et al. 2009). We scaled variables to a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1, a recommended approach

for multi-model selection which allows for meaningful comparisons of effect sizes when variables are on different scales (e.g. benthic cover percent vs. structural complexity; Schielzeth 2010). 'Reef type' was originally a categorical variable with three reef types: carbonate, patch, and granite. After isolating the impact of each reef type on juvenile coral densities, granite stood out significantly from the other two reef types. To reduce the variables and interactions considered by our analysis to a number that can be sensibly interpreted with our given number of observations, we replaced 'reef type' as a categorical variable with a binary dummy variable that isolates the granite reef type and groups carbonate and patch reef types. To account for overdispersion and high frequencies of true zeros in the response variable (45.5%), we fitted a zero-inflated negative binomial (ZINB) regression model via maximum likelihood estimation (Zuur et al. 2012). This is a two-part model that fits two distributions to the data – the first part fits a binomial distribution to the full dataset, treating the response variable as presence-absence data (zero component), while the second part fits a negative binomial distribution to all non-zero response data (i.e. where juvenile corals were present, count component). We initially fitted a zeroinflated mixed model ('site' as random factor) using the glmmTMB-package (Brooks et al. 2017) and one without a random effect using the 'pscl'-package (Zeileis et al. 2008). Model selection based on AIC (Zuur et al. 2009) classed the model without random effect as better performing, indicating that autocorrelation does not bias our parameter estimates. One variable ('sea urchins') was excluded in backwards selection based on AIC, resulting in the final model: *Juvenile coral density* \sim *Sand* & *rubble* + *CCA* + *Macroalgae* + *Herbivores* + *Complexity*

+ Reef type + Reef type * Complexity + Macroalgae * Complexity + Macroalgae * Herbivores

The model validation of this final model did show a slight residual clustering in the model's zero component which can be the case with zero-inflated models (Zuur et al. 2012). We visualized predicted relationships in ZINB models by predicting juvenile coral density across the observed range of each variable, holding all other variables to constant means of 0 (Schielzeth 2010). All statistical analyses were conducted in R (R Core Team 2018). We provide our R-scripts and model predictions at an open source repository (https://github.com/JanDajka/SeyBabies-2016-bleaching).

1.4 Results

1.4.1 Temporal patterns

Juvenile coral abundances in 2017 were less than half that of previous years (Fig. 1.1 A, GLMM, z = -9.19, p < 0.001). A post hoc test showed that 2017 abundances were significantly lower than those of 2008 (Tukey HSD, Z- $\Delta = 9.19$, p < 0.001) and 2011 (Z- $\Delta = 9.99$, p < 0.001) while 2008 and 2011 were not significantly different (Z- $\Delta = -0.912$, p = 0.63). This pattern was also the case for *Acropora* and *Porites* coral genera (Fig. 1.1 B, *Acropora* 2008-2017: Z- $\Delta = 3.82$, p < 0.001; *Acropora* 2011-2017: Z- $\Delta = 3.95$, p < 0.001; *Acropora* 2008-2011: Z- $\Delta = -0.31$, p = 0.95; *Porites* 2008-2017: Z- $\Delta = 4.82$, p < 0.001; *Porites* 2011-2017: Z- $\Delta = 4.48$, p < 0.001; *Porites* 2008-2011: Z- $\Delta = 0.53$, p = 0.86). Juvenile *Favites* abundances did not significantly differ between the years (*Favites* 2008-2017: Z- $\Delta = 2.29$, p = 0.072; *Favites* 2011-2017: Z- $\Delta = 2.4$, p = 0.056; *Favites* 2011-2008: $\Delta = -0.07$, p = 0.997).



Figure 1.1 Average juvenile coral densities per square metre (\pm SE) of all sampled coral genera from 2008, 2011 and 2017, (A); average juvenile coral densities (\pm SE) of common coral genera *Acropora*, *Favites* and *Porites* from 2008, 2011 and 2017 (B).

1.4.2 Habitat predictors

Presence-absence data (zero model) indicated a negative effect of herbivores on juvenile corals (Fig. 1.2 A). Sand and rubble, granitic reef type, and macroalgae had very weak effects on juvenile coral densities, whilst CCA and complexity had positive effects. All interactions had a positive effect on coral densities. The interaction 'macroalgae * herbivores' highlight a positive indirect effect of herbivores on juvenile coral densities. The 'macroalgae * complexity' interaction showed how macroalgae slightly reduced the positive effect that complexity alone had on juvenile coral densities while a granitic reef type increased the positive effect for complexity.

In the count component of the model, macroalgae, sand and rubble, and complexity had negative effects on juvenile coral densities (Fig 2 B). CCA and granitic reef type had very weak effects, while herbivores had a positive effect on juvenile coral densities. The 'macroalgae * complexity' interaction had a negative effect, the 'granite * complexity' interaction had a very weak effect, and the 'macroalgae * herbivores' interaction had a positive effect on juvenile coral densities.



Figure 1.2 Effect size estimates of predictor coefficients in zero model with standard error (thick line) and 95% confidence intervals (thin line); zero-model component: positive coefficient estimates predict coral absences (0) and negative coefficient estimates predict coral presence (1), stronger negative values indicate stronger positive effect on juvenile coral density (A); count-model component: negative coefficient estimates predict lower juvenile coral density, positive coefficients predict higher density (B).

The zero-inflation model rarely predicted juvenile coral densities when cover of sand and rubble or macroalgae was greater than 50 %, however, when cover of these groups was low, predicted densities
reached of ~ 2.5 juvenile corals per m² (Fig. 1.3 A & B). In contrast, when CCA was absent, our model predicted ~ 1.5 juvenile corals per m², and an expansion of up to 30 % CCA cover elevated that prediction above 2 juvenile corals (Fig. 1.3 C). The increasing standard error of additional CCA cover (30-60 %) resulting from few occurrences of high CCA cover values does not allow for further interpretation. The model predicted ~ 1.5 juvenile corals m⁻² when herbivores were absent, and this number stayed relatively constant up to 250 kg ha⁻¹ herbivore biomass before falling to ~ 1 juvenile coral per m² at 900 kg ha⁻¹ herbivore biomass (Fig. 1.3 D). Further interpretation of this trend was not warranted due to large standard errors resulting from few occurrences of high herbivore biomass values.



Figure 1.3 Model prediction trends of macroalgae (A), sand & rubble (B), CCA (C), and herbivores (D) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model, panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable.

The 'macroalgae * complexity' interaction of our model predicted densities of ~ 1.2 juvenile corals m⁻² on low (0-1 on the structural complexity scale) complexity reefs when macroalgal cover was above 50 %, but juveniles were rare on medium (1-3) or high (3-4) complexity reefs with macroalgal cover above 50 % (Fig. 1.4 A). When macroalgae cover was low (~ 10 %) however, high and medium complexity habitats supported juvenile coral densities ~ 5 juvenile corals m⁻² while low complexity habitats only supported a maximum of ~ 2.5 juvenile corals m⁻². The prediction of high juvenile coral densities in the

high complexity habitat at 0 % macroalgae cover was also accompanied by a large standard error resulting from little occurrences of high complexity habitats without macroalgae in our data and was therefore not interpreted.

The 'macroalgae * herbivore' interaction led to highest densities reaching ~ 3.5 juvenile corals m⁻² when both macroalgae cover (5 %) and herbivore fish biomass were low (0-200 kg ha⁻¹; Fig. 1.4 B). At low herbivore biomass, increases in macroalgae cover to 50 % caused a reduction to ~ 0.5 juvenile corals m⁻². This reduction in juvenile corals occurred at 65 % macroalgae cover at medium (200-400 kg ha⁻¹) herbivore biomass and to 85% macroalgae cover at high (400-600 kg ha⁻¹) herbivore biomass. Yet, the maximum density of juvenile corals was also notably depressed as herbivore biomass increased. When herbivore biomass was low, the model predicted maximum densities of ~ 3.5 juvenile corals m⁻² and ~ 3 juvenile corals m⁻² at medium herbivore biomass. At high herbivore biomass, our model only predicted a maximum of ~ 2.3 juvenile corals m⁻².



Figure 1.4 Model prediction trend for interactions macroalgae * structural complexity (A) and macroalgae * herbivore biomass (B) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable.

For the 'reef type * complexity' interaction, juvenile coral density decreased as complexity increased on carbonate and patch reefs (Fig. 1.5). For example, in granitic reefs, juvenile corals were absent at low complexity (0-1) but increased from ~ 0.5 to 2.2 juvenile corals m^{-2} at medium complexity (2-3). Both

the low complexity predictions on carbonate and patch reefs and the high complexity predictions on granitic reefs were accompanied by large prediction uncertainty and were therefore not interpreted.



Figure 1.5 Model prediction trend for interaction reef type * structural complexity for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands).

1.5 Discussion

The densities of juvenile corals have been proposed as an important predictor of coral reef recovery from mass bleaching events (Hughes et al. 2010; Gilmour et al. 2013; Graham et al. 2015), yet predictors of juvenile corals themselves following large-scale bleaching are hitherto poorly explored. Following the 2016 bleaching event, we recorded a significant reduction of juvenile coral abundance in the inner Seychelles. High cover of macroalgae was associated with few juvenile corals shortly after a mass bleaching event, though interesting nuances were found in how their densities varied with interactions between macroalgal cover and other factors. Macroalgae appear to exploit structurally complex carbonate (limestone) reefs more efficiently and, as a result, may outcompete juvenile corals on these reefs; however, macroalgae cover on high complexity granitic reefs is generally low (Graham et al 2006). Increased biomass of herbivorous fish reduced the negative effect of macroalgae on juvenile

corals, though very high biomass of herbivores was associated with slightly lower density of juveniles when macroalgae was absent.

Our temporal findings depict the severity of the 2016 bleaching event to coral recruitment in the inner Seychelles via the loss of ~ 70 % juvenile coral abundance. This roughly matches the magnitude of adult coral cover loss for the same region (Wilson et al. In review). Loss in adult corals leads to lowered reproductive output and less larval supply (Hughes et al. 2000), which is problematic as the isolated coral communities of the inner Seychelles are likely reliant on self-recruitment (Graham et al. 2006). Before mass bleaching in 2016, the inner Seychelles' recovery from the 1998 bleaching event was slow for 7-10 years and then sped up exponentially at some sites (Graham et al. 2015), also typical for regions with coral recruitment from local sources (Gilmour et al. 2013). The 2016 bleaching event decimated juvenile *Acropora* corals. Fast-growing branching corals like *Acropora* tend to be among the most vulnerable to bleaching (Sheppard et al. 2002; Álvarez-Noriega et al. 2018) but can also drive the bulk of the coral reef's recovery (Emslie et al. 2008; Gilmour et al. 2013; Doropoulos et al. 2015). The low abundance of juvenile corals recorded post-bleaching, paired with their apparent inability to settle or survive on degraded sites (Chong-Seng et al. 2014) and reduced reproductive output of adults, suggests a significant delay of recovery in the inner Seychelles.

Our results indicate that macroalgal cover is a strong negative predictor of juvenile coral density. This supports the widely reported detrimental effect of macroalgae on coral recruitment (Diaz-Pulido et al. 2009; Rasher and Hay 2010; Johns et al. 2018; Steneck et al. 2018) in a post-bleaching setting and adds an interesting nuance with two interaction effects. Macroalgae inhibit settlement of coral larvae by blocking space (Diaz-Pulido et al. 2009; Johns et al. 2018) and increase the corals' post-settlement mortality by chemical and physical interference (Tanner 1995; Jompa and McCook 2003; Nugues et al. 2004; Rasher et al. 2011). It appears that increased structural complexity interacts with macroalgae to the detriment of juvenile corals. This might stem from an increased competitive pressure from macroalgae when coral larvae settle in more complex microhabitats or crevices (Doropoulos et al. 2016), as macroalgae that grow in complex structural elements avoid being grazed by herbivores (Bennett et al. 2010; Poray and Carpenter 2013). Because of the limited space in a crevice, corals experience more

contact with macroalgae (Rasher et al. 2011), exacerbating the effects of competition. This is underlined by more complex reefs supporting higher maxima of juvenile coral density when macroalgae cover is low or absent.

Higher biomass of herbivorous fish reduced the detrimental effect of macroalgae expansion on juvenile corals. In Seychelles, herbivorous fish biomass has increased following the 1998 bleaching event and is maintaining a productive inshore fishery (Robinson et al. 2018). Through their increased biomass, herbivorous fish graze more algal mass (Williams et al. 2001) which in turn opens settlement space for coral larvae (Doropoulos et al. 2013) and lessens the contact between corals and algae (Smith et al. 2006; Rasher et al. 2011). Herbivore biomass is a frequently highlighted parameter for coral reef recovery (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2013) and was also one of the five positive predictors of coral recovery identified for Seychelles (Graham et al. 2015). Additionally, Steneck et al. (2018) found that herbivores reduced the negative effects of macroalgae and consequently had a beneficial effect on juvenile coral density in the Caribbean. In contrast, high herbivore biomass lowered the maximum density of juvenile corals in our study. This could be a result of incidental predation by herbivorous fish on coral spat (Doropoulos et al. 2012). Predation by herbivores, particularly scrapers, but also some grazers and detritivores, largely affects newly settled coral spat. These fish feed on a variety of reef substrates (e.g. turf algae, detritus), inadvertently removing coral recruits. This process largely affects corals within 3 months of settlement when they are still less than a centimetre in diameter, suggesting that predation by herbivorous fish is not visual and hence incidental (Doropoulos et al. 2016). This process might also relate to the macroalgae-complexity interaction, where maximum abundance of juvenile corals at 0 % macroalgae cover appeared depressed in high complexity habitats compared to medium and low complexity. High complexity habitats typically attract fish, such as corallivores or herbivores that seek shelter to ensure their own survival (Rogers et al. 2014). Feeding by these fishes can result in targeted or incidental predation on newly settled coral spat (Doropoulos et al. 2012), leading to depressed juvenile coral densities in highly complex reefs without macroalgae.

The presence of rubble and sand was also a strong negative predictor of juvenile coral density. It is wellreported that corals experience high post-settlement mortality on unconsolidated surfaces such as sand due to its constant movement with wave energy and ability to smother or crush coral spat (Birrell et al. 2005; Risk 2014; Baldock et al. 2015). Periodic movement is also thought to prevent post-settlement survival of corals on unconsolidated rubble. The constant movement of rubble caused by waves results in newly settled corals being crushed (Fox et al. 2003; Yadav et al. 2016). Rubble was previously highlighted as a cause of serious demographic bottlenecks to corals in the inner Seychelles (Chong-Seng et al. 2014) and both patch and areas of carbonate reefs were often surrounded by sand and rubble (Pers. obs.).

Our data highlight the positive role of crustose coralline algae (CCA) on coral juvenile density. Some species of CCA have been reported to create suitable conditions for corals by acting as settlement cues to coral larvae (Ritson-Williams et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011; Yadav et al. 2016) or by suppressing macroalgal expansion (Belliveau and Paul 2002; Vermeij et al. 2011). Competition for space has also been reported between corals and CCA - as CCA covers more space, corals run the risk of being overgrown (Buenau et al. 2011). Our results show that CCA can be important for coral replenishment in post-bleaching scenarios.

An intriguing finding was the interaction between complexity and reef type. Paired with structural complexity, the granite reef type proved extremely beneficial to juvenile corals. We believe the benefit of granite in our study might be due to it being an unsuitable substrate for macroalgae rather than being a superior substrate for corals (Burt et al. 2009). Macroalgae attach to substrates via holdfasts which can penetrate the substrate up to 10 mm deep by exploiting the physical characteristics of mineral matrices. The density and matrices of granite and carbonate are very different (Morrison et al. 2009). It is likely that large fleshy macroalgae (e.g. *Sargassum, Turbinaria*) that commonly outcompete corals on carbonate reefs of the inner Seychelles cannot deeply penetrate the granitic mineral matrix (Milligan and DeWreede 2000), leading to an increased probability of algae dislodging as they grow (Thomsen 2004). Herbivorous fish could be assisting the coral's ability to more successfully exploit structural complexity on granitic reefs. Herbivore fish assemblages on granitic reefs in the inner Seychelles are more stable than those of carbonate and patch reef types (Graham et al. 2006). We found in our study

that the average herbivorous fish biomass was very similar for carbonate and patch reef types (~ 300 kg ha⁻¹), yet it was slightly elevated in the granite reef type (~ 400 kg ha⁻¹).

Our results have multiple implications for coral reef management. Our study reaffirms the negative effect macroalgae can have on coral recruitment and that reducing the competitive advantage of macroalgae is key to triggering a potential shift back to coral dominance on regime-shifted reefs via the support of positive or destabilising feedbacks (Nyström et al. 2012). Many coral reef systems appear currently locked in degraded states, for instance dominated by macroalgae. To break this locked state and push the system towards coral dominance, some negative feedback loops need to be interrupted and positive loops need to be engaged (Mumby and Steneck 2008). Herbivores can assist this feedback shift - our findings and recent findings from a large-scale study (Steneck et al. 2018) suggest that herbivores have a potential to weaken the effect of macroalgae on coral recruitment. High levels of herbivory also tend to push algal communities towards those dominated by calcareous forms (Littler and Littler 1984; Belliveau and Paul 2002), adding to habitats favouring coral reinforcing feedbacks, underlined by the positive effect of CCA detected in our study. A recent review by Ceccarelli et al. (2018) highlights the potential for physical removal of macroalgae to benefit coral, yet its effectiveness over large spatial and temporal scales will depend on whether the underlying drivers (e.g. eutrophication, overfishing of herbivores, ocean warming) that keep reefs locked in negative or reinforcing feedbacks favouring macroalgal dominance (Johns et al. 2018) are addressed (Norström et al. 2016). Our findings also highlight the importance of complex granite reefs for juvenile corals and that these habitats are potential coral refugia in Seychelles. Maintaining low levels of local stressors on complex granitic reefs may therefore be important for recovery.

Climate change and coral bleaching are reshaping coral reefs to a yet unknown extent. The 2016 bleaching event decimated the juvenile coral community of the inner Seychelles and concomitant obstacles such as macroalgal expansion have limited the ability for recovery on some reefs. As macroalgae interact with other reef characteristics such as structural complexity, herbivore biomass, and reef type, it becomes apparent that this obstacle has a very nuanced nature and addressing it will not be a straightforward process. If coral reef degradation progresses and the carbonate matrices break down,

sand and rubble patches will expand presenting another obstacle for coral recruitment. Should the more steadfast nature of granitic reefs prove a suitable refugia to future corals, a greater understanding of the mechanisms that underlie resilience on these reefs and their potential to re-seed nearby carbonate reefs is required.

Contribution of authors

JCD and NAJG conceived the ideas and designed the methodology; JCD, SKW, NAJG, KMCS, and AH contributed critically in acquisition of the data; JCD and JPWR analysed the data; JCD, NAJG and SKW interpreted the results. JCD wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all authors contributed critically to drafts and gave final approval for publication.

2 WEAKENING MACROALGAL FEEDBACKS THROUGH SHADING ON DEGRADED CORAL REEFS

2.1 Abstract

Extensive and dense macroalgal fields can compromise the ecosystem function of habitat mosaics on reefs due to their limiting effect on patch connectivity. Macroalgae can maintain and increase their dominance with effective self-reinforcing feedback mechanisms. For instance, macroalgae can form dense beds, supressing coral settlement and grazing by herbivores. This compromised ecosystem function can lead to major socio-economic and ecological changes. We shaded dense macroalgal beds with shade sails of two sizes and recorded changes to the underlying benthos and feeding rates of herbivorous fishes. The shade sails reduced the algae's ability to photosynthesise by 29 %. After six weeks, we recorded a 24 % macroalgae cover reduction under small sails and a 51 % reduction under large sails. Small shade sails reduced turf algal growth by 23 %, while large sails reduced growth by 82 %. Three months after removal of the shade sails, algal beds had almost completely regrown. During this regrowth period, herbivore bites taken from the experiment's substrates were recorded, with grazing impact reducing significantly with time. Our method is the first to achieve macroalgal reduction via the alteration of the light regime. While macroalgae regrew in this relatively short-term experiment, shading may be a viable reef management approach that aims to maximise habitat mosaics on coral reefs, particularly if used in combination with other intervention methods.

In review (04/04/2020):

Dajka, J.-C., Beasley, V., Gendron, G., Barlow, J. & Graham, N. A. J. Weakening macroalgal feedbacks through shading on degraded coral reefs. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems

2.2 Introduction

Tropical coral reefs are changing globally, with corals reducing in cover and being replaced by other organisms such as algae (Hughes 1994; Cheal et al. 2010; Graham et al. 2015). Coral-algal regime shifts can substantially alter the ecological, social, and economic value of reefs (Moberg & Folke 1999; Hughes et al. 2010; Robinson et al. 2019), especially when systems become dominated by few weedy algal species of low complexity (Littler & Littler 1988; Hughes 1994; Mumby 2009). With an increasing frequency of disturbances threatening corals (Hughes et al. 2018), future predictions of coral-dominated systems, and the ecosystem services they support, are uncertain (Williams & Graham 2019; Woodhead et al. 2019). The changing compositions of reefs (Graham et al. 2014) may also give way to a mosaic of habitat patches, where multiple patch reef types form an interconnected tropical seascape (Nagelkerken et al. 2015; Harborne et al. 2016; Fulton et al. 2019). The mosaic can consist of habitat types such as corals, seagrass, and macroalgae, that each can benefit different communities or different life stages of individual species within those communities (e.g. fish; Berkström et al. 2013; van Lier et al. 2018). Connectivity between habitat types is critical for functioning reef mosaics (Olds et al. 2018). Substantial reductions in fish diversity can occur when the distance between coral and algal patches is greater than 500 m (van Lier et al. 2018) or 750 m when considering transient foragers (Berkström et al. 2013). Further, reef mosaic integrity and overall reef ecosystem function can decrease as individual, homogeneous habitats extend and increase the space between patch habitats (Olds et al. 2018). Therefore, patch connectivity should be considered in management in order to maximise the functioning of each patch (Fulton et al. 2019).

Conceptual models suggest that macroalgae can be very efficient at reinforcing dominance with feedback mechanisms (Mumby & Steneck 2008; Nyström et al. 2012; van de Leemput et al. 2016). Feedbacks are cause-effect loops where one aspect (A) affects another (B) which in turn feeds favouring conditions back to the original aspect (A). Observational and experimental studies have identified various macroalgal reinforcing feedbacks (Hoey & Bellwood 2011; Dell, Longo & Hay 2016; Johns et al. 2018; Loffler et al. 2018; Loffler & Hoey 2018). For example, once stands of the common tropical macroalgal genus *Sargassum* reach a certain density (A), they supress grazing by fish herbivores (B),

and the reduction of feeding pressure then allows macroalgal fields to grow further (A; Hoey & Bellwood 2011). In addition, limited space in these fields prevents benthic settlement by other organisms such as corals (Dell, Longo & Hay 2016), and can lead to the development of microbe aggregations that cause diseases in remaining corals (Smith et al. 2006). The result can be an ever-expanding homogeneous field of weedy macroalgae (Mumby 2009) which can compromise reef mosaic connectivity (Berkström et al. 2013; van Lier et al. 2018).

In order to limit the extent of dense homogeneous macroalgal fields and maximise ecosystem function of mosaic-style habitats (Fulton et al. 2019), studies have investigated ways to reduce algal cover. Experiments that remove macroalgae manually, have had short lived success due to rapid regrowth likely from leftover algal attachment structures (holdfasts; Tanner 1995; McClanahan et al. 2001; Roff et al. 2015; Loffler et al. 2018; Loffler & Hoey 2018). In addition, turf algae can rapidly colonise open settlement space under favourable environmental conditions (e.g. sufficient nutrient and light levels; Littler & Littler 1992). Following an unusually long period of overcast weather (42 days) in Kāne'ohe Bay, Hawaii, a mass-macroalgal die-off occurred, likely caused by the lack of sufficient photosynthetically active radiation (PAR; Stimson & Conklin 2008). The macroalgae did not return for the 2 years of subsequent monitoring, suggesting that shading may be a feasible approach to weaken macroalgal feedbacks.

In this study we established an artificial shading experiment in a bay of Curieuse Island, Seychelles that was entirely dominated by dense macroalgal fields. The overarching objective was to create macroalgal free patches and attract herbivorous fish to these patches. We specifically asked 1) does a shading period of 42 days (6 weeks) result in a reduction of macroalgal cover?; and 2) do herbivorous fish graze more in patches of reduced macroalgal cover?

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Study site and organisms

We conducted our study from January until June 2018 at Anse Papaie (4.28°S, 55.73°E), Curieuse Island, Seychelles. We chose the bay due to its continuous, thick macroalgal beds extending to relatively

deep water (6 m at high tide) and its status as a marine park to minimise boat traffic. The dominance by macroalgae likely developed following the 1998 bleaching event, that led to many Seychelles reefs shifting dominance from corals to macroalgae (Graham et al. 2015). Prevailing winds in the inner Seychelles come from the north-west between December and March and start turning into south-easterly winds in late March, staying this way until October, followed by intense rainfalls and winds through November and December (M Belmont and V Amelie, Seychelles Meteorological Services). With Anse Papaie on the eastern side of Curieuse, the bay remains relatively wind-sheltered from late January until mid-March. Macroalgae overstorey in the bay are primarily *Sargassum* spp. with some *Turbinaria* spp. present, while the understorey is primarily *Lobophora* spp. and *Dictyota* spp. *Sargassum* often display strong seasonality in growth patterns around the world. *Sargassum* seasonality in the inner Seychelles appears to be tied to the prevailing seasonal winds and currents (Bijoux 2013). *Sargassum* appear to senesce during the cloudy south-east wind period (from May to October) and regrow during the predominantly clear-sky north-west wind period (December to March). This led our choice of experimental timing (January to June), during which skies are predominantly clear and *Sargassum* are not subjected to senescence but instead are in a regrowth phase.

2.3.2 Experimental setup

We built submerged square-shaped shade sails (> 98 % UV-blockage certified according to Kookaburra Shade Sails, Sydney, Australia) of two sizes (4 m² & 9 m², five of each size) over continuous macroalgal fields. We mounted each shade sail on four threaded steel rods (ϕ = 22 mm, length = 1.5 m), with the rods hammered 50 cm into the sediment to allow at least 1 m between the rod's end and the water's surface at low tide (to allow boat passage) and for the algae (~ 30 cm maximum height) not to touch the shade sails. We put the shade sail structures in place on 28/01/2018 and they remained fixed for 42 days until deconstruction on 11/03/2018 to prevent shifting winds from disrupting the experiment. We constructed control plots of solely steel rods (no shade sails) on the same reef. The total experimental setup included 16 plots (five 4 m² treatments, five 9 m² treatments, three 4 m² controls, three 9 m² controls) running in rows parallel to the shoreline, at a similar depth. Plots were separated to ensure there was no overlap in shade and control plots were 15 m from experimental plots. Altogether, the experiment covered roughly 450m². As a summary, we present a list of materials used, the time and funds spent building the shading structures, and a picture of construction (Fig. 2.1):

- 64 threaded steel rods ($\phi = 22 \text{ mm}$, length = 1.5 m), 4 per plot (5 GBP each, 320 GBP in total)
- 5 square Kookaburra shade sails 3 m * 3 m (50 GBP each, 250 GBP in total)
- 5 square Kookaburra shade sails 2 m * 2 m (39 GBP each, 195 GBP in total)

In our experiment, the structures were built by a team of 3 divers that measured the correct distance of individual rods to each other, hammered all rods into the sediment, and attached the shade sails in two days. The team was adhering to 8 working hours per day, 16 hours in total.



Individual shade sail above macroalgal field

Figure 2.1 Shading structure (white bars seen in structural picture [top] are unessential to construction, they were used for camera attachment, which produced unreliable data and was therefore omitted from the paper)

2.3.3 Sampling and statistical analysis

All sampling was conducted using snorkel gear. We deployed HOBO pendant loggers to measure light intensity (in lux) underneath the sails (Fig. S2.1). We placed the loggers on PVC pipes (35 cm), keeping them above the macroalgal canopy and in the centre of each plot. Loggers were deployed in the first

week of shading from 11:00 to 16:00 h and took light intensity readings every 10 min. We repeated this method in control plots.

2.3.4 Macroalgal cover

We took planar view photographs of treatment and control plots immediately before installing and immediately after taking down the sails. We repeated the process monthly following sail removal, with the last picture taken on the 11/06/2018, 3 months following shading. These pictures were compared using "Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe)" (Kohler & Gill 2006) to obtain the change in percent macroalgal cover over time.

To statistically investigate the effects of sail size and time (fixed effects), we fitted generalised linear mixed models (GLMM) to macroalgae cover using the lme4-package in R (Bates et al. 2015). The model was fitted with 'plot' nested in 'treatment' as a random effect to address dependencies induced by repeated measures through time. To avoid having a percentage-based response variable, we used macroalgae cover as a binary response variable (1 = macroalgae, 0 = no macroalgae) with each randomly allocated point in our HD-photographs being one observation (n = 50 per photo, n = 4000 in total) and fitted it with a GLMM with a binomial distribution.

2.3.5 Settlement blocks: turf algal growth potential

To simulate benthic regrowth, we deployed one settlement block (10 x 10 cm, made from marine cement) in the centre of each treatment and control plot when the experiment started. The cement blocks remained under the sails for the entire time of active shading. We collected the blocks with the shade sail removal and analysed them for algae cover using photographs and CPCe (Kohler & Gill 2006). We fitted a GLMM with sail size and time as fixed effects and plot nested in treatment as a random effect. We did the same binary allocation as for macroalgal cover data (1 = turf algae, 0 = no turf algae) for the settlement blocks data (n = 30 per photo, n = 270 in total) and fitted a binomial GLMM to the data.

2.3.6 Photosynthetic efficiency

Every week during active shading and one additional week after, we collected three random basal blades from different plants of each plot from 09:00-10:00 am, at medium to high tide (~ 40 cm difference). We placed these blades in a black, optically opaque bag and, within a maximum of 30 min, took them 24 from the field site to a wet laboratory, where we kept the same light conditions for the duration of the experiment. We analysed each blade individually with a Junior pulse-amplitude modulation (PAM) chlorophyll fluorometer (Walz, Erlangen-Eltersdorf, Germany) using light curves that applied photo fluence rates of 120, 192, 273, 414, 574, 903, 1341, and 2010 µmol PAR m⁻² s⁻¹ consecutively, with 1 min intervals in between. The interval time was sufficient to allow a return to a steady state following saturation pulses. We used the light curves to obtain the effective photochemical quantum yield (Y(II) max = $\Delta F / Fm'$) as a representative measurement of photosynthetic efficiency per plot per week. We fitted a linear mixed model (LMM) to photosynthetic efficiency (Y(II)) data met the assumptions of the LMM as an untransformed response variable with Y(II) recordings averaged for each plot (n = 112).

2.3.7 Herbivore feeding following experimental deconstruction

After removal of the shade sails, we monitored plots in March, April, and May 2018 with six digital video cameras (GoPro Hero 4). To quantify the herbivore feeding impact per m² on our experimental plots, we deployed the cameras at each plot for 4 hours between 10:00 and 14:00. We analysed a 1-hour film segment situated at least 30 min after deployment and at least 30 min before the end of the filming. We recorded each bite taken by an individual fish and recorded the species. We fitted an LMM to herbivore bite data with sail size and time as fixed effects and plot nested in treatment as a random effect. We log₁₀-transformed the response variable of herbivore bites per m² with every fish being an individual observation (n = 3859).

Our models were not or only weakly biased by collinearity (Zuur, Ieno & Elphick 2010). The residual plots of all four models suggested good model fits. We conducted pair-wise comparison Tukey post-hoc test for the four models using the emmeans-package in R (Lenth et al. 2019). All analyses were conducted in R version 3.5.3 (R-Core-Team 2019). We provide our R-scripts and data at an open source repository (<u>https://github.com/JanDajka/SeyShading-2018</u>).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Macroalgal cover

Macroalgal cover significantly declined from before shading (January) to after shading (March) on small plots of 4 m² (Fig. 2.2, 23.6 % reduction January vs. March shaded 4 m²: Tukey pair-wise comparison $z-\Delta_4 = 4.72$, p = 0.003) and large plots of 9 m² (51.2 % reduction January vs. March shaded 9 m²: $z-\Delta_9 = 10.25$ p < 0.001), while the controls showed non-significant increases in macroalgal cover (3.33 % increase January vs. March controls 4 m²: $z-\Delta_4 = -0.52$, p = 1; 2.67 % increase January vs. March controls 9 m²: $z-\Delta_9 = -0.41$, p = 1). Macroalgal cover returned following shade removal with significant differences still present after 2 months (12 % reduction January vs. May shaded 4 m²: $z-\Delta_4 = 4.24$, p = 0.012; 20.4 % reduction January vs. May shaded 9 m²: $z-\Delta_9 = 4.08$, p = 0.02). Three months after shade removal, both plot sizes had returned to similar macroalgal cover compared to before shading (1.2 % reduction January vs. June shaded 4 m²: $z-\Delta_9 = 1.52$, p = 0.99). Controls showed little change throughout the experiment.



Figure 2.2 Macroalgal cover (in %) changes observed monthly in shaded plots and unshaded control plots of different sizes (4 $m^2 \& 9 m^2$) over the active shading period (grey area) and post-removal/algal regrowth period (white area); central line: mean, boxplot boundaries: interquartile range, outside dot: value is > 1.5 times and < 3 times the interquartile range beyond either end of the box, whiskers: \pm standard error.

2.4.2 Settlement blocks: turf algal growth potential

Turf algae covered most of the area on the previously clear settlement blocks in control plots (Fig. 2.3). In the small shade sail plots, turf algae covered on average 67.8 % (23. 37 % reduction control vs. shaded 4 m² tiles: $z-\Delta_4 = 2.7$, p = 0.02), while in the larger shade plots turf only covered 8.89 % (81.9 % reduction control vs. shaded 9 m² tiles: $z-\Delta_9 = 7.1$, p < 0.001).



Figure 2.3 Turf algae cover (in %) observed on settlement blocks that were deployed in shaded plots of different sizes (4 m² & 9 m²) and unshaded control plots and collected following deconstruction of the experiment in March 2019; central line: mean, boxplot boundaries: interquartile range, whiskers: \pm standard error.

2.4.3 Photosynthetic efficiency

The photochemical quantum yield of photosystem II (Y(II)) of macroalgae in shaded conditions changed over the duration of the experiment, with noticeable decreases occurring in week 5 (Fig. 2.4). The diversion from baseline measurements taken before the experiment (week 1) were not significant throughout the experiment for shaded macroalgae in small plots (12 % reduction week 1 vs. week 5: t- $\Delta_4 = 2.6$, p = 0.51). For large plots on the other hand, the depression in photosynthetic efficiency for shaded macroalgae in week 5 was significant (29 % reduction week 1 vs. week 5: t- $\Delta_9 = 5.8$, p < 0.001) and remained significant until week 6, when we removed the shade sails (18 % reduction week 1 vs. week 6: t- $\Delta_9 = 0.1$, p = 0.04). Y(II) of macroalgae in control plots did not change significantly throughout the experiment.



Figure 2.4 Photochemical quantum yield of photosystem II (Y(II)) of experimental Sargassum macroalgae throughout weeks of active shading (grey area) and one week after (white area) in shaded plots of different sizes (4 m² & 9 m²) and unshaded control plots; central line: mean, boxplot boundaries: interquartile range, outside dot: value is > 1.5 times and < 3 times the interquartile range beyond either end of the box, whiskers: \pm standard error.

2.4.4 Herbivore feeding following shade sail removal

Regardless of plot size or herbivore functional group, bites taken from plots reduced with time following experiment deconstruction (Fig. 2.5). Herbivore feeding did not differ significantly between control plots and plots that were previously shaded for small (control vs. shaded 4 m²: $z-\Delta_4 = -1.415$, p = 0.96) or large plot sizes (control vs. shaded 9 m²: $z-\Delta_9 = -0.732$, p = 0.99).



Figure 2.5 Bites per m² taken by three herbivore fish functional groups (browsers, grazers, scrapers) from shaded and control plots of different sizes (4 m² and 9 m²) in one-hour video samples; recordings were taken monthly following shade sail deconstruction, error bars: \pm standard error.

However, there were significant differences between control and previously shaded plots in scraper feeding on large plots one month after shade-sail removal (control vs. shaded 9 m² for scrapers in April: $z-\Delta_9 = -4.78$, p = 0.001) which had subsided two months after removal (control vs. shaded 9 m² for scrapers in May: $z-\Delta_9 = -1.602$, p = 0.99).

2.5 Discussion

Our study demonstrates that using submerged shade sails, macroalgal reduction can be accomplished within 42 days or less, and that reduction scales with shade sail size. Shading also limits turf algal regrowth, potentially making space available to other benthic settlers. Once we removed the shade sails, we did not detect a significant increase in herbivore grazing in our experimental plots, which indicates that the macroalgae-reinforcing feedback was not sufficiently weakened. Our algal reduction method may be used in a reef management approach that pursues the maximisation of ecosystem services drawn from a habitat mosaic reefscape.

The prolonged shading likely hindered the algae's metabolic ability to a point where net-positive photosynthesis could not be sustained (Littler & Littler 1992; Shiu & Lee 2005; Teichberg, Fricke & Bischof 2013). Initially, Sargassum was able to acclimatise to the light regime changes and did not show a loss of photosynthetic efficiency for four weeks, although a darkening in blade colouration was visible from week 2 (pers. obs.). The initial acclimatisation to a darker light regime could be possible because the plant increases their light-harvesting pigment content to maximise photosynthesis when PAR is limiting (Littler, Littler & Lapointe 1988; Littler & Littler 1992; Abal et al. 1994; Lirman & Biber 2005). This photoadaptation in macroalgae is likely achieved by diverting energy away from growth and towards maximising photosynthesis, as reported for other tropical marine macroalgae (e.g. Halimeda; Littler, Littler & Lapointe 1988; Teichberg, Fricke & Bischof 2013). At week 5, the PAR that Sargassum plants were able to harvest in shaded conditions proved insufficient to sustain net-positive photosynthesis. It is possible that reactive metabolic by-products, such as oxygen radicals, caused oxidative damage to the plant photosystems (Shiu & Lee 2005). In addition, the constant variations in light-intensity reaching the algae induced by movement of the shade sails in wave action may have proven challenging to photoadaptation and the sustenance of net-positive photosynthesis (Taylor & 29

Long 2017). On the other hand, there is evidence suggesting that intermittent light regimes in seaweed canopies stimulate growth and often result in higher productivity within canopy environments (Bennett et al. 2015).

The decrease in photosynthetic efficiency likely resulted in the observed discolouration of the plants and eventually led to a disintegration of the algal thalli. This may have affected the palatability of the plants to herbivores. The palatability of macroalgae to herbivores seems to partly depend on the carbon-to-nitrogen ratio (C:N ratio) within the plant tissue (Vergés et al. 2011). Lower C:N ratios have been experimentally associated with increased herbivore palatability (Barile, Lapointe & Capo 2004; Van Alstyne, Pelletreau & Kirby 2009). Given that changing light-regimes affect plants' photosynthesis and therefore their ability to maintain a C:N ratio (Teichberg, Fricke & Bischof 2013), this ratio can be expected to have changed in our experiment. Unfortunately, we were unable to quantify palatability in our experiment due to the lack of necessary equipment on Curieuse (e.g. -80°C-freezer).

In addition to the decrease in photosynthetic efficiency, herbivorous fish, which are abundant in the area (Robinson et al. 2019), could have grazed on the experimental algae and thus contributed to the reduction in macroalgal cover observed. While we obtained grazing footage of herbivorous fish after the removal of the shade sails, we were unable to do so while the shade sails were in place. We could not set up a camera angle that could balance a view far above the macroalgal canopy (~ 30 cm maximum height) for us to see the substrate clear enough to identify the fish grazing and still be below the shade sail (~ 60 cm above the substrate at the lowest point). In order to obtain grazing footage while the shade sails were in place, we would have needed to build the shading structures higher above the substrate, which then would have reduced the shading efficiency and the ability for boats to pass overhead.

We did not weaken the macroalgae-reinforcing feedback sufficiently, as the experimental plots with reduced macroalgal cover after shading did not show significantly higher grazing rates by herbivorous fish compared to our controls. The macroalgae regrew to roughly pre-experimental cover levels within 3 months. After deconstruction on the 11th of March 2018, herbivorous fishes remained in the plot areas for the first post-experimental month and grazed more intensely on both the shaded and control plots in March. There are two plausible mechanisms for this. First, our experimental design may have lacked

statistical power to detect differences: grazing rates in post-shading plots were higher in March, but there was a high level of variability in these findings. This also has mechanistic support, for instance when scraping parrotfish seemed to preferentially target large shaded plots in the March surveys. Since scraping parrotfish target turf algae (Bellwood & Choat 1990; Streelman et al. 2002; Bonaldo, Hoey & Bellwood 2014; Clements et al. 2017) and our experiment cleared most macroalgae and exposed more open settlement space that turf algae could readily colonise, the scrapers might have preferred macroalgae-free feeding sites over those in between macroalgal stands, which they have been observed to avoid (Hoey & Bellwood 2011). A second but less likely explanation could be that herbivores may have become used to feeding around the structures, such that the intense grazing in March 2018 was a lag effect of the structural attraction, as reef fish have been demonstrated to be attracted by structures similar to ours (Kerry & Bellwood 2015).

Our observed regrowth rates of 3 months roughly match those of a previous study that also used percent cover as a metric - Sargassum: 2 months (McClanahan et al. 2001), S. herporhizum: < 1 month, S. sinicola: > 3 months (McCourt 1985). However, macroalgal biomass, and associated feedback mechanisms, may take longer to re-establish (Loffler & Hoey 2018). Our six-week shading method led to a significant reduction of macroalgal cover and we can suggest a combination of possible reduction mechanisms. An interesting question remains as to whether the algae regrew because of low herbivory, or the herbivores moved because the macroalgal feedbacks were not sufficiently weakened. Along our previous reasoning, we believe the latter. It could be that with the removal of the shade sails, the return to a normal light regime allowed the macroalgae to again reinforce their unpalatability to herbivores which then led to herbivore disengagement and regain of strength in the self-reinforcing feedback. There is also a notable difference in initial macroalgal cover between our two treatments and their associated controls (Fig. 2.2). This difference was induced by randomness and is not by design. It is further compounded by the low number of pens per treatment (n = 5) and per controls (n = 3). We believe that further replicates would have corrected this anomaly, but as mentioned before, our replicate numbers were based on logistically constraints. As a consequence, we refrained from cross-treatment comparisons of our macroalgal cover data and only compared each experimental week with the initial values of the same treatment or controls.

While other studies have reduced macroalgal cover by manual removal (McClanahan et al. 2001; Loffler et al. 2018; Loffler & Hoey 2018), our study is the first to do so via shading for a limited time frame. The time we were able to physically keep our shade sails in place was restricted by the increase in wave action. While our study confirmed that localised macroalgal reduction can be achieved within 42 days as indicated by an observational study (Stimson & Conklin 2008), we were unable to clear the plot of holdfasts. Given the resistant nature of the algae's holdfasts (Ceccarelli et al. 2018), we think that it would be interesting to see whether a longer shading time would result in a reduction of holdfasts, since most of the observed macroalgal regrowth following shade sail removal has likely come from leftover holdfasts (Loffler et al. 2018). Alternatively, since the shorter six-week time frame might be particularly interesting to management as the longer time frame might not be a realistic management tool (Ceccarelli et al. 2018), perhaps a combination with other intervention methods, e.g. shading areas manually cleared of holdfasts, nould be of greater management use. We accurately measured the pre-shading density of holdfasts in situ but could only estimate the post-shading density from plot photos due to illness of the primary observer. Based on our photographs, we do believe holdfast densities decreased.

Although larger shade sails did result in a darker light regime which in turn resulted in more effective macroalgal removal, we want to note that shade sails even larger than 9 m² could present the problem of being too large. The 9 m² shade sails did present a slight loss in tension towards the end of our experiment. This could result in the centre of the shade sail dragging on the substrate and resulting in macroalgal reduction as result of abrasion rather than shading. While the loss in tension in our experiment was not as drastic that the sails experienced contact with the substrate or the algae, shade sails larger than 9 m² may well present this problem. Therefore, we advise future studies to be cautious of this issue and should it arise, opt for an approach that uses multiple 9 m² sails to cover a larger area rather than one larger sail.

We were unable to confirm that other benthic settlers (e.g. corals) can grow on the cleared settlement space because of the limited experimental period. Based on coral settlement studies that monitored coral settlement for 5 - 29 months (Babcock & Mundy 1996; Mangubhai, Harrison & Obura 2007; Yadav et al. 2016), we suggest that future studies find sites and/or shading structures that allow for a longer period

of uninterrupted shading to be able to observe a potential increase in coral recruits. We note that shading corals that have adapted to light regimes, for instance in depths of less than 3 m, might also entail negative effects on those corals (Rogers 1979). Shaded plots could instead provide settlement space for organisms that normally grow at greater depths or in turbid environments with comparable light regimes.

Our study tested a novel method of macroalgal reduction that could be used and further developed for localised intervention approaches that aim to manage productive reefs made up of a mosaic of interconnected habitat patches. We recognise the importance of natural macroalgal reefs (Fulton et al. 2019) and that macroalgae will increasingly be a part of ecological (Nagelkerken et al. 2015; Harborne et al. 2016) and socio-economic reef potential (Robinson et al. 2019). But since self-reinforcing feedbacks can lead macroalgae to dominate continuous stretches of reef and thereby expand beyond connectivity thresholds that are critical for a productive mosaic, reef management needs ways to address macroalgal expansion. While our method did not interrupt macroalgae-reinforcing feedbacks to the point where grazing rates by herbivorous fish significantly increase, it weakened them so that macroalgal cover by altering the light regime, that may be useful as part of a suite of intervention strategies, particularly to shade areas cleared of holdfasts, and perhaps aiding coral recruitment on newly provided settlement substrates.

Contribution of authors

JCD, NAJG, and JB conceived the ideas and designed the methodology; JCD, VB, and GG contributed critically in acquisition of the data; JCD analysed the data; JCD, NAJG, and JB interpreted the results. JCD wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all authors contributed critically to drafts and gave final approval for publication.

3 INVESTIGATING SEA URCHIN DENSITIES CRITICAL TO MACROALGAL CONTROL ON DEGRADED CORAL REEFS

3.1 Abstract

Tropical sea urchins are often considered as macroalgal grazers with the ability to control macroalgal expansion on degraded coral reefs. However, this assumption relies heavily on geographically limited observations of select species, leading to the functional roles and main habitats of many tropical urchin species being poorly understood. We addressed these gaps for a common urchin species in the Sevchelles, Echinothrix calamaris, in a two-part approach. Firstly, we surveyed urchin abundances on 21 reefs of the inner Sevchelles and predicted their density using habitat predictors in a modelling approach. Patch-reef type best predicted increases in urchin abundances, while macroalgae best predicted decreases. Secondly, we experimentally investigated the macroalgae-urchin relationship by penning two urchin densities on macroalgal fields. Over six weeks, the highest density (4.44 urchins m-²) cleared 13 % of macroalgal cover. This moderate impact leads us to conclude that controlling macroalgal expansion is not likely to be one of the main functions of E. calamaris in the inner Seychelles given the current densities we found in our surveys (mean: 0.02 urchins m-2, maximum: 0.16 urchins m-2). However, for other tropical urchin species, such as Diadema antillarum, controlling grazing on macroalgae was measured at high densities (~ 7.7 urchins m⁻²) and our results indicate that this could apply to E. calamaris as well. Patch reefs are where E. calamaris are most likely to control macroalgae on degraded coral reefs.

Accepted with minor revision (22/04/2020):

Dajka, J.-C., Beasley, V., Gendron, G. & Graham, N. A. J. Investigating sea urchin densities critical to macroalgal control on degraded coral reefs. Environmental Conservation

3.2 Introduction

Tropical coral reefs are changing under recent anthropogenic pressures such as overfishing, near-shore pollution, and climate change (Norström *et al.* 2016). There are cases where overfished coral reefs do not recover from acute disturbances, such as thermally induced mass bleaching and undergo a regime shift to dominance of benthic states alternative to coral, such as macroalgal dominance (Done 1992; Mumby 2009; Graham *et al.* 2015). One of the key ecological controls of macroalgal expansion is herbivory (Bellwood *et al.* 2004; Hughes *et al.* 2007), and sea urchins are widely assumed to perform that function (Morrison 1988; McClanahan 1992; Solandt & Campbell 2001; Sumi & Scheibling 2005; Carpenter & Edmunds 2006; Stimson, Cunha & Philippoff 2007). However, that this macroalgae-controlling role can be assumed to extend universally to species across the globe, is unlikely.

Our knowledge about the role of sea urchins on degraded coral reefs is very limited in geographical extent (Caribbean: Carpenter 1988; Carpenter & Edmunds 2006; Kenya: McClanahan & Shafir 1990; Western Australia: Johansson, Bellwood & Depczynski 2010; Great Barrier Reef: Young & Bellwood 2011) and is based on very few species (McClanahan 1992; Young & Bellwood 2011). Especially prevalent is a single Caribbean species, Diadema antillarum (Maciá, Robinson & Nalevanko 2007; Hughes et al. 2010; Graham et al. 2013). This limitation to our knowledge of other urchin species also extends to the composition of their habitat (Benedetti-Cecchi & Cinelli 1995; Chiappone, Swanson & Miller 2002; Lee & Hessen 2006; Bodmer et al. 2015), and therefore where these other species are most likely to perform their respective functions, such as grazing. When long-spined sea urchins, D. antillarum, were reported to be the main controllers of macroalgal cover in the Caribbean, mean densities were reported at 7.7 urchins m⁻² (Hughes 1994). The urchins' macroalgae-controlling role was assumed to be critical on the overfished Caribbean reefs which were lacking the necessary biomass of herbivorous fishes. Afterwards, the urchins' macroalgae-controlling impact was virtually erased in a pivotal mass die-off from disease (Hughes et al. 2010). The more recent recovery of the Caribbean D. antillarum has been correlated with some returns in coral cover in the region (Carpenter & Edmunds 2006; Myhre & Acevedo-Gutiérrez 2007). In a large-scale model, some urchin species (D. antillarum, Tripneustes ventricosus, Tripneustes esculentes [Caribbean], Echinometra mathaei [Western Indian Ocean]) have been suggested to be especially important for controlling algae in heavily fished areas (McClanahan 1992). While knowledge of the ecological dynamics associated with these urchin species is fairly extensive, the densities at which other urchin species in other geographic locations have notable macroalgae-controlling impact is poorly studied. The lack of understanding could prove detrimental to coral reef ecosystems if urchin populations are targeted for exploitation (Furesi *et al.* 2016; Parvez, Rahman & Yusoff 2016; Sato *et al.* 2017).

In addition, the macroalgae-controlling role of urchins could be used in a more targeted manner that is useful to coral reef management, yet few have attempted to actively utilise urchin grazing in a focussed area. Whether urchins can be used to effectively control algal expansion or even clear algal patches and thereby aid coral recovery is yet to be determined. Maciá et al. (2007) conducted experiments transplanting urchins to high algal density areas to explore this ability. The urchins were recorded to graze the algae but vacated the area too quickly to show a controlling impact. According to the authors, there were no apparent signs of mortality or predation that led to the urchin loss. The potential of this approach to reveal the focussed impact of urchins on algae thus remains unexhausted and could be improved to determine urchins' potential as macroalgal controllers outside of the classically studied systems.

We investigate the role of the short-spined urchin (*Echinothrix calamaris*) as potential macroalgal herbivores in the inner Seychelles. First, we conducted field surveys to observe urchin densities and benthic habitat use. With the resulting dataset, we modelled the habitat predictors of urchin abundance. Second, we experimentally relocated varying densities of *E. calamaris* into standardised pens located on dense, continuous fields of macroalgae to focus their grazing impact. Our study provides insights into the function of *E. calamaris* as a macroalgal controller that helps illuminate the ecological dynamics of degraded coral reefs.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Study organism and site

Our study species, the short-spined urchin (*Echinothrix calamaris*), is a common urchin species in the Western Indian Ocean and in our study area, the inner Seychelles (Kroh 2013). The inner Seychelles ($4^{\circ}30^{\circ}S$, $55^{\circ}30^{\circ}E$) are largely granitic islands with well-developed carbonate fringing reefs that have been increasingly fragmented by large-scale disturbances in recent history. In particular, two major coral-bleaching events caused by thermal anomalies (in 1998: ~ 90 % coral loss; (Goreau *et al.* 2000); and 2016: ~ 70 % coral loss; (Wilson *et al.* 2019) have led to habitat fragmentation of coral reefs as well as to macroalgae-dominated habitat (average macroalgae cover of 42 %) on many reefs in the Seychelles (Graham *et al.* 2015). Prevailing winds in the inner Seychelles come from the north-west between December and March and start turning into south-easterly winds in late March, staying this way until October, followed by intense rainfall and wind through November and December (M Belmont and V Amelie, Seychelles Meteorological Services).

3.3.2 Benthic drivers of sea urchin abundance & statistical analysis

Surveys for the first part of our study were conducted in April 2017. We surveyed 21 sites of the inner Seychelles (Fig. S3.1) that were preselected by a range of long term studies starting in 1994 (Jennings, Grandcourt & Polunin 1995) and coarsely classified each site as one of three types; either continuous, well developed fringing reef with limestone framework (carbonate), continuous reef with granitic base (granite), or fragmented reef (patch). We conducted sampling during daytime hours from 9:00-16:00 in eight replicate areas (7 m radius) along the base of the reef slope of each site at the depth of 2-9 m depth covering up to 0.5 km of reef front and 2,500 m² of reef habitat. Individual replicates were at least 10 m apart, and within each replicate we visually estimated percent cover of macroalgae and corals. This visual estimation method strongly correlates with a range of other methods for capturing benthic cover and structural complexity of coral reefs (Wilson, Graham & Polunin 2007). We also visually estimated structural complexity of the reef using a scale from 0 (no vertical reef) to 5 (exceptionally complex with numerous caves and overhangs) as per Polunin and Roberts (1993). We counted *E. calamaris* within each replicate area. Lastly, within each 154 m² replicate (7 m radius), we recorded the abundances and size (total length) of 134 diurnally active, non-cryptic, reef-associated fish species. The surveying diver calibrated size estimates of fish by estimating and confirming the lengths of pre-sized plastic pipes at the start of each sampling day until estimates were consistently within ~ 3 % of actual lengths to ensure accurate length estimates of fish (Graham *et al.* 2007). Large mobile fish in the cylinder were recorded first, followed by a systematic search for smaller site-attached fish. We converted estimated fish lengths from the resulting dataset into biomass using published length-weight relationships (Letourneur, Kulbicki & Labrosse 1998; Froese & Pauly 2011) and assigned recorded species to feeding groups based on their diet and feeding behaviour (Wilson *et al.* 2008).

We used the dataset resulting from the 21-reef site survey to analyse abiotic and biotic habitat predictors of sea urchin abundance at the scale of the radial replicates (n = 168). We expected urchin abundance to be predicted by 6 biotic and abiotic variables measured at the replicate scale and 1 measured at the site scale (Table 3.1). We also included one ecologically sensible two-way interaction between macroalgae and structural complexity which has yielded interesting results in previously published work resulting from the same surveys (Dajka et al. 2019). We recorded 'reef type' as a categorical variable with three reef types: carbonate, patch, and granite. After isolating the influence of each reef type on urchin abundance during data exploration, patch reefs stood out as most influential while carbonate and granite reefs showed comparable effects. Given our number of observations (n = 168), we replaced 'reef type' with a binary dummy variable that isolates the patch reef type and groups carbonate and granitic reef types to reduce our covariates to a number that can be sensibly interpreted. Our chosen variables did not present problematic variance inflation factors (Table 3.1), indicating that our model was not biased by collinearity issues (Zuur et al. 2009). We scaled variables to a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1. This is a recommended approach for multi-model selection which allows for meaningful comparisons of effect sizes when variables are on different scales (e.g. structural complexity vs. reef type) (Schielzeth 2010). To account for overdispersion and high frequencies of true zeros in our response variable (45.8 %), we fitted a zero-inflated negative binomial (ZINB) regression; a two-part model that fits two distributions to the data (Zuur, Saveliev & Ieno 2012). The first part fits a binomial distribution to the full dataset, treating the response variable as presence-absence (i.e. 0 urchins or 1 urchin, zero component).

Table 3.1 Biotic and abiotic variables considered in habitat predictor analysis to explain spatial variation in sea urchin abundance, brackets include a variance inflation factor (VIF) that was determined during data exploration, the VIF is showing the degree of collinearity between our variables (values > 3 can start to show auto-correlation, Zuur, Ieno & Elphick 2010).

Predictor	Rationala	Deference		
(VIF)	Kationale	Kelefence		
Coral (1.6)	Sea urchins have been reported closely associating with live and dead coral, and also to graze on corals.	(Bak & van Eys 1975; Furman & Heck 2009; Johansson, Bellwood & Depczynski 2010; Young & Bellwood 2011)		
Macroalgae (2.6)	Many sea urchin species throughout the world are considered macroalgal grazers.	(McClanahan 1999; Solandt & Campbell 2001; Sumi & Scheibling 2005; Carpenter & Edmunds 2006; Stimson, Cunha & Philippoff 2007; Johansson, Bellwood & Depczynski 2010)		
Herbivorous fish biomass (1.2)	Sea urchins and fish herbivores have been considered as primary competitors.	(Carpenter1988;McClanahan 1992)		
Invertivorous fish biomass (1.2)	Invertivorous fish are considered primary predators of sea urchins	(McClanahan & Shafir 1990; McClanahan 1999; Hereu <i>et al.</i> 2004)		
Structural complexity (1.5)	Structurally complex reefs provide habitable space for a diverse range of organisms including sea urchins or fish, and can increase urchin survival.	(Andrew & Underwood 1993; Benedetti-Cecchi & Cinelli 1995; Hereu <i>et al.</i> 2004; Lee & Hessen 2006; Bodmer 2019)		
Patch reef type – site scale (1.5)	Three reef types surveyed: carbonate, patch and granite reefs; patch reef type is considered to be a facilitating habitat for sea urchins	(Jones & Andrew 1990; Andrew 1993; McClanahan 1999)		

The second part fits a negative binomial distribution to all response data excluding true zeros (i.e. > 1 urchin, count component). We initially used a zero-inflated model with 'site' as a random factor using the glmmTMB-package (Brooks *et al.* 2017) and one without a random effect using the 'pscl'-package (Zeileis, Kleiber & Jackman 2008). Model selection based on Akaike Information Criterion (AIC, Zuur *et al.* 2009) determined the latter model as better performing, suggesting that auto-correlation did not bias our parameter estimates. Backwards selection based on AIC (Table 3.2) excluded three variables ('coral', 'herbivorous fish biomass', 'invertivorous fish biomass') resulting in the final model:

Sea urchin abundance ~ Macroalgae + Complexity + Patch reef type + Macroalgae

* Complexity

Model	AIC	df	Excluded
			factors
Urchins ~ Macroalgae + Complexity + Coral + Patch reef + Herbivores +		19	None, global
Invertivores + Macroalgae * complexity			model
Urchins ~ Macroalgae + Complexity + Coral + Patch reef + Macroalgae		13	Herbivores
* complexity			Invertivores
Urchins ~ Macroalgae + Complexity + Patch reef + Macroalgae *	661.1	11	Herbivores
complexity			Invertivores
			Coral

Table 3.2 Model selection in backwards stepwise selection based on Akaike information criterion (AIC) and degrees of freedom (df).

During model validation, we found no alarming patterns in the model's residuals apart from the clustering in the model's zero component, which is expected with zero-inflated models (Zuur, Saveliev & Ieno 2012). To visualise the relationships between predicted urchin abundance across the observed range of each individual variable in our ZINB model, we held all other variables to constant means of 0 (Schielzeth 2010).

3.3.3 Experimental sea urchin penning & statistical analysis

The second part of our study was done from January to March 2018 on the degraded reefs of Anse Papaie (4.28°S, 55.73°E), Curieuse Island, one of the 21 sites surveyed in the first part of the study (Fig. S3.1). We chose the bay because it is a marine park, minimising disturbance to our experiment and because Anse Papaie is a degraded fringing coral reef, with high fragmentation and eroded structural complexity at 0.5 m to 7 m depths. The bay is almost universally covered by continuous macroalgal fields, with canopy and overstorey primarily made up of *Sargassum* spp. and some *Turbinaria* spp., while the understorey is primarily *Lobophora* spp. and *Dictyota* spp. *Sargassum* in particular often have strong seasonal patterns, mainly driven by temperature changes and nutrient limitation (McCourt 1984; Vuki & Price 1994; Hwang, Tsai & Lee 2004). *Sargassum* seasonality in the inner Seychelles appears to be tied to the prevailing seasonal winds and currents (Kalugina-Gutnik, Perestenko & Titlyanova 1992; Zvyagintsev & Ivin 1992; Bijoux 2013). *Sargassum* appear to senesce during the peak of the more cloudy season during the south-east winds (from May to October) and regrow (likely from leftover holdfasts) during the predominantly clear-sky season of north-west winds (December to March) (Bijoux 2013), leading to our choice of experimental timing (January to March).

In early January 2018, we built 13 individual experimental pens (2.25 m² area, each fenced with chicken wire and built with open top) on continuous macroalgal fields that grew on relatively flat surfaces to ensure the fences were flush with the sea floor. We stocked 5 pens with 10 *E. calamaris* (4.44 urchins m⁻²), 5 pens with 4 *E. calamaris* (1.78 urchins m⁻²), and 3 pens without urchins as controls. These stocking densities were the logistically highest attainable given the surrounding natural urchin abundances. The pens were dispersed randomly within the macroalgal field, although we kept a minimum distance of 1 m between each treatment pen and 5 m between control and treatment pens. On the 28th of January (week 1), we took HD-photographs of each pen from above. We repeated the process on the 18th of February (week 3) and the 11th of March (week 6). We compared the photographs using "Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe)" (Kohler & Gill 2006) to obtain a change in macroalgal cover over time.

To analyse the effects of 'urchin stocking density' and 'time' (fixed effects), we fitted generalised linear mixed models (GLMM) to our response variable 'macroalgae cover' using the lme4-package in R (Bates *et al.* 2015). The model was fitted with 'plot' as a random effect to address dependencies induced by repeated measures through time (Zuur, Ieno & Elphick 2010). To avoid having a percentage-based response variable, we used macroalgal cover as a binary response variable (1 = macroalgae, 0 = no macroalgae) with each randomly allocated point in our HD-photographs being one observation (n = 50 per photo, n = 1950 in total) and fitted it with a GLMM using a binomial distribution and the following formula:

Macroalgae cover ~ *Urchin stocking density* + *Time* + (1 | Plot)

The plots of the GLMMs' residuals did not show any alarming clustering or patterns and therefore suggest good model fits. Subsequently, we used a pair-wise comparison Tukey post-hoc test using the emmeans-package in R (Lenth *et al.* 2019).

All analyses were conducted in R version 3.5.3 (R-Core-Team 2019). We provide our R-scripts and dataset at an open source repository (<u>https://github.com/JanDajka/SeyUrchins-2018</u>).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Benthic drivers of sea urchin abundance

Our model's zero component indicated a strong positive correlation of patch-reef type on sea urchin abundance, as well as weak positive correlation of the macroalgae-structural-complexity interaction and structural complexity (Fig. 3.1 A). Macroalgae displayed a strong negative correlation on urchin abundance in the zero component. The count component of our model showed a strong positive correlation for patch-reef type, and a weak positive correlation for macroalgae (Fig. 3.1 B), and a weak negative correlation of structural complexity on urchin abundance. The macroalgae-structural-complexity interaction displayed a strong negative correlation on urchin abundance in the count-component of our model. The sizes of the confidence intervals (thin lines) do not allow for a reliable interpretation of the weak correlation of the macroalgae-structural-complexity interaction and structural complexity in the zero component (Fig. 3.1 A) or macroalgae and structural complexity in the count component (Fig. 3.1 B).



Figure 3.1 Effect size estimates of predictor coefficients in zero model with standard error (thick lines) and 95% confidence intervals (thin lines); zero-model component: positive coefficient estimates predict urchin absences (0) and negative coefficient estimates predict urchin abundance (A); count-model component: negative coefficient estimates predict lower urchin abundance, positive coefficients predict higher abundance (B).

The predictor trends resulting from the count component of our model predict a steady decline in urchin abundance with increasing macroalgal cover (Fig. 3.2 A). Our model predicted ~ 3 urchins per replicate $(0.019 \text{ urchins } \text{m}^{-2})$ per when macroalgae were absent, but ~ 2 urchins $(0.013 \text{ urchins } \text{m}^{-2})$ when macroalgal cover extended to 5 % per replicate. Further interpretation of this trend was not warranted due to large standard errors resulting from few occurrences of macroalgal cover values above 5 %. Our model suggested that no urchins were found in replicates with > 90 % algal cover, while over 20 replicates were found where there were urchins present. The predictor trend of structural complexity predicts a slight increase of urchin abundances with increasing structural complexity (Fig. 3.2 B). In replicates with structural complexity of 2, the model trend predicted abundances of ~ 2.5 urchins (0.02 urchins m^2) that increased to ~ 3 urchins (0.02 urchins m^2) at a structural complexity of 4. The predictor trend at lower structural complexity is also uninterpretable due to the limited number of replicates with structural complexity below 2. Continuous reefs of granitic or carbonate base predicted abundances of ~ 1.5 urchins (0.01 urchins m^{-2}) while fragmented patch habitats predicted abundances of ~ 6.5 urchins (0.04 urchins m⁻²) (Fig. 3.2 C). With increasing structural complexity, macroalgae correlated with a more severe decrease of urchin abundances (Fig. 3.2 D). As macroalgal cover increases from 0 % to 7.5 % per replicate, urchin abundances decrease with structural complexity as follows: predicted abundances decreased from ~ 3 urchins (0.02 urchins m^{-2}) to ~ 1 urchin (0.01 urchins m^{-2}) at structural complexity 0, from ~ 5 urchins (0.03 urchins m^{-2}) to ~ 1 (0.01 urchins m^{-2}) at structural complexity 2, and from ~ 7 (0.05 urchins m^{-2}) to ~ 0 urchins (0.002 urchins m^{-2}) at structural complexity 3.5.



Figure 3.2 Model prediction trends of macroalgae (A), structural complexity (B), and patch-reef type (C), and for the interaction of macroalgae * structural complexity (D) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model, panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95 % confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable.

3.4.2 Experimental sea urchin penning

Macroalgal cover declined from the first week to the third week in pens stocked with 10 *E. calamaris* (Fig. 3.3, 13 % reduction: Tukey pair-wise comparison $z-\Delta 10 = 3.074$, p = 0.054, Suppl. table 3.1). Pens stocked with 4 urchins as well as control pens displayed no notable differences in macroalgal cover over time (Fig. 3.3, Suppl. table 3.1).



Figure 3.3 Macroalgal cover (in %) changes observed in three-week intervals inside the penned experimental plots for stocking densities of 10 & 4 *Echinothrix calamaris*, as well as controls; central line: mean, boxplot boundaries: interquartile range, outside dot: value is > 1.5 times and < 3 times the interquartile range beyond either end of the box, whiskers: \pm standard error.

3.5 Discussion

In our urchin penning experiment, short-spined urchins (*Echinothrix calamaris*) were able to achieve some macroalgal reduction within six weeks. While the experimental densities (4.44 urchins m⁻²) required to achieve this reduction were far above mean and maximum densities we observed in surveys across the inner Seychelles (mean: 0.02 urchins m⁻², maximum: 0.16 urchins m⁻²), there are studies that have recorded even higher densities of sea urchins in the Caribbean between 1970 and 1983 (mean: 7.7

urchins m⁻², maximum: > 20 urchins m⁻²) before a die-off from disease (Hughes *et al.* 2010; Graham *et al.* 2013). Since this drastic mortality, Caribbean urchin densities have slightly risen again (mean 2000-2008: 0.3 urchins m⁻²). The authors of another study that also relocated urchins (*Diadema antillarum*) from high density (1.40 ± 0.18 urchins m⁻²), to low density (0.02 ± 0.01 urchins m⁻²), non-fenced areas were able to achieve significant reductions in macroalgal cover by about 15 % before the urchins left the area (Maciá, Robinson & Nalevanko 2007). When we relocated similar densities of *E. calamaris* (1.78 urchins m⁻²) into pens, we did not observe a significant reduction of macroalgal cover.

At lower densities, closer to those that we found naturally in the Seychelles, our model suggests that urchin abundance correlates positively with patch reefs and negatively with macroalgae. We also found a weak positive correlation of structural complexity on urchins in our model. Although, the negative correlation we found for macroalgae appeared to outweigh the positive correlation of structural complexity, leading to a more drastic reduction of urchin abundances on complex reefs as macroalgal cover expanded. The relationship between urchins and structural complexity in the wider literature is multi-facetted which might be why our results did not show clear patterns. Some studies report a positive relationship between urchins and structural complexity (Hereu *et al.* 2004; Lee 2006) while others, including a meta-analysis, report a negative relationship (Weil, Torres & Ashton 2005; Graham & Nash 2013). These discrepancies could stem from the varying behaviours, such as substrate-eroding and protection behaviours displayed by multiple urchin species. Some urchins, such as the substrate-boring urchin *E. mathaei*, tend to use crevices for protection (Khamala 1971; McClanahan & Kurtis 1991), while other species such as *D. antillarum* display gregarious behaviour in open areas (Levitan 1988; Graham & Nash 2013). We observed both hiding in crevices and gregarious behaviour in open areas with *E. calamaris* during our study (JCD, pers. obs.).

Increasing abundances of *E. calamaris* were more often found in areas with low macroalgal cover and more towards patch reef types. Perhaps the urchins graze down the macroalgae or they actively search open areas. Our combined experimental and observational evidence suggest the latter. In our penning experiment, only unnaturally high densities of urchins had an effect on algal densities (4.44 urchins m⁻² vs 0.16 urchins m⁻²) and locally common macroalgal genera like *Sargassum* were not overwhelmingly
grazed. As a whole, our findings align with the literature in that notable sea urchin grazing impacts on macroalgae appear to scale with local urchin densities (Carpenter & Edmunds 2006; Myhre & Acevedo-Gutiérrez 2007; Furman & Heck 2009; Hughes *et al.* 2010). The common urchin species in the Western Indian Ocean, *E. calamaris*, could have a macroalgal controlling effect like its Caribbean relative, but this is only likely if mean densities that we recently observed in the Seychelles were to exponentially rise (by 220 times).

The penning technique as we used it is unlikely to lend itself as an effective method for controlling macroalgal expansion on degraded coral reefs. This is mainly because of the large number of urchins that need to be transported into the pens in order to achieve macroalgal reduction. The technique may be enhanced by including structural elements into the pens, given the partly positive relationship between structural complexity and urchins in the literature (Hereu *et al.* 2004; Lee 2006). A longer penning time at higher stocking densities (minimum of 4.44 urchins m⁻²) could also prove effective in clearing the entire pen of macroalgae, seeing as macroalgal cover in pens stocked with 10 urchins declined continuously throughout our experiment.

It is also notable that the penning experiments of stocking densities with 4 urchins commenced with an average of ~ 81 % initial macroalgal cover while pens with 10 urchins commenced with ~ 92 % (Fig. 3). This difference was induced by a combination of the random placement of treatments and is compounded by the low number of pens per treatment (n = 5) and we believe that further replication would have rectified this irregularity but, in our case, we were logistically constraint to the numbers of replicates used. We therefore refrained from analysing our data across treatments and only compared each experimental week with the starting point of the same treatment.

Another note about our experiment is that macroalgal cover declined from week 3 to week 6 almost uniformly across all treatments as well as controls. We propose that the onset of south-easterly winds in March (see methods) towards the end of our experiment may have increased wave energy to the extent that similar amounts of macroalgae got removed by increased wind forces rather than by urchin feeding in week 6. This would explain why we see a similar reduction in macroalgal cover in the controls. In addition, the macroalgal fields in our experiment were largely made up of Sargassum, an algal genus that E. calamaris may not have feeding preference for. Our HD-photographs allowed us to identify the macroalgae to genus level, which resulted in more than 90 % Sargassum cover in our experiment. However, since the photographs were taken from plantar view, this only represents the overstorey and we cannot make inferences about the understorey that might have been growing under the Sargassum canopy. Lobophora algae for instance can grow in the understorey of other algae (Roff et al. 2015) and if the *E. calamaris* did prefer these algae, we would not have picked up on it. Feeding preference towards certain algal genera and species has been reported for sea urchins (Solandt & Campbell 2001; Konar & Estes 2003; Stimson, Cunha & Philippoff 2007). Although, a notable non-selectivity has also been reported for the Caribbean urchin species, D. antillarum, grazing on several chemically and physically defended macroalgae (Solandt & Campbell 2001; Furman & Heck 2009) as well as turf algae (Carpenter 1985). In summary, we believe that *E. calamaris* might not have a feeding preference for *Sargassum*, but this does not exclude them preferring other macroalgae. This could be an explanation as to why E. calamaris show a different feeding behaviour to some other, better studied tropical urchins. Future feeding preference experiments for E. calamaris may illuminate whether Sargassum and other macroalgae are indeed not the urchins' preferred food sources.

In conclusion, the main function of *E. calamaris* in the Seychelles does not appear to be controlling macroalgal expansion given the natural densities we found in our study. It is likely that a drastic elevation of the species' density on degraded coral reefs could make the controlling effect on macroalgae measurable. Our model suggests that *E. calamaris* are most likely to congregate on patch reefs, especially if these patch reefs feature structurally complex elements and are low in macroalgal cover. This type of habitat is where their performed function would be most measurable and future studies should look to investigate these habitats to narrow down the function of *E. calamaris* in the Western Indian Ocean. Our study provides insights to the species' function as macroalgal controllers that add to our knowledge of degraded coral reef dynamics.

Contribution of authors

JCD and NAJG conceived the ideas and designed the methodology; JCD, VB, and GG contributed critically in acquisition of the data; JCD analysed the data; JCD and NAJG interpreted the results. JCD wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all authors contributed critically to drafts and gave final approval for publication.

4 RED AND GREEN LOOPS HELP UNCOVER MISSING FEEDBACKS IN A CORAL REEF SOCIAL-ECOLOGICAL SYSTEM

4.1 Abstract

Social-ecological systems (SES) exhibit complex cause-and-effect relationships. Capturing, interpreting, and responding to signals that indicate changes in ecosystems is key for sustainable management in SES. Breaks in this signal-response chain, when feedbacks are missing, will allow change to continue until a point when abrupt ecological surprises may occur. In these situations, societies and local ecosystems can often become uncoupled. In this paper, we demonstrate how the red loopgreen loop (RL-GL) concept can be used to uncover missing feedbacks and to better understand past social-ecological dynamics. Reinstating these feedbacks in order to recouple the SES may ultimately create more sustainable systems on local scales. The RL-GL concept can uncover missing feedbacks through the characterisation of SES dynamics along a spectrum of human resource dependence. Drawing on diverse qualitative and quantitative data sources, we classify SES dynamics throughout the history of Jamaican coral reefs along the RL-GL spectrum. We uncover missing feedbacks in red-loop and redtrap scenarios from around the year 600 until now. The Jamaican coral reef SES dynamics have moved between all four dynamic states described in the RL-GL concept: green loop, green trap, red loop, and red trap. We then propose mechanisms to guide the current unsustainable red traps back to more sustainable green loops, involving mechanisms of seafood trade and ecological monitoring. By gradually moving away from seafood exports, Jamaica may be able to return to green-loop dynamics between the local society and their locally sourced seafood. We discuss the potential benefits and drawbacks of this proposed intervention and give indications of why an export ban may insure against future missing feedbacks and could prolong the sustainability of the Jamaican coral reef ecosystem.

Our approach demonstrates how the RL-GL approach can uncover missing feedbacks in a coral reef SES, a way the concept has not been used before. We advocate for how the RL-GL concept in a feedback setting can be used to synthesise various types of data and to gain an understanding of past, present, and future sustainability that can be applied in diverse social-ecological settings.

Published:

Dajka, J.-C., Woodhead, A. J., Riechers, M., Graham, N. A. J., Norström, A. V., Nyström, M. (2020) Red and green loops help uncover missing feedbacks in a coral reef social-ecological system, People and Nature, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10092</u>

4.2 Introduction

Increased globalisation has been one of the underlying factors driving observed increases in human development (e.g. Human Development Index; Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel 2018; United Nations Development Program 2018). However, the increased connectivity of economies, ecosystems, and human societies on a global level has been argued to be detrimental to the sustainability of local social-ecological systems (SES) when feedback relationships that indicate overharvesting of natural resources or environmental impacts are weakened or lost (Levin 1999; Berkes 2007; Nyström et al. 2019). This weakening – or decoupling – can emerge as the geographical distance between the location of consumption and production increases (Anderson 2010, Clapp 2014, Nyström et al. 2019). Overfishing of local fish stocks, for example, can be masked by importing fish caught elsewhere, leaving consumers relatively unaffected and unaware of ongoing changes in the ecosystem (Crona et al. 2016). For instance, the United Kingdom (UK) increased their imports of Atlantic cod from Iceland and the Faeroe Islands between the late 1980s and 1990s (Crona et al. 2016). Because cod was available in UK markets from multiple competing sources, the prices did not represent the decreasing cod stocks in local UK waters. This masked the mechanism for UK consumers to keep track of the increasing cod rarity and hence did not cause consumers to match their consumption patterns to the state of local ecosystem degradation. Such mechanisms are often referred to as "feedback mechanisms" because they have the potential to feed information about the state of a system back to society.

Capturing, interpreting, and responding to signals that indicate changes in ecosystems are key facets of sustainable management in SES. If feedbacks are ignored or masked (e.g. by trade), change is allowed to pass unnoticed until a point when an abrupt ecological surprise (i.e. regime shift) may occur. Once manifested, the new ecological state can be difficult, very costly, and potentially even impossible to reverse (Nyström et al. 2012). Pathways toward improved local sustainability have to feature managing feedbacks that underpin social-ecological trajectories.

Here, we demonstrate how the RL-GL concept highlights missing feedbacks and how it can be used to synthesise various types of data and to understand past, present, and future sustainability in diverse

social-ecological settings. Our study is the first that is integrating these two approaches to unpack socialecological dynamics for improved sustainability of SES.

4.2.1 Reinstating missing feedbacks to recouple social-ecological systems

When feedbacks are masked, they are referred to as "missing feedbacks" (Barnett & Anderies 2014; Crona et al. 2016). In the context of social-ecological dynamics, this often means that the social system gets decoupled from the local ecosystem (Hoole & Berkes 2010), which opens unsustainable pathways that the SES may follow (Crona et al. 2016). To avoid this from happening it is critical to reinstate missing feedbacks and recouple the SES by "closing the loop" between humans and ecosystems (Patterson & Coelho 2008). A global example of this recoupling feedback approach is the current climate change discussion. Carbon taxes or carbon credits are meant to act as a "global" feedback to recouple anthropogenic changes to the atmospheric system back to society (Van der Ploeg 2014). Cod prices in the UK provide a local example; the missing feedbacks mentioned above could be reinstated by strengthening information flow from fishers to consumers or by directly increasing overfishing awareness in citizens and political actors through publicity (Crona et al. 2016). Another example of reinstating feedbacks comes from the Etosha National park in Namibia (Hoole & Berkes 2010). Decoupling was connected to the loss of Herero knowledge of the park, which led to failing wildlife conservation initiatives and exacerbated poverty levels in local Herero communities. Reinstating this missing feedback, through management collaboration between the park and Herero communities, as well as Herero inclusion in park management and as employees was used to re-instate feedbacks, ultimately improving the outcomes for the Herero and conservation management. Addressing missing feedbacks can have a transformational impact on the SES but it requires very detailed knowledge of the SES dynamics to uncover where feedbacks are missing (Patterson & Coelho 2008; Meyfroidt & Lambin 2009; Crona et al. 2016). Individual case studies are extremely variant in their display of feedback dynamics and detecting missing feedbacks will vary from case to case.

4.2.2 Using the 'red loop-green loop' model to identify missing feedbacks

We argue that a framing is required which assists with feedback classification and can identify missing feedback scenarios. The "red loop-green loop" (RL-GL) concept (Cumming et al. 2014) provides this framing for two differing forms of ecosystem dependence and sustainable resource use.

The RL-GL concept proposes that human resource dependence on a national scale tends to follow one of two fundamentally different trajectories that are reinforced by weak ties with local ecosystems and strong ties with distal systems (red loop), or strong ties with local ecosystems and weak ties with distal systems (green loop; Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel 2018). In both red and green loop countries, the entire economy or certain economic sectors can evolve into trap situations that can severely threaten the long-term sustainability of the current trajectory (Cumming et al. 2014). Green traps can occur as the human population in a green-loop economy grows without adequate food production from the local ecosystem, leading to a spiral of increased overharvesting and environmental degradation (Steneck 2009). To avoid this green trap situation, societies can divert their dependence towards external ecosystem services, for instance by means of food import, which would lead towards red-loop dynamics. In a red-loop trajectory, the economy's ecological impact reaches to distal ecosystems as well as the local system. For instance, reforestation in parts of Vietnam between 1987 to 2006 was achieved at the expense of forest displacement from other parts of the country as well as partly illegal imports from deforestation in neighbouring countries such as Cambodia and Laos (Meyfroidt & Lambin 2009). The example illustrates a red-trap situation where supply and consumption are maintained without recognition of the ecological degradation entails in other local ecosystems due to missing feedbacks.

In summary, as sectors in the economy relying on local ecosystems for resources approach a red trap and the economy as a whole increases its dependence on distal systems, the likelihood of missing feedbacks between the country's society and local ecosystems increases. Therefore, societal and ecological dimensions of the SES run the risk of decoupling and a recoupling of the SES becomes more necessary for local system sustainability.

We argue that once the missing feedbacks have been identified, interventions to reinstate them could recouple local SES and move economic sectors out of red- or green-trap trajectories. Applying the RL-

GL concept to historical SES data can facilitate an understanding of how feedback dynamics have changed through time (Cumming et al. 2014; Hamann, Biggs & Reyers 2015) and what trajectory an economic sector is currently following (Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel 2018). This can highlight points where the SES decoupled and thus identify opportunities to recouple the SES and avoid trap scenarios.

In this study, we apply the RL-GL framework to understand and classify the SES dynamics in the context of Jamaican coral reefs (Fig. 4.1), using mixed historical data dating back to roughly the year 600. With this historical understanding, we focus on uncovering missing feedbacks between the Jamaican people and their coral reef system. Lastly, we propose mechanisms that could move the current Jamaican coral reef SES out of recently assumed red-trap dynamics.



Figure 4.1 Summary schematic of our approach to 1) using red-loop green-loop classification of historical time periods to 2) uncovering missing feedbacks for which we suggest 3) mechanisms to reinstate the feedbacks and recouple the coral reef social-ecological system.

4.3 Jamaican coral reef SES dynamics through time

We identified and categorised social-ecological trajectories and feedbacks of Jamaican coral reefs across eight time periods (Table 4.1), from around 600 to the present. For the first six time periods (Ostionan, Meilican, Spanish occupation, British colonisation, Post-emancipation, and World Wars I & II), the available data are mostly qualitative. Hardt (2009) and Hicks et al. (2016) conclusively reconstructed the social-ecological dynamics for these time periods and we use them as our primary reference to infer about the nature (red or green loop) of those dynamics. Most quantitative data became available from 1950 and we use them to infer about social-ecological dynamics in the last two time periods (Post-war and Shifted reefs; Oswald 1963; Hughes 1994; Clayton 2001; Hardt 2009; Lingard et al. 2012; Hicks et al. 2016; FAOSTAT 2019).

Table 4.1: Historical data types and sources per time period of Jamaican history

Time period	Data type	References
Ostionan (600 - 900)	Qualitative:	(Hardt 2000: Higks at al. 2016)
Meilican (900 - 1500)	Kitchen midden analyses	(Halut 2009, Hicks et al. 2010)
Spanish occupation (1509 - 1655)	Qualitative:	(Backwith 1020: Thompson 1045:
British colonisation (1656 - 1834)	Sailors' logbooks & historical	Munro Passon & Gaut 1971:
Post-emancipation (1834 - 1900)	descriptions by naturalists,	$^{\circ}$ Hardt 2000: Hicks et al. 2016)
World Wars I & II (1901 - 1945)	historians & fisheries scientists	Haldt 2009, Hicks et al. 2010)
Post-war (1946 - 1985)		(Oswald 1963; Hughes 1994;
		Clayton 2001; Hardt 2009;
Shifted reefs (1985 - 2017)	Quantitative:	Lingard et al. 2012; Hicks et al.
	Fisheries, demographic,	, 2016; United Nations
	economic, and ecological data	Development Program 2018;
		FAOSTAT 2019; World Bank
		2019)

To illustrate social-ecological dynamics between the Jamaican society and their coral reefs over eight time periods, we used a mixed quantitative and qualitative approach. For each time period, we inferred Jamaican social-ecological dynamics from indicators of social change, changes in human population size, economic diversification, as well as ecological change (Fig. 4.2). We then focused on the social-ecological dynamics around local Jamaican coral reefs, viewed them as an individual economic sector, as well as through an RL-GL lens for each of the time periods and suggest mechanisms to approach green-loop dynamics in future scenarios (Fig. 4.3).



Figure 4.2 Jamaica's inferred dependence on coral reefs from low to high (black line) and human population (red line) through time. Time up to future scenarios is split into eight separate time periods and for each we determined ecological reef regime state of the reef (fish & coral/algae symbols) as well as major economic state of Jamaica (pie graphs). Colour of the pie graph segments indicates Jamaica's economic state along the RL-GL spectrum: green loop (light green), green trap (dark green), red loop (light red), red trap (dark red); population based on Hardt (2009; up to 1950) & United Nations, DESA, Population Division, World Population Prospects 2019, http://population.un.org/wpp/ (from 1950).

4.3.1 Ostionan period (600s-900s): Green-loop dynamics

From roughly the 600s to 900s, Jamaica was inhabited by Ostionan period people and dependence on coral reefs was largely based on fishing (Fig. 4.2). This resource extraction increased with a growing human population with no indication of trade or other connections to other systems (Hardt 2009), as well as a relatively small population size, leading to the classification of this period as a green-loop state (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.2 Meilican period (900s-1500s): Green-trap dynamics

During the Meilican period, the human population on Jamaica grew rapidly and by 1500 had reached ~ 1 million people (Hardt 2009; Hicks et al. 2016; Fig. 4.2). Decreasing reef fish catch sizes indicate that the reef ecosystem was overexploited under the pressure of the growing human population and there is no evidence of trade prior to the first European contact that could have reduced pressure on the coral reef ecosystem (Hardt 2009). Based on gradually decreasing fish sizes in kitchen middens suggesting a "fishing down the food web" situation (Pauly & Palomares 2005), we concluded that the SES between the Jamaican people and the reef ecosystem during the Meilican period was characterised by green-trap dynamics (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.3 Spanish occupation period (1509-1655): Green-loop dynamics

With the Spanish occupation in 1509 the Jamaican population declined significantly due to the introduction of new diseases and harsh treatment of the local population (Hicks et al. 2016). By the mid-1510s, the population had been reduced by over 99 % from the Meilican period, to approximately 5,000 people, which lessened pressure on the reef ecosystem (Hardt 2009; Fig. 4.2). Pressure was further reduced via an alternate source of protein by the introduction of pigs and cattle from Spain (characteristic of a red-loop dynamic), resulting in a temporary recovery of reefs (Hardt 2009). Due to these two pressure reduction factors and minimal dependence on coral reef resources, the local SES returned to a green loop during Spanish occupation (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.4 British colonisation period (1656-1834): Green-loop dynamics

With the colonisation by the British in 1656, Jamaica was being developed into a hub for international trade. Sugar, coffee, and bananas were increasingly used as trade commodities for salt fish from the UK, 58

USA, and Canada (red-loop dynamic; Fig. 4.2). As a result of this resource diversification, reefs were further relieved from fishing pressure (Hardt 2009; Hicks et al. 2016). The human population of Jamaica started to grow rapidly with the increase in slavery (> 300,000 slaves by 1810) as the colonisers expanded their plantations (Hicks et al. 2016). Again, the reef system began to show signs of overexploitation around 1800 as reef fish were increasingly used as food for the plantation owners (Hardt 2009). During British colonisation, the Jamaican community gradually came to re-kindle their dependence on the reef system after barely depending on it during Spanish occupation. Although reef dependence was largely based on subsistence fishing, fishing regulations (e.g. minimum mesh size for fishing nets) put in place by the colonisers suggest that there was an awareness of changes occurring in the local SES and a feedback between society and the reef ecosystem existed (Hardt 2009). While the larger part of the Jamaican economy was involved in global trade and hence red-loop dynamics (Fig. 4.2), the coral reef SES dynamics remained localised and in a green loop (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.5 Post-emancipation period (1834-1900): Red-trap dynamics

With emancipation in 1834, Jamaica's human population surged towards Meilican levels (~ 1 million by 1900) and reef dependence shifted from feeding the local population to using reef fish as a trading commodity for salt fish (Fig. 4.2), which the Jamaican community had become used to during times of slavery (Hicks et al. 2016). The salt fish dependence was so strong that by the 1830s, local reef resources (including fish and coral) were traded to be able to import salt fish from the USA, Canada, and the UK (Hardt 2009). This indirect dependence on local reefs for trade masked the feedback within the SES and began to decouple the reef environment from the local society, likely for the first time in Jamaican history. The increased fishing of reef fish for trade with salt fish producing countries, shifted the coral reef SES dynamics from green loop to red trap (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.6 World Wars I & II period (1901-1945): From red- to green-trap dynamics

With the advent of tourism and urbanisation in the 1900s, red-trap dynamics were further reinforced (Beckwith 1929; Thompson 1945; Hicks et al. 2016; Fig. 4.2). Accelerated population growth in the early 1900s led Jamaicans to depend on reef resources for both subsistence and trade (Hardt 2009). Technological development of fishing gear, especially the adoption of wire mesh fish traps in the 1910s

(Munro, Reeson & Gaut 1971), caused a shift in dominant fishing mode from seine nets to traps (a technique with even heavier impact on purely reef dwelling fish) and spiralled further reef degradation (Hicks et al. 2016).

With the onset of World War II, trade suffered a dramatic decline and the Jamaican population had to increasingly rely on local reef fish for food instead of imported salt fish. Green-loop dynamics were forced to be resumed between Jamaican society and reef ecosystem and the SES began to recouple. In 1945, Jamaica's dependence on local fish stocks peaked (Hardt 2009) and overfishing of near-shore fish stocks was officially recognised for the first time by government fisheries scientist E. Thompson (1945). Due to a rapidly growing population (~1.3 million in 1945), limited economic diversification, and Jamaican reef dependence rising as a result, the human population quickly outgrew the provisioning capacities of the reef ecosystem (Hardt 2009). We argue that the SES could not sustain this quick fallback on the reef ecosystem for resources during WWII and the resumed green-loop dynamics quickly manifested as green-trap dynamics (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.7 Post-war period (1946-1985): Green-trap dynamics

As Jamaica's dependence on local reefs for food peaked, the government established the Fisheries Division and developed an off-shore fishery (Oswald 1963) to be able to keep up with the increasing demand for seafood (Fig. 4.2). Thompson's suggestions to subsidise job transitions for fishers into other jobs were ignored, and the expansion of the reef fishery was instead heavily subsidised in the 1970s and 1980s (Hardt 2009), which reinforced the green-trap dynamics. In parallel, increasing urbanisation, tourism, and industrialisation (e.g. development of large-scale bauxite mining) were causing reef degradation through pollution of near-shore waters (Hardt 2009; Hicks et al. 2016). During the 1980s, Jamaica also reported the highest regional deforestation rates, leading to a substantial loss of mangroves (Agard et al. 2007). In 1983-84, reefs suffered surges of hurricane damage and a sea urchin disease, which in combination with overfishing led to an ecological regime shift where coral reefs became rapidly overgrown by algae (Hughes 1994). This regime shift and the noticeable catch reductions of reef-dwelling and reef-associated fish species due to overfishing (Suppl. panel 4.1) caused a further spatial expansion of Jamaica's fisheries so that the most productive fisheries were now in far off-shore

environments (Oswald 1963; Lingard et al. 2012). The combined effects of reduced catches from reef fisheries and resulting further fisheries off-shore expansion, as well as the coral reef regime shift, led Jamaican social-ecological reef dynamics to spiral into a green trap (Fig. 4.3). By the late 1980s, Jamaica's economy had diversified and moved into globally connected red-loop dynamics (e.g. revamping salt-fish trade), which in part compensated for the heavily degraded reef ecosystem (Fig. 4.2).

4.3.8 Shifted reefs period (1985-2017): Red-trap dynamics

Following the ecological regime shift, the reef system was severely degraded and the dependence of Jamaicans on the reefs was decreasing. The percentage of employed fishers in the rising Jamaican population declined (FAOSTAT 2019) and workers in non-ecosystem service sectors increased (Clayton 2001; Fig. 4.2). Jamaica's fisheries catches were largely made up of subsistence catches, but a part was, once again, used for exports (Suppl. panel 4.1; Lingard et al. 2012; FAOSTAT 2019). Resuming the resource extraction from the exhausted reef ecosystem for trade, again led to the missing feedback and repeated the decoupling of the SES we described for the post-emancipation period and dynamics of a red trap (Fig. 4.3).

4.3.9 Jamaica's recent red-loop economy supporting a red-trap coral reef SES

Although the Jamaican coral reef SES was kept in a red-trap situation between 1990 and 2017, the country increased its Human Development Index (HDI) from 0.638 to 0.732 (14.8% increase; United Nations Development Program 2018). Generally, red-loop and green-loop countries appear to separate along a gradient of the HDI, where HDI class 1 countries assume red loops and HDI class 4 countries assume green loops, while HDI class 2 and HDI class 3 countries are more difficult to classify and show characteristics of both loops (Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel 2018). Economic diversification allowed Jamaica with its ~ 2.9 million population (Fig. 4.2), to be placed in an HDI class 1 in 2017 (United Nations Development Program 2018), at the median of red-loop countries (HDI of ~ 0.7; Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel 2018). The economic stability gained from diversification has allowed some other nations to improve local ecosystem sustainability (Martens & Raza 2010; Hansen et al. 2018). A diversified economy is a relatively recent development for Jamaica that had not yet

developed when the local SES attempted to move away from red-trap dynamics (i.e. during the World Wars I & II period, Fig. 4.3). A diverse, largely red-loop economy that can lessen the requirements placed on the local coral reef SES could be of great assistance in intervening with current local reef SES red-trap dynamics, provided that the correct guidance is applied to proposed interventions. We propose a set of mechanisms for current Jamaican red-trap dynamics that are meant to reinstate a feedback between society and reef ecosystem to recouple both.



Figure 4.3 Schematic showing social-ecological dynamics focussed on the dependence of the Jamaican community on their coral reefs and categorisation of these dynamics along the spectrum of the RL-GL model leading to a concept of future dynamics where we suggest a conceptual system with mechanisms to reinstate the missing feedbacks and to recouple the social-ecological system.

4.4 Reinstating missing feedbacks in a local red-trap system

Based on the historical assessment of Jamaican SES dynamics, we discuss possible interventions that may lead to a recoupled Jamaican local reef SES. Highlighting missing feedbacks can help steer a system out of red-trap dynamics (Fig. 4.3). Importantly, we propose a set of mechanisms that are supposed to tackle the systemic design of the Jamaican coral reef SES rather than only few systemic parameters. This prioritisation of interventions is highlighted by the "Leverage Points" perspective (Meadows 1999; Abson et al. 2017; Fischer & Riechers 2019) and guided our proposed intervention. The leverage points perspective argues for prioritisation of interventions that have large transformational potential (deep leverage) over those that are usually used but have little to no impact (shallow leverage; Abson et al. 2017). These deep leverage points are difficult to implement because they often prioritise tackling system design and intent (deep leverage) over system parameters (shallow leverage), which is why they are under-used and under-researched (Fischer & Riechers 2019). Their transformational potential applies well to our case study and hence guides the interventions we are proposing to implement here.

4.4.1 Pursuing a green-loop coral reef social-ecological system design through seafood export bans

With an annual per capita fish consumption of 25.8 kg (2017), Jamaica ranks amongst the highest seafood consuming countries in the Americas. Yet, 79 % of Jamaica's supply of all fishery products consumed domestically in 2017 stemmed from imports (FAOSTAT 2019). Our historical analysis of Jamaica shows that seafood exports were a main driver in decoupling the feedback within the coral reef SES, especially in the post emancipation period, World Wars I & II period, and the shifted reef period (Fig. 4.3).

We propose an intervention strategy following a deep leverage point in the system's design (Abson et al. 2017). The local coral reef SES could be gradually designed towards green-loop dynamics in which

locally sourced reef produce are rerouted from exports to domestic markets. In envisaging the local reef SES, local seafood catches from the near-shore and off-shore environment would not serve as exports and only be used for domestic markets, including consumption (e.g. by locals) and sales (e.g. to tourists). A system averse to exports of locally sourced seafood would reinstate a direct feedback between the Jamaican society and the local reef ecosystem. However, for this reinstated feedback to be sustainable, and avoid a green trap scenario, careful monitoring and management of the resource will be necessary. This could lead to the desired recoupling of the Jamaican coral reef SES and enable movement towards locally connected green-loop dynamics within an otherwise globally connected red-loop system.

A coral reef SES in which seafood is locally sourced and used, would, according to RL-GL thinking, be more sustainable than the current red-trap situation (Cumming et al. 2014). For this reinstated feedback to have the desired effect, it is crucial that the information on the ecosystem's state that is fed back to the Jamaican society is reacted on appropriately. This means that the feedback is not ignored, as was the case in 1945 when the suggestions and warnings by fisheries scientist Thompson were ignored by the Jamaican government (Hardt 2009). Existing feedbacks that are ignored can also have destructive effects on the ecosystem (Degnbol & McCay 2007), although, our historical analysis of the Jamaica case indicates that missing feedbacks were more frequently occurring in the coral reef SES than ignored ones.

4.4.2 Strengthening green loops in other regions

Examples of mechanisms that can assist the transition from red-trap to green-loop dynamics exist in the literature. As in the cod example above, one mechanism to reinstate the missing feedbacks could be in strengthening information flow from fishers to consumers (Crona et al. 2016). Eco-labels could provide this transparency to consumers; specifically, labels with a "locally grown" claim have been suggested to be more highly valued by consumers in the United States (Loureiro & Hine 2002; Giovannucci, Barham & Pirog 2010; Onozaka & McFadden 2011). A "locally sourced" eco-label could lend itself to reinstate sustainable stewardship of local reef products. Besides such labelling schemes, education and public campaigns are central instruments for consumers to make informed decisions that can help reinstate feedbacks (Crona et al. 2016). Moreover, traceability is a key mechanism in this context to

ensure supply chains are devoid of unacceptable behaviour, ranging from illegal sourcing and forced labour to poor sanitation and mislabelling (Nyström et al. 2019).

Addressing unsustainable trajectories from deep within a SES is complex and sometimes difficult to monitor through time. For example, it has been suggested that many South-East Asian economies (van Mulekom et al. 2006) could alleviate malnutrition and poverty by redirecting the considerable resources gained through fishing away from exports and towards domestic use, particularly given the rich micronutrients yields in these catches (Hicks et al. 2019). For a region as large as South-East Asia, it is difficult to understand whether these suggestions have led to improvement, largely because the documentation is very inconsistent (Béné et al. 2016). However, shifts towards fishing for domestic markets have been noted in the province of Phang-nga, Thailand (Jones, Gray & Umponstira 2010) and the Philippines (Fabinyi 2016). Some South-East Asian countries might not be as economically well-placed to manifest a green-loop dynamic for their local reef ecosystems, since the marine seafood sector creates a large percentage of national revenue. For instance, Indonesia appears to favour an increase in marine seafood exports, believing that further development of marine resource exports (4.2 billion USD; FAOSTAT 2018) is vital for bringing Indonesia out of its recent economic crisis (Rizal et al. 2018).

A recent study from Seychelles demonstrated substantial catch declines in prized red snapper species, locally called "bourzwa" (Robinson et al. 2020), with exports leading to price increases to the point where the fish became unaffordable to locals. In attempts to protect livelihoods, lower the prices, and achieve recovery of the species' stocks, export bans from 2020 have been proposed for bourzwa (Robinson & Graham 2020). Similar price dynamics might be driving the Jamaican affinity for imported fish consumption in our case study. Export bans could lead to price reduction in local reef fish, make it more affordable for locals, and hence increase their consumption. In the optimal case, this could gradually increase local seafood sustainability, as well as increase the perceived value of the local reef ecosystem and an increased sense of stewardship (Chapin et al. 2010) to gradually close the feedback loop.

The success of an export ban, however, depends on the availability of data to fully understand SES dynamics. In the Seychelles example, Robinson et al. (2020) use detailed fisheries data to show that

local markets were already buying four times as much bourzwa as is exported and elude to the limited likelihood that export bans may have on reducing bourzwa prices, and that other local fisheries management efforts will be key to sustainability (Robinson et al. 2020). Comparative data in Jamaica are very limited, with the most recent (2002) specific seafood export information noting lobster, conch, and "some fish" (FAOSTAT 2019). An export ban, if implemented, should be preceded and accompanied by detailed monitoring of fisheries data to uncover if similar dynamics to Seychelles could be at play in Jamaica. Similarly, an example from Palau, where the government banned 80 % of fishing from foreign vessels in their off-shore waters caused effort to transition to near-shore waters, increasing the pressure on reef fish species (Dacks et al. 2020).

The above examples demonstrate the possible effectiveness of an export ban for recoupling feedbacks within an SES. Yet, these case-studies also emphasise the importance of having detailed data to understand past, current and future SES dynamics. In the following section, we propose where further data could enhance the establishment of a green-loop coral reef SES.

4.4.3 Monitoring required for the green loop

Based on our historical analysis of SES dynamics, we argue that the diverse red-loop economy of Jamaica is at a point where the small export revenue derived from the local reef fishery (12.9 million USD) could be rerouted to domestic markets to increase local coral reef SES sustainability (FAOSTAT 2019). In our historical analysis, when Jamaica was forced to resume green-loop dynamics for the local reef SES during WWII, the economy had only five main sectors whereas today it has nine (World Bank 2019). Jamaica acts as a conceptual example in which we demonstrate how a diverse economy could help leverage a green-loop pathway for its local ecosystem dependence.

For a green loop through export bans to work, a thorough, species-specific comparison of seafood imports and exports needs to be established to be able to gauge the full benefit of an export ban (Robinson & Graham 2020). In addition, the local and international demand for species-specific seafood needs to be thoroughly understood so that the government can anticipate potential knock-on effects (Dacks et al. 2020).

Consistent ecological monitoring of the Jamaican reef system has usually been scarce, as we have seen through our historical analysis. The peak of ecological monitoring was likely during the benthic regime shift and even recently, consistent government-led ecological monitoring of the reefs has been spatially and temporally fragmented (Lapointe et al. 2011; Creary, Smith & Green 2012). Consistent monitoring should provide concurrent ecological awareness that would enable more reactive management to ecological change in the future.

The interventions we suggest above were formulated by searching for points in the system's design that we could leverage to prolong its sustainability. We decided to pursue the design of a green loop coral reef SES and we highlight the benefits and drawbacks for this pathway, but our suggestions are not exhaustive. For instance, within the leverage points framework, there are more pathways which could lead to different interventions (e.g. pursuing the alteration of the system's intent through alternative governance) which future studies could explore.

4.5 Conclusion

Within sustainability research there are different concepts to disentangle social-ecological dynamics. We demonstrate the value of examining complex dynamics through a conceptual lens by using Jamaica's complex coral reef SES dynamics as a case study. We identified a decoupling in the SES using the feedbacks concept - the feedbacks from coral reefs to Jamaican society had become masked. The resulting missing feedbacks were uncovered with the RL-GL concept. Throughout Jamaica's social-ecological history, the SES dynamics between people and the coral reef ecosystem have moved between all four dynamic states described in the RL-GL concept: green loop, green trap, red loop, and red trap.

Jamaica's society has experienced the effects of a degrading near-shore system in the past, at the very least in the form of changes in the types of seafood available for consumption. In its current form, the Jamaican economy has effectively diluted any severe repercussions through a rapidly diversifying economy. Historically, when rapidly growing human populations led to the near-shore system being heavily exploited, or when the dependence on other fisheries products were interrupted, Jamaica had relatively productive reef systems to fall back on. Whether this can be done again in the future will

depend on the intent of the SES and whether feedback mechanisms are in place to signal ecological condition.

We propose mechanisms that could guide transitions away from the red trap that the SES dynamics have currently settled on. We highlight examples of countries that have used a specific intervention in order to move from an unsustainable local red-trap situation to more sustainable green-loop dynamics. We suggest that a successful transition into green-loop dynamics will strongly depend on data availability and continued monitoring of the SES. Future studies should seek to draw on different and multi-disciplinary perspectives to explore this and other interventions and test their feasibility with empirical data.

We arrived at our conclusion through using a conceptual lens that highlights the feedbacks within RL-GL concept and applying it to Jamaica's rich social-ecological coral reef history to reveal potential future pathways. These pathways need to be carefully re-considered under the light of a range of proficiencies, including political, economic, and social expertise, before they can be successfully implemented. We want to highlight the practicality of how we applied the RL-GL concept to uncover missing feedbacks within complex social-ecological dynamics and encourage future studies to apply it to other systems to further advance sustainability research.

Contribution of authors

All authors conceived core ideas and contributed critically to the design of the study; JCD acquired and analysed the data; all authors interpreted the results. JCD wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all authors contributed critically to subsequent drafts and gave final approval for publication.

Coral reef recovery dynamics in the Anthropocene

My findings presented in this thesis add to two major realms of the understanding of dynamics on degraded coral reefs as the Anthropocene and associated reef stressors accelerate. Firstly, I provide new insights about feedback dynamics on degraded coral reef states, specifically about those related to the macroalgae-dominated state. Secondly, I open new avenues to coral reef management and future research to consider; more specifically, by providing tools to confront macroalgal feedbacks at local scales and to engage with missing social-ecological feedbacks at national scales. In addition, my models offer predictions about potential habitat types that could be vital to future coral reef recovery that should be of interest to management and research.

Feedback processes

The feedback research presented in my thesis can be coarsely divided into findings regarding existing ecological feedbacks and missing social-ecological feedbacks, all involving processes on degraded coral reef states that have shifted to macroalgal dominance.

Confronting existing feedbacks

Macroalgae-dominated reef states are well established within the general literature as a major obstacle to coral settlement (Birrell et al. 2005; Diaz-Pulido et al. 2009), likely due to efficient self-reinforcing feedbacks that quickly establish effective dominance of colonisable space (Roff et al. 2015; Dell et al. 2016; Johns et al. 2018). My results (**Chapter 1**) add to this understanding by highlighting macroalgae as one of the major obstacles to juvenile corals as well. By effectively creating two bottlenecks in the coral life-cycle (recruits and juveniles; Chong-Seng et al. 2014), macroalgae form a major hurdle to coral recovery. By increasingly limiting coral recruitment processes with self-reinforcing feedbacks, macroalgae prevent corals from re-establishing their own self-reinforcing feedbacks (van de Leemput et al. 2016) and allow efficient macroalgal expansion on shallow water reefs (McCook 1999; Hughes et al. 2007; Roff et al. 2015; Wilson et al. 2019). Strengthening macroalgal-reinforcing feedbacks thereby 70

increase the resilience of the macroalgal state preventing reversal or reorganisation away from the macroalgal attractor (Fig. 5.1).



Figure 5.1 Illustration of strengthening macroalgae-reinforcing feedbacks increasing the resilience of the macroalgal state using the example of dense macroalgal stands deterring herbivorous fishes.

In **Chapter 2**, I show that the strength of these macroalgal-reinforcing feedbacks can be weakened on a local scale. My shading method confronts the following macroalgal-reinforcing feedback: expanding algal cover can lead to dense macroalgal fields, which may be avoided by herbivorous fishes, leading to a decreased herbivory rate per algae (Hoey and Bellwood 2011; van de Leemput et al. 2016; Fig. 5.1). I attempted to weaken this feedback via the use of shade sails that weaken the feedback in three ways (Fig. 5.2). In my experiment, the shade firstly reduced the photosynthetic efficiency of the algae, leading to a thinning of algal stands. Secondly, it is likely that the shading also affected algal palatability to herbivores, although I do not have evidence for this mechanism. Thirdly, the shade structures themselves attracted herbivorous fishes to the shaded algae. I interpret the reduction in macroalgal cover in shade

plots as an effective weakening of macroalgae-reinforcing feedbacks through the interaction of the above-mentioned mechanisms. The macroalgae-reinforcing feedback induced by dense macroalgal stands was effectively interrupted and macroalgal resilience was reduced in a small-scale experiment (Fig. 5.2). When shade sails were removed, the macroalgal feedbacks re-established over three months and the system clearly did not cross a threshold (Fig. 5.2, dotted line). I believe that, if the shading structures were in place for longer, a shift towards the coral attractor may have occurred. The results do provide evidence of effective reduction of macroalgal cover locally, which could be of use in combination with other interventions, such as manual holdfast removal and subsequent shading (Ceccarelli et al. 2018), and in managing productive habitat mosaic reefscape (van Lier et al. 2018; Fulton et al. 2019).



Figure 5.2. Illustration of weakening macroalgae-reinforcing feedback away from the macroalgal attractor based on the small-scale example of shading and herbivorous fish attraction.

Similar outcomes could be achieved by focussing herbivore grazing on small localised patches (Maciá et al. 2007; Bodmer 2019). I attempted this by penning sea urchins on macroalgal patches. This did not achieve a macroalgal reduction as effectively as the shading method. However, this could be due to the mechanisms behind sea urchin grazing. Urchins might be causing reduction amongst fleshy, tall macroalgal fields by structurally damaging the algal holdfasts (Tegner et al. 1995). Although, conclusive evidence is lacking, this damage to holdfasts could cause macroalgae to get detached with increased wave action (Lee 2006). In my experiment, urchins may have caused this structural damage to macroalgal holdfasts, but I did not observe much macroalgal detachment as a study site with least wave impact was chosen. I made this choice because both the shading and urchin penning experiments were running at the same time and in the same bay to be able to compare the macroalgal cover reduction achieved by both. To protect the shade sails from structural damage, I chose the least windy time at the study site. It would be interesting to see whether a similar urchin penning experiment conducted in a more wave-impacted site could achieve more reduction in macroalgal cover.

Confronting missing feedbacks

As much as existing ecological feedbacks can contribute to ecosystem degradation, so can interrupted feedbacks between human communities and the ecosystems on which they depend (Crona et al. 2016; Nyström et al. 2019). My results (**Chapter 4**) show how information of coral reef condition that is fed back to Jamaican society was interrupted repeatedly through time and how this has contributed to overall reef ecosystem degradation. While missing feedbacks are not often identified and considered in social-ecological systems in the literature, they appear to be an important feature that can hamper management of social-ecological systems, and seem especially prominent in food production systems such as fisheries (Levin 1999; Steneck 2009; Crona et al. 2016) and agricultural systems (Cumming et al. 2014; Nyström et al. 2019). My study is the first to explicitly highlight and confront them in a coral reef social-ecological system. The results highlight how the red-loop green-loop model can uncover these missing social-ecological feedbacks to highlight more sustainable future management pathways.

Management and research directions

Potential habitats of juvenile corals and sea urchins in the Anthropocene

My spatial modelling studies of juvenile corals (**Chapter 1**) and sea urchins (**Chapter 3**) present habitat predictors across 21 reefs in the inner Seychelles. The analyses for both juvenile corals and urchins were conducted on datasets of the same spatial scale (replicate point counts) and are hence comparable. The major comparable habitat predictors are macroalgae (percent cover), structural complexity (0-5 scale), and reef type (patch, carbonate, or granitic reef). Although I did include both juvenile corals as a potential predictor in the urchin models and vice versa, they never showed significantly correlated trends between each other.

While macroalgae negatively predicted both juvenile coral density and urchin abundance, structural complexity was a comparatively neutral predictor for urchins and more positive for juvenile corals. The uncertain relationship between urchins and structural complexity appears to match the unclear consensus of the literature. Some studies report negative relationships (Weil et al. 2005; Graham and Nash 2013) while others report positive relationships (Hereu et al. 2004; Lee 2006) between complexity and sea urchin densities. The trend between juvenile corals and structural complexity is also supported by the literature, with several studies reporting a positive relationship between complexity and juvenile corals (Vergés et al. 2011; Graham and Nash 2013; Rogers et al. 2014; Doropoulos et al. 2016), although I note that my findings include more detailed information through uncovering predictor interactions (see **Chapter 1**).

The interaction of complexity and the granitic reef type was the strongest positive predictor of juvenile coral density, while patch reef type was the strongest positive predictor for sea urchin density. Reef types might highlight potential refugia for future reef assemblages. Both trends are relatively unexplored in the wider literature. There are studies that hint at coral recruitment success being influenced by reef type (Jennings et al. 1995; Graham et al. 2007; Burt et al. 2009; Wilson et al. 2012) and studies that claim urchin abundance might be influenced by fragmented habitats, such as patch reefs (Jones and Andrew 1990; Andrew 1993; McClanahan 1999). Again, I note that my results found through predictor

interactions highlight that some more complex mechanisms (e.g. interaction reef type & macroalgae) might be at play.

In summary, my results suggest that juvenile corals could be expected to recover better on structurally complex, granitic reef habitats following future bleaching events, while sea urchins may perform their functional roles more on patch-reef habitats. Both trends should be considered for further research which could accentuate the importance of these habitats in the future and provide guidance for future coral reef management, for instance in updating zoning plans.

Combining shading and sea urchin penning to confront macroalgal feedbacks

Chapter 2 indicates that shading and herbivory by reef fishes may act together. However, the shading experiment did not encourage herbivorous fish grazing to persist following shade structure removal. The urchin penning method (**Chapter 3**) could maintain grazing focussed on the shaded area, especially following shade removal. Future studies could employ a combination of shading followed by urchin penning and investigate the potential for long-term regime reversals this combination might have on experimental patches of algal communities.

Both the shading (**Chapter 2**) and urchin penning method (**Chapter 3**) were conducted over a six-week time frame which allowed for a comparison of their respective effectiveness in macroalgal reduction. Urchin penning (highest stocking density of 4.44 urchins m⁻²) only achieved a reduction of 17 % macroalgal cover, while shading (largest shade sails of 9 m²) achieved a reduction of 82 %. In this regard, the effectiveness of penned urchin densities of 4.44 urchins m⁻² was closer to the effectiveness of small 4 m² shade sails. Both methods' effectiveness appears to scale with shade sail size or urchin stocking density, which could be valuable to future studies and management approaches.

Holdfast removal is essential to managing expanding macroalgal fields (Loffler et al. 2018). The two methods could be further combined with existing methods, such as manual holdfast removal (Ceccarelli et al. 2018). Manual holdfast removal could be followed by shading to keep algal regrowth at bay. Additionally, if future studies were to find that urchin penning is effective in areas with higher wave action (Tegner et al. 1995; Lee 2006), management could use urchin penning in areas with high wave action and a combination of shading and manual holdfast removal in areas with low wave action. 75

Flexibility with different method combinations could be especially beneficial for the maintenance of habitat mosaics of different sizes (Beger et al. 2010a) and functions (Fulton et al. 2019).

Confronting missing feedbacks for social-ecological system sustainability

I demonstrate how missing feedbacks can be uncovered using the red-loop green-loop framework from social-ecological sustainability research (**Chapter 4**). If developed further and applied to other SES, the concept presented could pave the way for practical applications, similarly to how the red-loop green-loop model has already been applied to empirical data such as the United Nations Human Development Index (HDI; Cumming and von Cramon-Taubadel 2018) and my approach demonstrated for coral reef SES could be similarly trailed by studies to empirically test my concept for coral reef SES.

Missing feedbacks within SES can damage ecosystems and uncovering them could ultimately lead to informed management plans that prolong ecosystem sustainability (Nyström et al. 2019). I apply the concept to rich data from Jamaican coral reef SES. Another next step could be to apply the concept to other SES with the aim to further test its conceptual utility. I used historical information to understand the social-ecological dynamics, highlighting that this approach is not limited to a certain source, range, or type of data. Jackson (2001) also used a variant of this mixed data approach and combined paleoecological, archaeological, historical, and ecological data to infer about historical overfishing of coastal ecosystems spanning from 125,000 years ago until the end of the 1900s. I apply the concept in a mixed-method approach to diverse data types ranging from qualitative historical to quantitative contemporary data.

In conclusion, the value of this thesis is both in adding to the knowledge pool of ecological and socialecological dynamics on degraded coral reefs of the Anthropocene, as well as providing management tools to confront degraded state dynamics.

REFERENCES

- Abal EG, Loneragan N, Bowen P, Perry CJ, Udy JW, Dennison WC (1994) Physiological and morphological responses of the seagrass Zostera capricorni Aschers, to light intensity; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 178, 113-129
- Abson DJ, Fischer J, Leventon J, Newig J, Schomerus T, Vilsmaier U, von Wehrden H, Abernethy P, Ives CD, Jager NW, Lang DJ (2017) Leverage points for sustainability transformation; Ambio, 46, 30-39
- Agard J, Cropper A, Aquing P, Attzs M, Arias F, Beltrân J, Bennett E, Carnegie R, Clauzel S, Corredor J (2007) Caribbean Sea ecosystem assessment (CARSEA); Caribbean Marine Studies, 8, 1-85
- Alcoverro T, Mariani S (2005) Shoot growth and nitrogen responses to simulated herbivory in Kenyan seagrasses; Botanica Marina 48:1-7
- Alvarez-Filip L, Carricart-Ganivet JP, Horta-Puga G, Iglesias-Prieto R (2013) Shifts in coral-assemblage composition do not ensure persistence of reef functionality; Scientific Reports, 3, 3486
- Álvarez-Noriega M, Baird AH, Bridge TCL, Dornelas M, Fontoura L, Pizarro O, Precoda K, Torres-Pulliza D, Woods RM, Zawada K, Madin JS (2018) Contrasting patterns of changes in abundance following a bleaching event between juvenile and adult scleractinian corals; Coral Reefs, 37, 527
- Anderson K (2010) Globalization's effects on world agricultural trade, 1960–2050; Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365, 3007-3021
- Andrew NL (1993) Spatial heterogeneity, sea urchin grazing, and habitat structure on reefs in temperate Australia; Ecology, 74, 292-302
- Andrew NL, Underwood AJ (1993) Density-dependent foraging in the sea urchin *Centrostephanus rodgersii* on shallow subtidal reefs in New South Wales, Australia; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 99, 89-98
- Arnold SN, Steneck RS (2011) Settling into an Increasingly Hostile World: The Rapidly Closing "Recruitment Window" for Corals; PLoS ONE, 6, e28681
- Arnold SN, Steneck RS, Mumby PJ (2010) Running the gauntlet: inhibitory effects of algal turfs on the processes of coral recruitment; Marine Ecolology Progress Series, 414, 91-105
- Babcock RC, Mundy CN (1996) Coral recruitment: Consequences of settlement choice for early growth and survivorship in two scleractinians; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 206, 179-201
- Baird AH, Babcock RC, Mundy CP (2003) Habitat selection by larvae influences the depth distribution of six common coral species Marine Ecology Progress Series 252, 289-293
- Bak RPM, van Eys G (1975) Predation of the sea urchin Diadema antillarum Philippi on living coral; Oecologia, 20, 111-115
- Baldock TE, Golshani A, Atkinson A, Shimamoto T, Wu S, Callaghan DP, Mumby PJ (2015) Impact of sea-level rise on cross-shore sediment transport on fetch-limited barrier reef island beaches under modal and cyclonic conditions; Marine Pollution Bulletin 97, 188-198
- Barile PJ, Lapointe BE, Capo TR (2004) Dietary nitrogen availability in macroalgae enhances growth of the sea hare *Aplysia* californica (Opisthobranchia: Anaspidea); Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 303, 65-78
- Barnett A, Anderies J (2014) Weak feedbacks, governance mismatches, and the robustness of social-ecological systems: an analysis of the Southwest Nova Scotia lobster fishery with comparison to Maine; Ecology and Society, 19, 1-39
- Bates, D, Maechler, M, Bolker, B & Walker, S (2015) Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4; Journal of Statistical Software, 67, 1-48
- Beckwith, MW (1929) Black roadways: A study of Jamaican folk life; The University of North Carolina Press
- Beger M, Grantham HS, Pressey RL, Wilson KA, Peterson EL, Dorfman D, Mumby PJ, Lourival R, Brumbaugh DR, Possingham HP (2010b) Conservation planning for connectivity across marine, freshwater, and terrestrial realms; Biological Conservation, 143, 565-575
- Beger M, Linke S, Watts M, Game E, Treml E, Ball I, Possingham HP (2010a) Incorporating asymmetric connectivity into spatial decision making for conservation; Conservation Letters, 3, 359-368
- Bell PRF (1992) Eutrophication and coral reefs—some examples in the Great Barrier Reef lagoon; Water Research, 26, 553-568
- Belliveau SA, Paul VJ (2002) Effects of herbivory and nutrients on the early colonization of crustose coralline and fleshy algae; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 232, 105-114
- Bellwood DR, Fulton CJ (2008) Sediment-mediated suppression of herbivory on coral reefs: Decreasing resilience to rising sea levels and climate change?; Limnology and Oceanography, 53, 2695-2701
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis; Nature, 429, 827-833
- Bellwood DR, Choat JH (1990) A functional analysis of grazing in parrotfishes (family Scaridae): the ecological implications Alternative life-history styles of fishes (ed MN Bruton), pp 189-214, Springer, Berlin, Germany
- Béné C, Arthur R, Norbury H, Allison EH, Beveridge M, Bush S, Campling L, Leschen W, Little D, Squires D (2016) Contribution of fisheries and aquaculture to food security and poverty reduction: assessing the current evidence; World Development, 79, 177-196
- Benedetti-Cecchi L, Cinelli F (1995) Habitat heterogeneity, sea urchin grazing and the distribution of algae in littoral rock pools on the west coast of Italy (western Mediterranean); Marine Ecology Progress Series, 126, 203-212
- Bennett S, Vergés A, Bellwood DR (2010) Branching coral as a macroalgal refuge in a marginal coral reef system Coral Reefs 29:471-480

- Bennett S, Wernberg T, de Bettignies T, Kendrick GA, Anderson RJ, Bolton JJ, Rodgers KL, Shears NT, Leclerc J-C, Lévêque L, Davoult D, Christie HC (2015) Canopy interactions and physical stress gradients in subtidal communities; Ecology Letter, 18, 677-686
- Berkes F (2007) Community-based conservation in a globalized world; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 104, 15188-15193
- Berkström C, Lindborg R, Thyresson M, Gullström M (2013) Assessing connectivity in a tropical embayment: Fish migrations and seascape ecology; Biological Conservation, 166, 43-53
- Bijoux, JP (2013) Reef fish spawning aggregation sites: the ecology of aggregating and resident species PhD thesis, Université de la Méditerranée Aix-Marseille II
- Birrell CL, McCook LJ, Willis BL (2005) Effects of algal turfs and sediment on coral settlement; Marine Pollution Bulletin, 51, 408-414
- Bodmer MDV, Rogers AD, Speight MR, Lubbock N, Exton DA (2015) Using an isolated population boom to explore barriers to recovery in the keystone Caribbean coral reef herbivore *Diadema antillarum*; Coral Reefs, 34, 1011-1021
- Bodmer MDV (2019) Restoration of the Long-spined Sea Urchin, *Diadema antillarum*, to Caribbean Coral Reefs PhD-Thesis, The Open University
- Bonaldo R, Hoey A, Bellwood D (2014) The Ecosystem Roles of Parrotfishes on Tropical Reefs; Oceanography and Marine Biology An Annual Review, 52, 81-132
- Box SJ, Mumby PJ (2007) Effect of macroalgal competition on growth and survival of juvenile Caribbean corals; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 342, 139-149
- Brooks ME, Kristensen K, van Benthem KJ, Magnusson A, Berg CW, Nielsen A, Skaug HJ, Maechler M, Bolker BM (2017) glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among Packages for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling; The R Journal, 9, 378-400
- Buenau KE, Price NN, Nisbet RM (2011) Local interactions drive size dependent space competition between coral and crustose coralline algae; Oikos, 120, 941-949
- Burt J, Bartholomew A, Bauman A, Saif A, Sale PF (2009) Coral recruitment and early benthic community development on several materials used in the construction of artificial reefs and breakwaters; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 373, 72-78
- Cameron CM, Pausch RE, Miller MW (2016) Coral recruitment dynamics and substrate mobility in a rubble-dominated back reef habitat; Bulletin of Marine Science, 92, 123-136
- Carpenter RC (1988) Mass mortality of a Caribbean sea urchin: Immediate effects on community metabolism and other herbivores; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 85, 511-514
- Carpenter RC, Edmunds PJ (2006) Local and regional scale recovery of *Diadema* promotes recruitment of scleractinian corals; Ecology letters, 9, 271-280
- Carpenter RC (1985) Sea urchin mass-mortality: effects on reef algal abundance, species composition, and metabolism and other coral reef herbivores; Proceedings of the Fifth International Coral Reef Symposium, 53-60
- Ceccarelli DM, Loffler Z, Bourne DG, Al Moajil-Cole GS, Boström-Einarsson L, Evans-Illidge E, Fabricius K, Glasl B, Marshall P, McLeod I, Read M, Schaffelke B, Smith AK, Torras Jorda G, Williamson DH, Bay L (2018) Rehabilitation of coral reefs through removal of macroalgae: State of knowledge and considerations for management and implementation; Restoration Ecology, 26, 827-838
- Chapin, FS, Carpenter, SR, Kofinas, GP, Folke, C, Abel, N, Clark, WC, Olsson, P, Smith, DMS, Walker, B, Young, OR, Berkes, F, Biggs, R, Grove, JM, Naylor, RL, Pinkerton, E, Steffen, W & Swanson, FJ (2010) Ecosystem stewardship: sustainability strategies for a rapidly changing planet; Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 25, 241-249
- Cheal AJ, MacNeil MA, Cripps E, Emslie MJ, Jonker M, Schaffelke B, Sweatman H (2010) Coral–macroalgal phase shifts or reef resilience: links with diversity and functional roles of herbivorous fishes on the Great Barrier Reef; Coral Reefs, 29, 1005-1015
- Chiappone M, Swanson DW, Miller SL (2002) Density, spatial distribution and size structure of sea urchins in Florida Keys coral reef and hard-bottom habitats; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 235, 117-126
- Chong-Seng KM, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS (2014) Bottlenecks to coral recovery in the Seychelles; Coral Reefs, 33, 449-461
- Cinner JE (2011) Social-ecological traps in reef fisheries; Global Environmental Change, 21, 835-839
- Cinner JE, Huchery C, MacNeil MA, Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, Maina J, Maire E, Kittinger JN, Hicks CC, Mora C, Allison EH, D'Agata S, Hoey A, Feary DA, Crowder L, Williams ID, Kulbicki M, Vigliola L, Wantiez L, Edgar G, Stuart-Smith RD, Sandin SA, Green AL, Hardt MJ, Beger M, Friedlander A, Campbell SJ, Holmes KE, Wilson SK, Brokovich E, Brooks AJ, Cruz-Motta JJ, Booth DJ, Chabanet P, Gough C, Tupper M, Ferse SCA, Sumaila UR, Mouillot D (2016) Bright spots among the world's coral reefs; Nature, 535, 416-419
- Clapp J (2014) Financialization, distance and global food politics; Journal of Peasant Studies, 41, 797-814
- Clayton A (2001) Developing a bioindustry cluster in Jamaica: a step towards building a skill-based economy; Social and Economic Studies, 1, 1-37
- Clements KD, German DP, Piché J, Tribollet A, Choat JH (2017) Integrating ecological roles and trophic diversification on coral reefs: multiple lines of evidence identify parrotfishes as microphages; Biological Journal of the Linnean Society, 120, 729-751
- Cole AJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP (2008) Diversity and functional importance of coral-feeding fishes on tropical coral reefs; Fish and Fisheries, 9, 286-307
- Connell JH, Hughes TP, Wallace CC (1997) A 30-year study of coral abundance, recruitment, and disturbance at several scales in space and time; Ecological Monographs, 67, 461-488
- Coyer JA, Ambrose RF, Engle JM, Carroll JC (1993) Interactions between corals and algae on a temperate zone rocky reef: mediation by sea urchins; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 167, 21-37

Creary M, Smith LJ, Green S (2012) Reef Health Monitoring to Inform Climate Change Policy in Jamaica; Proceedings of the 12th International Coral Reef Symposium Cairns, Australia, 9-13

Crona BI, Daw TM, Swartz W, Norström AV, Nyström M, Thyresson M, Folke C, Hentati-Sundberg J, Österblom H, Deutsch L, Troell M (2016) Masked, diluted and drowned out: how global seafood trade weakens signals from marine ecosystems; Fish and Fisheries, 17, 1175-1182

Cumming GS, Buerkert A, Hoffmann EM, Schlecht E, von Cramon-Taubadel S, Tscharntke T (2014) Implications of agricultural transitions and urbanization for ecosystem services; Nature, 515, 50-57

Cumming GS, von Cramon-Taubadel S (2018) Linking economic growth pathways and environmental sustainability by understanding development as alternate social–ecological regimes; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115, 9533-9538

Dacks R, Lewis SA, James PA, Marino LL, Oleson KL (2020) Documenting baseline value chains of Palau's nearshore and offshore fisheries prior to implementing a large-scale marine protected area; Marine Policy, 103754

Dajka J-C, Wilson SK, Robinson JPW, Chong-Seng KM, Harris A, Graham NAJ (2019) Uncovering drivers of juvenile coral density following mass bleaching; Coral Reefs, 38, 637-649

De'ath G, Fabricius KE, Sweatman H, Puotinen M (2012) The 27-year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109, 17995-17999

DeAngelis DL, Post WM, Travis CC (1986) Positive feedback in natural systems; Springer, Berlin, Germany

Degnbol P, McCay BJ (2007) Unintended and perverse consequences of ignoring linkages in fisheries systems; ICES Journal of Marine Science, 64, 793-797

Dell CLA, Longo GO, Hay ME (2016) Positive Feedbacks Enhance Macroalgal Resilience on Degraded Coral Reefs; Plos One 11:e0155049

Diaz-Pulido G, Harii S, McCook LJ, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2009) The impact of benthic algae on the settlement of a reefbuilding coral; Coral Reefs, 29, 203-208

Done, TJ (1992) Phase shifts in coral reef communities and their ecological significance; Hydrobiologia, 247, 121-132

Doropoulos C, Hyndes GA, Abecasis D, Vergés A (2013) Herbivores strongly influence algal recruitment in both coral- and algal-dominated coral reef habitats; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 486, 153-164

Doropoulos C, Roff G, Bozec YM, Zupan M, Werminghausen J, Mumby PJ (2016) Characterizing the ecological trade- offs throughout the early ontogeny of coral recruitment; Ecological Monographs, 86, 20-44

Doropoulos C, Ward S, Marshell A, Diaz-Pulido G, Mumby PJ (2012) Interactions among chronic and acute impacts on coral recruits: the importance of size-escape thresholds; Ecology, 93, 2131-2138

Doropoulos C, Ward S, Roff G, González-Rivero M, Mumby PJ (2015) Linking Demographic Processes of Juvenile Corals to Benthic Recovery Trajectories in Two Common Reef Habitats; Plos One, 10:e0128535

Duran A, Collado-Vides L, Burkepile DE (2016) Seasonal regulation of herbivory and nutrient effects on macroalgal recruitment and succession in a Florida coral reef; PeerJ, 4:e2643

Edgar GJ, Banks SA, Brandt M, Bustamante RH, Chiriboga A, Earle SA, Garske LE, Glynn PW, Grove JS, Henderson S, Hickman CP, Miller KA, Rivera F, Wellington GM (2010) El Niño, grazers and fisheries interact to greatly elevate extinction risk for Galapagos marine species; Global Change Biology, 16, 2876-2890

Edmunds PJ (2004) Juvenile coral population dynamics track rising seawater temperature on a Caribbean reef Marine Ecology Progress Series, 269,111-119

Edmunds PJ, Bruno JF, Carlon DB (2004) Effects of depth and microhabitat on growth and survivorship of juvenile corals in the Florida Keys, Marine Ecology Progress Series, 278, 115-124

Elmhirst T, Connolly SR, Hughes TP (2009) Connectivity, regime shifts and the resilience of coral reefs; Coral Reefs, 28, 949-957

Emslie MJ, Cheal AJ, Sweatman H, Delean S (2008) Recovery from disturbance of coral and reef fish communities on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 371, 177-190

Fabinyi, M (2016) Producing for Chinese luxury seafood value chains: Different outcomes for producers in the Philippines and North America; Marine Policy, 63, 184-190

FAOSTAT (2018) Indonesia FAO Statistics Division (ed Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations) Rome, Italy

FAOSTAT (2019) Jamaica FAO Statistics Division (ed Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations) Rome, Italy

Fischer J, Riechers M (2019) A leverage points perspective on sustainability; People and Nature, 1, 115-120

Fox HE, Pet JS, Dahuri R, Caldwell RL (2003) Recovery in rubble fields: long-term impacts of blast fishing; Marine Pollution Bulletin, 46, 1024-1031

Froese R, Pauly D (2018) FishBase (http://wwwfishbaseorg)

Froese R, Pauly D (2011) FishBase (http://wwwfishbaseorg)

Fulton CJ, Abesamis RA, Berkström C, Depczynski M, Graham NA, Holmes TH, Kulbicki M, Noble MM, Radford BT, Tano S, Tinkler P, Wernberg T, Wilson SK (2019) Form and function of tropical macroalgal reefs in the Anthropocene; Functional Ecology, 33, 989-999

Furesi R, Madau F, Pulina P, Sai R, Pinna M, Pais A (2016) Profitability and sustainability of edible sea urchin fishery in Sardinia (Italy); Journal of coastal conservation, 20, 299-306

Furman B, Heck KL (2009) Differential impacts of echinoid grazers on coral recruitment; Bulletin of Marine Science, 85, 121-132

Gilmour JP, Smith LD, Heyward AJ, Baird AH, Pratchett MS (2013) Recovery of an Isolated Coral Reef System Following Severe Disturbance; Science, 340, 69-71

Giovannucci D, Barham E, Pirog R (2010) Defining and marketing "local" foods: Geographical indications for US products; The Journal of World Intellectual Property, 13, 94-120

- Glynn PW, Wellington GM, Birkeland C (1979) Coral reef growth in the Galápagos: limitation by sea urchins; Science, 203, 47-49
- Goatley CH, Bellwood DR (2012) Sediment suppresses herbivory across a coral reef depth gradient; Biological Letters, 8, 1016-1018
- Goreau T, McClanahan TR, Hayes R, Strong A (2000) Conservation of coral reefs after the 1998 global bleaching event; Conservation Biology, 14, 5-15

Graham NAJ, Jennings S, MacNeil MA, Mouillot D, Wilson SK (2015) Predicting climate-driven regime shifts versus rebound potential in coral reefs; Nature, 518, 94-97

- Graham NAJ, Cinner JE, Norström AV, Nyström M (2014) Coral reefs as novel ecosystems: embracing new futures; Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 7, 9-14
- Graham NAJ, McClanahan TR, MacNeil MA, Wilson SK, Cinner JE, Huchery C, Holmes TH (2017) Human Disruption of Coral Reef Trophic Structure; Current Biology, 27, 231-236
- Graham NAJ, Nash KL (2013) The importance of structural complexity in coral reef ecosystems; Coral Reefs, 32, 315-326
- Graham NAJ, Nash KL, Kool JT (2011) Coral reef recovery dynamics in a changing world; Coral Reefs, 30, 283-294
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006) Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103, 8425-8429
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson JAN, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag Effects in the Impacts of Mass Coral Bleaching on Coral Reef Fish, Fisheries, and Ecosystems; Conservation Biology, 21, 1291-1300
- Graham NAJ, Bellwood DR, Cinner JE, Hughes TP, Norström AV, Nyström M (2013) Managing resilience to reverse phase shifts in coral reefs; Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11, 541-548
- Hamann M, Biggs R, Reyers B (2015) Mapping social–ecological systems: Identifying 'green-loop' and 'red-loop' dynamics based on characteristic bundles of ecosystem service use; Global Environmental Change, 34, 218-226
- Hansen UE, Nygaard I, Romijn H, Wieczorek A, Kamp LM, Klerkx L (2018) Sustainability transitions in developing countries: Stocktaking, new contributions and a research agenda; Environmental Science & Policy, 84, 198-203
- Harborne AR, Nagelkerken I, Wolff NH, Bozec Y-M, Dorenbosch M, Grol MGG, Mumby PJ (2016) Direct and indirect effects of nursery habitats on coral-reef fish assemblages, grazing pressure and benthic dynamics; Oikos, 125, 957-967
- Hardt MJ (2009) Lessons from the past: the collapse of Jamaican coral reefs; Fish and Fisheries, 10, 143-158
- Harris A, Wilson S, Graham N, Sheppard C (2014) Scleractinian coral communities of the inner Seychelles 10 years after the 1998 mortality event; Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 24, 667-679
- Hereu B, Zabala M, Linares C, Sala E (2004) The effects of predator abundance and habitat structural complexity on survival of juvenile sea urchins; Marine Biology, 146, 293-299
- Hicks CC, Cohen PJ, Graham NAJ, Nash KL, Allison EH, D'Lima C, Mills DJ, Roscher M, Thilsted SH, Thorne-Lyman AL (2019) Harnessing global fisheries to tackle micronutrient deficiencies; Nature, 574, 95-98
- Hicks CC, Crowder LB, Graham NAJ, Kittinger JN, Cornu EL (2016) Social drivers forewarn of marine regime shifts; Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 14, 252-260
- Hoey AS, Bellwood DR (2011) Suppression of herbivory by macroalgal density: a critical feedback on coral reefs?; Ecology Letters, 14, 267-273
- Hoole A, Berkes F (2010) Breaking down fences: Recoupling social–ecological systems for biodiversity conservation in Namibia; Geoforum, 41, 304-317
- Hughes TP (1994) Catastrophes, phase shifts and large-scale degradation of a Caribbean coral reef; Science, 265, 1547-1551
- Hughes TP, Anderson KD, Connolly SR, Heron SF, Kerry JT, Lough JM, Baird AH, Baum JK, Berumen ML, Bridge TC, Claar DC, Eakin CM, Gilmour JP, Graham NAJ, Harrison H, Hobbs J-PA, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom M, Lowe RJ, McCulloch MT, Pandolfi JM, Pratchett M, Schoepf V, Torda G, Wilson SK (2018) Spatial and temporal patterns of mass bleaching of corals in the Anthropocene; Science, 359, 80-83
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Dinsdale EA, Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Tanner JE, Willis BL (2000) Supply-side ecology works both ways: the link between benthic adults, fecundity and larval recruits; Ecology, 81, 2241-2249
- Hughes TP, Barnes ML, Bellwood DR, Cinner JE, Cumming GS, Jackson JBC, Kleypas J, van de Leemput IA, Lough JM, Morrison TH, Palumbi SR, van Nes EH, Scheffer M (2017a) Coral reefs in the Anthropocene; Nature, 546, 82-90
- Hughes TP, Graham NAJ, Jackson JBC, Mumby PJ, Steneck RS (2010) Rising to the challenge of sustaining coral reef resilience; Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 25, 633-642
- Hughes TP, Jackson JBC (1985) Population Dynamics and Life Histories of Foliaceous Corals; Ecological Monographs, 55, 141-166
- Hughes TP, Kerry JT, Alvarez-Noriega M, Alvarez-Romero JG, Anderson KD, Baird AH, Babcock RC, Beger M, Bellwood DR, Berkelmans R, Bridge TC, Butler IR, Byrne M, Cantin NE, Comeau S, Connolly SR, Cumming GS, Dalton SJ, Diaz-Pulido G, Eakin CM, Figueira WF, Gilmour JP, Harrison HB, Heron SF, Hoey AS, Hobbs JA, Hoogenboom MO, Kennedy EV, Kuo CY, Lough JM, Lowe RJ, Liu G, McCulloch MT, Malcolm HA, McWilliam MJ, Pandolfi JM, Pears RJ, Pratchett MS, Schoepf V, Simpson T, Skirving WJ, Sommer B, Torda G, Wachenfeld DR, Willis BL, Wilson SK (2017b) Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals; Nature, 543, 373-377
- Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCook L, Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Steneck RS, Willis B (2007) Phase Shifts, Herbivory, and the Resilience of Coral Reefs to Climate Change; Current Biology, 17, 360-365
- Hughes TP, Tanner JE (2000) Recruitment failure, life histories and long-term decline of Caribbean corals; Ecology, 81, 2250-2263
- Hughes TP, Anderson KD, Connolly SR, Heron SF, Kerry JT, Lough JM, Baird AH, Baum JK, Berumen ML, Bridge TC, Claar DC, Eakin CM, Gilmour JP, Graham NAJ, Harrison H, Hobbs J-PA, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom M, Lowe RJ, McCulloch MT, Pandolfi JM, Pratchett M, Schoepf V, Torda G, Wilson SK (2018) Spatial and temporal patterns of mass bleaching of corals in the Anthropocene; Science, 359, 80-83

Hwang RL, Tsai CC, Lee TM (2004) Assessment of temperature and nutrient limitation on seasonal dynamics among species of *Sargassum* from a coral reef in southern Taiwan; Journal of Phycology, 40, 463-473

Jackson JBC (2001) Historical Overfishing and the Recent Collapse of Coastal Ecosystems; Science, 293, 629-637

Jennings S, Grandcourt EM, Polunin NVC (1995) The effects of fishing on the diversity, biomass and trophic structure of Seychelles' reef fish communities; Coral Reefs, 14, 225-235

Johansson C, Bellwood DR, Depczynski M (2010) Sea urchins, macroalgae and coral reef decline: a functional evaluation of an intact reef system, Ningaloo, Western Australia; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 414, 65-74

Johns KA, Emslie MJ, Hoey AS, Osborne K, Jonker MJ, Cheal AJ (2018) Macroalgal feedbacks and substrate properties maintain a coral reef regime shift; Ecosphere, 9, 1-15

Jompa J, McCook LJ (2003) Coral–algal competition: macroalgae with different properties have different effects on corals; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 258, 87-95

Jones G, Andrew N (1990) Herbivory and patch dynamics on rocky reefs in temperate Australasia: the roles of fish and sea urchins; Australian Journal of Ecology, 15, 505-520

Jones EV, Gray TS, Umponstira C (2010) Small-scale fishing: perceptions and threats to conserving a livelihood in the province of Phang-Nga, Thailand; Environment Asia, 3, 1-7

Jonker MJ, Thompson AA, Menéndez P, Osborne K (2019) Cross-shelf variation among juvenile and adult coral assemblages on Australia's Great Barrier Reef; Diversity, 11:85

Kalugina-Gutnik A, Perestenko L, Titlyanova T (1992) Species composition, distribution and abundance of algae and seagrasses of the Seychelles Islands; Atoll Research Bulletin, 369, 1-67

Kerry JT, Bellwood DR (2015) Competition for shelter in a high-diversity system: structure use by large reef fishes; Coral Reefs, 35, 245-252

Khamala C (1971) Ecology of *Echinometra mathaei* (Echinoidea: Echinodermata) at Diani Beach, Kenya; Marine Biology, 11, 167-172

Kohler KE, Gill SM (2006) Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe): A Visual Basic program for the determination of coral and substrate coverage using random point count methodology; Computers & Geosciences, 32, 1259-1269

Konar B, Estes JA (2003) The stability of boundary regions between kelp beds and deforested areas; Ecology, 84, 174-185 Kroh A (2013) *Echinothrix calamaris* World Echinoidea Database (eds A Kroh & R Mooi)

Lapointe BE, Thacker K, Hanson C, Getten L (2011) Sewage pollution in Negril, Jamaica: effects on nutrition and ecology of coral reef macroalgae; Chinese Journal of Oceanology and Limnology, 29, 775-789

Ledlie MH, Graham NAJ, Bythell JC, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Hardcastle J (2007) Phase shifts and the role of herbivory in the resilience of coral reefs; Coral Reefs, 26, 641-653

Lee SC (2006) Habitat complexity and consumer-mediated positive feedbacks on a Caribbean coral reef; Oikos 112:442-447

Lenth R, Singmann H, Love J, Buerkner P, Herve M (2019) Estimated Marginal Means, aka Least-Squares Means R-package version 132

Letourneur Y, Kulbicki M, Labrosse P (1998) Length-weight relationship of fishes from coral reefs and lagoons of New Caledonia: an update; Naga, 21, 39-46

Levin SA (1999) Fragile dominion: complexity and the commons; Perseus Books, Michigan, USA

Levitan DR (1988) Density-dependent size regulation and negative growth in the sea urchin *Diadema antillarum* Philippi; Oecologia, 76, 627-629

Lingard S, Harper S, Aiken C, Hado N, Smikle S, Zeller D (2012) Marine fisheries of Jamaica: total reconstructed catch 1950-2010; Fisheries catch reconstructions: Islands, Part III, 47-59, University of British Columbia

Lirman D (2001) Competition between macroalgae and corals: effects of herbivore exclusion and increased algal biomass on coral survivorship and growth; Coral Reefs, 19, 392-399

Lirman D, Biber P (2005) Seasonal Dynamics of Macroalgal Communities of the Northern Florida Reef Tract; Botanica Marina, 43, 305-314

Littler MM, Littler DS (1984) Models of tropical reef biogenesis: the contribution of algae In: Round FE, Chapman DJ (eds) Progress in phycological research Biopress, Bristol, 323-364

Littler MM, Littler DS, Lapointe BE (1988) A comparison of nutrient-and light-limited photosynthesis in psammophytic versus epilithic forms of *Halimeda* (Caulerpales, Halimedaceae) from the Bahamas; Coral Reefs, 6, 219-225

Littler MM, Littler DS (1988) Structure and role of algae in tropical reef communities In: Algae and human affairs/edited by Carole A Lembi, J Robert Waaland; sponsored by the Phycological Society of America, Inc.

Littler MM, Littler DS (1992) Photosynthesis vs irradiance curves for six species of macroalgae from the Seychelles Islands under four levels of nutrient enrichment; Atoll Research Bulletin, 374, 1-14

Loffler Z, Graba-Landry A, Kidgell JT, McClure EC, Pratchett MS, Hoey AS (2018) Holdfasts of *Sargassum* swartzii are resistant to herbivory and resilient to damage; Coral Reefs, 37, 1075-1084

Loffler Z, Hoey AS (2018) Canopy-forming macroalgal beds (*Sargassum*) on coral reefs are resilient to physical disturbance; Journal of Ecology, 106, 1156-1164

Lokrantz J, Nyström M, Thyresson M, Johansson C (2008) The non-linear relationship between body size and function in parrotfishes; Coral Reefs, 27, 967-974

Loureiro ML, Hine S (2002) Discovering niche markets: A comparison of consumer willingness to pay for local (Colorado grown), organic, and GMO-free products; Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics, 34, 477-487

Maciá S, Robinson MP, Nalevanko A (2007) Experimental dispersal of recovering *Diadema antillarum* increases grazing intensity and reduces macroalgal abundance on a coral reef; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 348, 173-182

Mangubhai S, Harrison PL, Obura DO (2007) Patterns of coral larval settlement on lagoon reefs in the Mombasa Marine National Park and Reserve, Kenya; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 348, 149-159

Martens P, Raza M (2010) Is globalisation sustainable?; Sustainability, 2, 280-293

McClanahan T (1999) Predation and the control of the sea urchin *Echinometra viridisand* fleshy algae in the patch reefs of Glovers Reef, Belize; Ecosystems, 2, 511-523

McClanahan TR (1992) Resource utilization, competition, and predation: a model and example from coral reef grazers; Ecological Modelling, 61, 195-215

McClanahan TR (1995) A coral reef ecosystem-fisheries model: impacts of fishing intensity and catch selection on reef structure and processes; Ecological Modelling, 80, 1-19

McClanahan TR, Graham NAJ, Darling ES (2014) Coral reefs in a crystal ball: predicting the future from the vulnerability of corals and reef fishes to multiple stressors; Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 7, 59-64

McClanahan TR, Shafir SH (1990) Causes and consequences of sea urchin abundance and diversity in Kenyan coral reef lagoons; Oecologia, 83, 362-370

McClanahan TR, Uku JN, Machano H (2002) Effect of macroalgal reduction on coral-reef fish in the Watamu Marine National Park, Kenya; Marine and Freshwater Research, 53, 223-231

McClanahan TR, Kurtis JD (1991) Population regulation of the rock-boring sea urchin *Echinometra mathaei* (de Blainville); Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 147, 121-146

McClanahan TR, McField M, Huitric M, Bergman K, Sala E, Nyström M, Nordemar I, Elfwing T, Muthiga NA (2001) Responses of algae, corals and fish to the reduction of macroalgae in fished and unfished patch reefs of Glovers Reef Atoll, Belize; Coral Reefs, 19, 367-379

McCook LJ (1999) Macroalgae, nutrients and phase shifts on coral reefs: scientific issues and management consequences for the Great Barrier Reef; Coral Reefs, 18, 357-367

McCook LJ, Jompa J, Diaz-Pulido G (2001) Competition between corals and algae on coral reefs: a review of evidence and mechanisms; Coral Reefs, 19, 400-417

McCourt RM (1984) Seasonal patterns of abundance, distributions, and phenology in relation to growth strategies of three Sargassum species; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 74, 141-156

McCourt, RM (1985) Reproductive biomass allocation in three Sargassum species; Oecologia, 67, 113-117

Meadows DH (1999) Leverage points: Places to intervene in a system

Meyfroidt P (2013) Environmental cognitions, land change, and social–ecological feedbacks: An overview; Journal of Land Use Science, 8, 341-367

Meyfroidt P, Lambin EF (2009) Forest transition in Vietnam and displacement of deforestation abroad; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 106, 16139-16144

Milligan KLD, DeWreede RE (2000) Variations in holdfast attachment mechanics with developmental stage, substratumtype, season, and wave-exposure for the intertidal kelp species *Hedophyllum sessile* (C Agardh) Setchell; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 254, 189-209

Moberg F, Folke C (1999) Ecological goods and services of coral reef ecosystems; Ecological Economics, 29, 215–233

Morrison L, Feely M, Stengel DB, Blamey N, Dockery P, Sherlock A, Timmins E (2009) Seaweed attachment to bedrock: biophysical evidence for a new geophycology paradigm; Geobiology, 7, 477-487

Morrison D (1988) Comparing Fish and Urchin Grazing in Shallow and Deeper Coral Reef Algal Communities; Ecology, 69, 1367-1382

Mumby P, Steneck R (2008) Coral reef management and conservation in light of rapidly evolving ecological paradigms; Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 23, 555-563

Mumby PJ (2009) Phase shifts and the stability of macroalgal communities on Caribbean coral reefs; Coral Reefs, 28, 761-773

Mumby PJ, Bejarano S, Golbuu Y, Steneck RS, Arnold SN, van Woesik R, Friedlander AM (2013) Empirical relationships among resilience indicators on Micronesian reefs; Coral Reefs, 32, 213-226

Mumby PJ, Hastings A, Edwards HJ (2007) Thresholds and the resilience of Caribbean coral reefs; Nature, 450, 98-101

Munro J, Reeson P, Gaut V (1971) Dynamic factors affecting the performance of the Antillean fish trap; Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute, 23, 184-194

Myhre S, Acevedo-Gutiérrez A (2007) Recovery of sea urchin *Diadema antillarum* populations is correlated to increased coral and reduced macroalgal cover; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 329, 205-210

Nagelkerken I, Sheaves M, Baker R, Connolly RM (2015) The seascape nursery: a novel spatial approach to identify and manage nurseries for coastal marine fauna; Fish & Fisheries, 16, 362-371

Norström AV, Lokrantz J, Nyström M, Yap HT (2006) Influence of dead coral substrate morphology on patterns of juvenile coral distribution; Marine Biology, 150, 1145-1152

Norström AV, Nyström M, Jouffray J-B, Folke C, Graham NAJ, Moberg F, Olsson P, Williams GJ (2016) Guiding coral reef futures in the Anthropocene; Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 14, 490-498

Norström AV, Nyström M, Lokrantz J, Folke C (2009) Alternative states on coral reefs: beyond coral-macroalgal phase shifts; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 376, 295-306

Nugues MM, Smith GW, Hooidonk, RJ, Seabra MI, Bak RPM (2004) Algal contact as a trigger for coral disease; Ecology Letters, 7, 919-923

Nyström M, Jouffray J-B, Norström AV, Crona B, Jørgensen PS, Carpenter S, Bodin Ö, Galaz V, Folke C (2019) Anatomy and resilience of the global production ecosystem; Nature, 575, 98-108

Nyström M, Norström AV, Blenckner T, de la Torre-Castro M, Eklöf JS, Folke C, Österblom H, Steneck RS, Thyresson M, Troell M (2012) Confronting feedbacks of degraded marine ecosystems; Ecosystems, 15, 695-710

Odgen JC, Lobel PS (1978) The role of herbivorous fishes and urchins in coral reef communities; Environmental Biology of Fishes, 3, 49-63

Olds AD, Nagelkerken I, Huijbers CM, Gilby BL, Pittman SJ, Schlacher TA (2018) Connectivity in coastal seascapes In: Pittman SJ (ed) Seascape Ecology John Wiley & Sons, Oxford, 261-292

Onozaka Y, McFadden DT (2011) Does local labeling complement or compete with other sustainable labels? A conjoint analysis of direct and joint values for fresh produce claim; American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 93, 693-706
- Oswald, E (1963) Developing an offshore fishery in Jamaica; Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute, 15, 134-139
- Pandolfi JM, Bradbury RH, Sala E, Hughes TP, Bjorndal KA, Cooke RG, McArdle D, Clenachan L, Newman MJH, Paredes G, Warner RR, Jackson JBC (2003) Global Trajectories of the Long-Term Decline of Coral Reef Ecosystems; Science, 301, 955-958
- Parvez MS, Rahman MA, Yusoff FM (2016) Sea urchin fisheries in Malaysia: status, potentials and benefits Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Chemical Engineering and Biological Sciences (ICCBS-16), International Scientific Academy of Engineering and Technology, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 14-16
- Patterson TM, Coelho DL (2008) Missing Feedback in Payments for Ecosystem Services In: Creating sustainability within our midst: challenges for the 21st century; Pace University Press, 61-72
- Pauly D, Palomares M-L (2005) Fishing down marine food web: it is far more pervasive than we thought; Bulletin of Marine Science, 76, 197-212
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D and R Core Team (2018) nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models R package version 31-137
- Polunin NVC, Roberts CM (1993) Greater biomass and value of target coral-reef fishes in two small Caribbean marine reserves; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 100, 167-176
- Poray AK, Carpenter RC (2013) Distributions of coral reef macroalgae in a back reef habitat in Moorea, French Polynesia; Coral Reefs, 33, 67-76
- Rasher DB, Hay ME (2010) Chemically rich seaweeds poison corals when not controlled by herbivores; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 107, 9683-9688
- Rasher DB, Stout EP, Engel S, Kubanek J, Hay ME (2011) Macroalgal terpenes function as allelopathic agents against reef corals; Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108, 177726-177731
- R-Core-Team (2018) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria
- R-Core-Team (2019) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria
- Risk MJ (2014) Assessing the effects of sediments and nutrients on coral reefs; Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 7, 108-117
- Ritson-Williams R, Paul VJ, Arnold SN, Steneck RS (2010) Larval settlement preferences and post-settlement survival of the threatened Caribbean corals *Acropora palmata* and *A cervicornis*; Coral Reefs, 29, 71-81
- Rizal A, Herawati H, Zidni I, Apriliani IM, Ismail MR (2018) The role of marine sector optimization strategy in the stabilisation of Indonesian economy; World Scientific News, 102, 146-157
- Robinson JPW, Wilson S, Robinson J, Gerry C, Govinden R, Lucas J, Assan C, Jennings S, Graham NAJ (2019) Productive instability of coral reef fisheries after climate-driven regime shifts; Nature Ecology & Evolution, 3, 183-190.
- Robinson JPW, Graham NAJ (2020) Tropical fisheries: does limiting international trade protect local people and marine life? The Conversation Trust (UK) Limited
- Robinson JPW, Robinson J, Gerry C, Govinden R, Freshwater C, Graham NAJ (2020) Diversification insulates fisher catch and revenue in heavily exploited tropical fisheries; Science Advances, 6, eaaz0587
- Roff G, Doropoulos C, Zupan M, Rogers A, Steneck RS, Golbuu Y, Mumby PJ (2015) Phase shift facilitation following cyclone disturbance on coral reefs; Oecologia, 178, 1193-1203
- Rogers A, Blanchard JL, Mumby PJ (2014) Vulnerability of coral reef fisheries to a loss of structural complexity; Current Biology, 24, 1000-1005
- Rogers CS (1979) The effect of shading on coral reef structure and function; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 41, 269-288
- Roth MS, Knowlton N (2009) Distribution, abundance, and microhabitat characterization of small juvenile corals at Palmyra Atoll; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 376, 133-142
- Sato KN, Powell J, Rudie D, Levin LA (2017) Evaluating the promise and pitfalls of a potential climate change-tolerant sea urchin fishery in southern California; ICES Journal of Marine Science, 75, 1029-1041
- Scheffer M, Carpenter S, Foley JA, Folke C, Walker B (2001) Catastrophic shifts in ecosystems; Nature, 413; 591-596
- Scheffer M, Carpenter SR (2003) Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation; Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 18, 648-656
- Schielzeth H (2010) Simple means to improve the interpretability of regression coefficients; Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 1, 103-113
- Schönberg CHL, Fang JKH, Carreiro-Silva M, Tribollet A, Wisshak M (2017) Bioerosion: the other ocean acidification problem; ICES Journal of Marine Science, 74, 895-925
- Sheppard CRC, Spalding MD, Bradshaw C, Wilson S (2002) Erosion vs Recovery of Coral Reefs after 1998 El Niño: Chagos Reefs, Indian Ocean; Ambio, 31, 40-48
- Shiu C-T, Lee T-M (2005) Ultraviolet-B-induced oxidative stress and responses of the ascorbate–glutathione cycle in a marine macroalga *Ulva fasciata*; Journal of Experimental Botany, 56, 2851-2865
- Smith JE, Shaw M, Edwards RA, Obura D, Pantos O, Sala E, Sandin SA, Smriga S, Hatay M, Rohwer FL (2006) Indirect effects of algae on coral: algae-mediated, microbe-induced coral mortality; Ecology Letters, 9, 835-845
- Solandt JL, Campbell AC (2001) Macroalgal feeding characteristics of the sea urchin *Diadema antillarum* Philippi at Discovery Bay, Jamaica; Caribbean Journal of Science, 37, 227-238
- Steneck RS (2009) Marine Conservation: Moving Beyond Malthus; Current Biology, 19, 117-119
- Steneck RS, Mumby PJ, MacDonald C, Rasher DB, Stoyle G (2018) Attenuating effects of ecosystem management on coral reefs; Science Advances, eaaO5493
- Sternberg LDSL (2001) Savanna-forest hysteresis in the tropics; Global Ecology and Biogeography, 10, 369-378

- Stimson J, Conklin E (2008) Potential reversal of a phase shift: the rapid decrease in the cover of the invasive green macroalga *Dictyosphaeria cavernosa* Forsskål on coral reefs in Kāne'ohe Bay, Oahu, Hawai'I; Coral Reefs, 27, 717-726
- Stimson J, Cunha T, Philippoff J (2007) Food preferences and related behavior of the browsing sea urchin *Tripneustes* gratilla (Linnaeus) and its potential for use as a biological control agent; Marine Biology, 151, 1761-1772

Streelman JT, Alfaro M, Westneat MW, Bellwood DR, Karl SA (2002) Evolutionary history of the parrotfishes: biogeography, comorphology, and comparative diversity; Evolution, 56, 961-971

- Sumi CBT, Scheibling RE (2005) Role of grazing by sea urchins *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis* in regulating the invasive alga *Codium fragile* ssp *tomentosoides* in Nova Scotia; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 292, 203-212
- Tanner JE (1995) Competition between scleractinian macroalgae: An experimental corals and investigation of coral growth, survival and reproduction; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 190, 151-168
- Taylor SH, Long SP (2017) Slow induction of photosynthesis on shade to sun transitions in wheat may cost at least 21% of productivity; Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 372, 20160543.
- Tebbett SB, Goatley CHR, Bellwood DR (2016) Fine sediments suppress detritivory on coral reefs; Marine Pollution Bulletin, 114, 934-940
- Tegner M, Dayton P, Edwards P, Riser K (1995) Sea urchin cavitation of giant kelp (*Macrocystis pyrifera* C Agardh) holdfasts and its effects on kelp mortality across a large California forest; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 191, 83-99
- Teichberg M, Fricke A, Bischof K (2013) Increased physiological performance of the calcifying green macroalga *Halimeda* opuntia in response to experimental nutrient enrichment on a Caribbean coral reef; Aquatic Botany, 104, 25-33
- Thacker R, Ginsburg D, Paul V (2001) Effects of herbivore exclusion and nutrient enrichment on coral reef macroalgae and cyanobacteria; Coral Reefs, 19, 318-329
- Thompson EF (1945) The Fisheries of Jamaica: Report (No. 18); Development and Welfare in the West Indies
- Thomsen MS (2004) Species, thallus size and substrate determine macroalgal break force and break location in a low-energy soft-bottom lagoon; Aquatic Botany, 80, 153-161
- United Nations Development Program (2018) Jamaica Development Program (ed Human Development Report Office) United Nations, New York, NY
- van Alstyne KL, Pelletreau KN, Kirby A (2009) Nutritional preferences override chemical defenses in determining food choice by a generalist herbivore, *Littorina sitkana*; Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 379, 85-91
- van de Leemput IA, Hughes TP, van Nes EH, Scheffer M (2016) Multiple feedbacks and the prevalence of alternate stable states on coral reefs; Coral Reefs, 35, 1-9
- van der Ploeg F (2014) Abrupt positive feedback and the social cost of carbon; European Economic Review, 67, 28-41
- van Lier JR, Wilson SK, Depczynski M, Wenger LN, Fulton CJ (2018) Habitat connectivity and complexity underpin fish community structure across a seascape of tropical macroalgae meadows; Landscape Ecology, 33, 1287-1300
- van Mulekom L, Axelsson A, Batungbacal EP, Baxter D, Siregar R, de la Torre I (2006) Trade and export orientation of fisheries in Southeast Asia: Under-priced export at the expense of domestic food security and local economies; Ocean & Coastal Management, 49, 546-561
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern Applied Statistics with S Fourth Edition Springer, New York
- Vergés A, Perez M, Alcoverro T, Romero J (2008) Compensation and resistance to herbivory in seagrasses: induced responses to simulated consumption by fish; Oecologia, 155, 751-760
- Vergés A, Vanderklift MA, Doropoulos C, Hyndes GA (2011) Spatial Patterns in Herbivory on a Coral Reef Are Influenced by Structural Complexity but Not by Algal Traits; PLoS ONE 6:e17115
- Vermeij MJA, Dailer ML, Smith CM (2011) Crustose coralline algae can suppress macroalgal growth and recruitment on Hawaiian coral reefs; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 422, 1-7
- Vuki VC, Price IR (1994) Seasonal changes in the *Sargassum* populations on a fringing coral reef, Magnetic Island, Great Barrier Reef region, Australia; Aquatic Botany, 48, 153-166
- Weil E, Torres JL, Ashton M (2005) Population characteristics of the sea urchin *Diadema antillarum* in La Parguera, Puerto Rico, 17 years after the mass mortality event; Revista de biología tropical, 53, 219-231
- Wilkinson C (2008) Status of coral reefs of the world: 2008 Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network, Townsville, Australia Williams ID, Polunin NVC, Hendrick VJ (2001) Limits to grazing by herbivorous fishes and the impact of low coral cover on
- macroalgal abundance on a coral reef in Belize; Marine Ecology Progress Series, 222, 187-196
- Williams GJ, Graham NA (2019) Rethinking coral reef functional futures; Functional Ecology, 33, 942-947
- Wilson SK, Dolman AM, Cheal AJ, Emslie MJ, Pratchett MS, Sweatman HPA (2008) Maintenance of fish diversity on disturbed coral reefs; Coral Reefs, 28, 3-14
- Wilson SK, Graham NA, Polunin NVC (2007) Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs; Marine Biology, 151, 1069-1076
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Fisher R, Robinson J, Nash K, Chong-Seng K, Polunin NVC, Aumeeruddy R, Quatre R (2012) Effect of Macroalgal Expansion and Marine Protected Areas on Coral Recovery Following a Climatic Disturbance; Conservation Biology, 26, 995-1004
- Wilson SK, Robinson JP, Chong-Seng K, Robinson J, Graham NA (2019) Boom and bust of keystone structure on coral reefs; Coral Reefs, 38, 625–635
- Woodhead AJ, Hicks CC, Norström AV, Williams GJ, Graham NAJ (2019) Coral reef ecosystem services in the Anthropocene; Functional Ecology, 33, 1023-1034
- World Bank (2019) Jamaica Financial Sector Assessment Program World Bank; International Monetary Fund, Washington, DC
- Yadav S, Rathod P, Alcoverro T, Arthur RJCR (2016) "Choice" and destiny: the substrate composition and mechanical stability of settlement structures can mediate coral recruit fate in post-bleached reefs; Coral Reefs, 35, 211-222

- Young M, Bellwood DR (2011) Diel patterns in sea urchin activity and predation on sea urchins on the Great Barrier Reef; Coral Reefs, 30, 729-745
- Zeileis A, Kleiber C, Jackman S (2008) Regression Models for Count Data in R Journal of Statistical Software 27(8), R package version 152
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Walker N, Saveliev A, Smith G (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R Gail M, Krickeberg K, Samet JM, Tsiatis A, Wong W, editors New York, NY: Spring Science and Business Media
- Zuur AF, Saveliev AA, Ieno EN (2012) Zero Inflated Models and Generalized Linear Mixed Models with R; Highland Statistics Ltd, Newburgh, UK
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Elphick CS (2010) A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems; Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 1, 3-14
- Zvyagintsev AY, Ivin V (1992) Fouling communities of the Seychelles Islands; Atoll Research Bulletin, 370, 1-18

APPENDIX A: SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Supplementary table 1.1: Tukey HSD results for significant differences between individual years

Tukey multiple comparisons of means, 95% family-wise confidence level				
Comparison	Estimate	Standard error	Z-ratio	p-value
2008-2011 all corals	-00918527	01007356	-0912	06328
2008-2017 all corals*	14078811	01531937	919	<0001
2011-2017 all corals*	14997339	01501209	999	<0001
2008-2011 Acropora	-00805806	02640742	-0305	095
2008-2017 Acropora*	28013390	07331233	3821	00004
2011-2017 Acropora*	28819196	07295555	395	00002
2008-2011 Favites	-00231273	03301440	-007	09973
2008-2017 Favites	07546504	03301440	2286	00719
2011-2017 Favites	07777778	03236202	2403	00559
2008-2011 Porites	01135194	02156242	0526	08584
2008-2017 Porites*	16897016	03502626	4824	<0001
2011-2017 Porites*	15761822	03518651	4480	<0001



Figure S2.1 HOBO pendant logger readings of light intensity (in lux) below the small and large shade sails as well as control plots during first week of shading from 11:00-16:00 h



Figure S3.1 Map of Seychelles showing 21 study sites categorised into previous categorisations regime shifted to macroalgal dominance (red) and recovering (blue) from the 1998 bleaching event, adapted from Graham et al. (2015).

Supplementary table 3.1: Tukey HSD	results for significant	differences betwee	een individual	experiment weeks
and urchin stocking densities				

Tukey multiple comparisons of means, 95% family-wise confidence level				
Comparison	Estimate	Standard error	Z-ratio	p-value
10 urchins week 1 - 10 urchins week 3	10812	0352	3074	00543
10 urchins week 1 - 10 urchins week 6	14802	0345	4293	00006
4 urchins week 1 - 4 urchins week 3	-04028	0315	-1277	09382
4 urchins week 1 - 4 urchins week 6	01710	0299	0572	09997
Control week 1 - control week 3	-04223	0402	-1050	09808
Control week 1 - control week 6	-02414	0395	-0611	09996



APPENDIX B: PUBLICATIONS ARISING FROM THESIS

Dajka, J.-C., Wilson, S. K., Robinson, J. P. W., Chong-Seng, K. M., Harris, A. & Graham, N. A. J. (2019) Uncovering drivers of juvenile coral density following mass bleaching. Coral Reefs 38:637–649, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-019-01785-w

Dajka, J.-C., Woodhead, A. J., Riechers, M., Graham, N. A. J., Norström, A. V., Nyström, M. (2020) Red and green loops help uncover missing feedbacks in a coral reef social-ecological system, People and Nature, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pan3.10092</u> REPORT

Uncovering drivers of juvenile coral density following mass bleaching

Jan-Claas Dajka¹^(D) · Shaun K. Wilson^{2,3} · James P. W. Robinson¹ · Karen M. Chong-Seng⁴ · Alasdair Harris⁵ · Nicholas A. J. Graham¹

Received: 25 October 2018/Accepted: 27 February 2019/Published online: 6 March 2019 © The Author(s) 2019

Abstract Thermally induced mass coral bleaching is globally responsible for major losses of coral cover. Coral recovery from mass coral disturbances like the 2016 bleaching event hinges on successful recruitment of new coral colonies to the existing population. Juvenile corals as a life history stage represent survival and growth of new recruits. As such, habitat preferences of juvenile corals and how environmental parameters interact to drive coral recovery following a mass bleaching disturbance are important research areas. To expand our knowledge on this topic, we compared juvenile coral densities from before the 2016 bleaching event with those after the disturbance and identified abiotic and biotic characteristics of 21 reefs in the inner Seychelles that predict juvenile coral densities. Our results show that following the 2016 bleaching event, juvenile coral densities were significantly reduced by about

Topic Editor Morgan S. Pratchett

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-019-01785-w) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Jan-Claas Dajka j.dajka@lancaster.ac.uk

- ¹ Lancaster Environment Centre, Lancaster University, Lancaster LA1 4YQ, UK
- ² Marine Science Program, Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions, Kensington, WA 6151, Australia
- ³ Oceans Institute, University of Western Australia, Crawley, WA 6009, Australia
- ⁴ ARC Centre of Excellence for Coral Reef Studies, James Cook University, Townsville, QLD 4811, Australia
- ⁵ Blue Ventures Conservation, London N7 9DP, UK

70%, with a particularly large decline in juvenile *Acropora*. Macroalgae present a large obstacle to survival of juvenile corals in a post-bleaching setting, but their influence varies as a function of herbivore biomass, reef structure, and reef type. Higher biomass of herbivorous fish weakens the negative effect of macroalgae on juvenile corals, and structural complexity on granitic reefs is a strong positive predictor of juvenile coral density. However, structural complexity on carbonate or patch reefs was negatively related to juvenile coral density, highlighting the importance of considering interactive terms in analyses. Our study emphasises the importance of habitat for juvenile coral abundance at both fine and seascape scales, adding to the literature on drivers of reef rebound potential following severe coral bleaching.

Keywords Coral reef recovery · Recruitment · Coral bleaching · Coral reef ecology · Macroalgae · Seychelles

Introduction

Mass coral bleaching events resulting from ocean warming have led to significant losses of coral cover across many of the world's reefs (Goreau et al. 2000; Hughes et al. 2017). Coral reefs have the ability to rebound from extensive coral bleaching, but it can take more than a decade for coral cover to reach pre-bleaching levels (Gilmour et al. 2013; Graham et al. 2015). Coral reef recovery depends on the reassembly of the habitat-forming hard coral (scleractinian) community (Connell et al. 1997), driven in part by coral recruitment—the replenishment of the local population by new individuals from within or outside an existing population (Hughes et al. 2010).



Successful coral recruitment is dependent on several important factors that can result in significant demographic bottlenecks. Firstly, recruitment depends on sufficient supply of coral larvae, requiring inputs of external larvae on well-connected reefs (Hughes and Tanner 2000; Elmhirst et al. 2009) or self-recruitment on geographically isolated reefs (Gilmour et al. 2013). Secondly, availability of suitable benthic space for coral settlement is important (Connell et al. 1997; Diaz-Pulido et al. 2010). Some benthic algae (e.g. turf algae or mature fleshy macroalgae) inhibit larval settlement of corals when the algal beds become too dense (Johns et al. 2018), while other surfaces, such as some crustose coralline algae (CCA), can be preferred settlement sites by coral larvae (Yadav et al. 2016). Thirdly, post-settlement mortality of juvenile corals (0.5–5 cm; Roth and Knowlton 2009) is high (Hughes et al. 2007). Two major drivers of early post-settlement mortality are competition with other benthic organisms, such as macroalgae (Rasher et al. 2011; Johns et al. 2018), and predation, for instance by corallivores and incidental predation by some herbivores (Cole et al. 2008; Doropoulos et al. 2012). Unstable substrates such as rubble have also been suggested to cause major coral recruit die-offs (Fox et al. 2003; Chong-Seng et al. 2014). Mortality rates gradually reduce with coral growth, and most corals escape mortality once they have reached sizes above 5 cm (Doropoulos et al. 2015), allowing the corals to grow to reproductive sizes and contribute to the adult population (Hughes et al. 2010; Gilmour et al. 2013).

Coral reefs can recover from extensive coral mortality, provided key factors such as fishing, water quality, and anthropogenic climate change are kept within safe operating spaces (Norström et al. 2016). However, the likelihood of experiencing mass coral bleaching events in the coming decades is increasing (Hughes et al. 2018). A longterm study by Graham et al. (2015) in the inner Seychelles determined the density of juvenile corals as one of the five parameters that can positively predict the rebound potential of mass bleaching-disturbed coral reefs. Initial post-disturbance recovery rates are usually slow, and global average increases in per cent coral cover following mass bleaching are only 3% (Graham et al. 2011). However, recovery rates can speed up exponentially once juvenile corals have grown into reproducing colonies (Gilmour et al. 2013) to create an efficient positive feedback loop that can result in rapid rates of coral cover expansion (Nyström et al. 2012).

Studies spanning multiple decades demonstrate that corals are affected by abiotic factors such as light, depth, and substratum orientation (Babcock and Mundy 1996; Roth and Knowlton 2009), seawater temperature (Edmunds 2004), or cryptic microhabitat orientation along a depth gradient (Edmunds et al. 2004) during early postsettlement. Some biotic surfaces facilitate juvenile coral growth and survival, such as some CCA species (Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011); Yadav et al. 2016), calcareous polychaete worm tubes, biofilms (Arnold et al. 2010), and other coral skeletons (Norström et al. 2006). Conversely, other biotic factors inhibit coral recruitment, for instance macroalgae (Box and Mumby 2007; Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011), turf algae, and other invertebrates (Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011). More recently, interacting biotic processes have been identified, such as between herbivory of turf algae (Arnold et al. 2010) and how herbivore exploitation reduced algal consumption and ultimately affected juvenile coral densities (Steneck et al. 2018).

Despite the extensive body of research, most of our knowledge on the early life history of settled corals does not stem from recently disturbed reefs. With the likelihood of thermally driven coral bleaching events increasing across the tropics (Hughes et al. 2018), an improved understanding of the drivers of post-bleaching coral recruitment will help to identify which processes promote or inhibit coral recovery. A recent study on juvenile coral densities on the Great Barrier Reef following the 2016 bleaching event considered abiotic predictors (temperature, rugosity, location around island, depth) as well as one biotic predictor (coral taxon; Álvarez-Noriega et al. 2018), but post-bleaching influences of other environmental factors, such as herbivory, CCA, or macroalgae, remain unclear. Thus, an important research gap exists regarding post-bleaching habitat and biotic predictors of juvenile coral density. Insight into which cross-scale abiotic and biotic drivers predict juvenile coral densities and how they interact shortly after large-scale coral bleaching events will improve our understanding of how early coral reef recovery dynamics vary spatially following extensive bleaching. Our study addresses this gap by investigating reefs of the inner Seychelles one year after the 2016 bleaching event. We explore temporal patterns of juvenile coral densities before and after the 2016 bleaching event and investigate how key habitat characteristics interact to limit or facilitate juvenile coral density.

Methods

The inner Seychelles (4°30'S, 55°30'E) are mostly granitic islands with well-developed carbonate fringing reefs. In recent history, the inner Seychelles' coral reefs have been affected by two major bleaching events caused by thermal anomalies (in 1998: ~ 90% loss, Goreau et al. 2000; and in 2016: ~ 70% loss, Wilson et al., in review). We surveyed 21 sites within the inner Seychelles in April 2017, 18 of which had been previously surveyed in 2008 and 2011.

At each of the 21 sites, we recorded the abundances of diurnally active, non-cryptic, reef-associated fish species along with estimates of their individual total lengths at 8 replicate point counts (7 m radius) along the reef slope. We excluded any individual fish entering the cylindrical area once sampling had commenced from abundance estimates. To ensure accurate length estimates of fish, the surveying diver estimated the lengths of sized PVC pipes until accuracy was consistently within 4% of actual lengths every day (Graham et al. 2007). After the survey, we converted estimated fish lengths from surveys into biomass using published length-weight relationships (Letourneur et al. 1998; Froese and Pauly 2018) and species assigned to feeding groups based on their diet and feeding behaviour (Wilson et al. 2008). Within the same point counts, we visually estimated the structural complexity of the reef using a scale from 0 (no vertical reef) to 5 (exceptionally complex with numerous caves and overhangs) as per Polunin and Roberts (1993), which correlates strongly with a range of other methods for capturing the structural complexity of coral reefs (Wilson et al. 2007). We counted sea urchin abundance (family: Diadematidae) within each point count area. Lastly, we randomly deployed a 50×50 cm quadrat repeatedly within each point count and counted juvenile corals in it. The number of quadrat deployments in each point count area and associated juvenile coral counts was limited to the maximum number that could be deployed within 8 min (3-13 quadrats per point count). Prior surveys of juvenile corals at these sites in 2008 and 2011 had used quadrat sizes of 33×33 cm for juvenile density (Chong-Seng et al. 2014; Harris et al. 2014); however, we used larger 50×50 cm quadrats to obtain a better assessment of the habitat surfaces around juvenile corals. We searched each quadrat for juvenile corals with diameters up to 5 cm (Roth and Knowlton 2009), identified the corals to genus level, and measured their diameter to the nearest 0.1 cm. Colonies clearly resulting from shrinkage, fragmentation, or overgrowth of older colonies were not recorded (Hughes and Jackson 1985). We recorded the coral's attachment substrate and took a HD photograph of each quadrat from above in a way that all borders of the quadrat were visible. We later analysed the photographs with Coral Point Count with extension for Excel (CPCe; Kohler and Gill 2006) to obtain percent cover values for the benthos categories: macroalgae, turf algae, CCA, sand, rubble, and pavement (bare rock).

Statistical analysis

We analysed temporal variation in juvenile coral density between 2008 (Harris et al. 2014), 2011 (Chong-Seng et al. 2014), and 2017 at the 18 sites surveyed each year. To standardise varying sampling efforts, we averaged the juvenile coral abundances across quadrats, for each site of each year (18 sites of 3 yr: n = 54), rounded to give an average coral abundance. Because different quadrat sizes were used throughout the years, we included the quadrat area as an offset variable, a pre-specified coefficient, in our models. To account for overdispersion of the response variable, we fitted generalised linear mixed models (GLMMs) from the 'lme4' package (Bates et al. 2015) in R (R-Core-Team 2018) for Poisson-distributed errors. Our final models with 'site' as a random intercept term were selected based on Akaike information criterion (AIC; Zuur et al. 2009):

Juvenile coral abundance (All, Acropora, Favites, Porites) \sim year + offset (area) + (1|site)

We fitted GLMMs to total juvenile corals abundances, as well as to two common genera, *Acropora* and *Porites*. For a third genus, *Favites*, we fitted the same model structure but with Gaussian errors (linear mixed model, LMM), using the 'nlme' package (Pinheiro et al. 2018). We conducted Tukey HSD post hoc tests to identify significant year differences.

Using only the dataset for 2017, we analysed the data for 21 sites at the scale of the 7-m-radius point counts to examine abiotic and biotic drivers of juvenile corals after 2016 bleaching. Because multiple quadrats were deployed within each point count, we averaged and rounded the resulting juvenile coral count across quadrats for each point count (n = 168). We expected juvenile coral density to be predicted by 7 biotic and abiotic variables measured at different scales (Table 1) and included ecologically sensible two-way interactions between variables. All variables were only weakly correlated, and so the model was not biased by collinearity issues (Zuur et al. 2009). We scaled variables to a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1, a recommended approach for multi-model selection which allows for meaningful comparisons of effect sizes when variables are on different scales (e.g. benthic cover in percent vs. structural complexity; Schielzeth 2010). 'Reef type' was originally a categorical variable with three reef types: carbonate, patch, and granite. After isolating the impact of each reef type on juvenile coral densities, granite stood out significantly from the other two reef types. To reduce the variables and interactions considered by our analysis to a number that can be sensibly interpreted with our given number of observations, we replaced 'reef type' as a categorical variable with a binary dummy variable that isolates the granite reef type and groups carbonate and patch reef types. To account for overdispersion and high frequencies of true zeros in the response variable (45.5%), we fitted a zero-inflated negative binomial (ZINB)

Predictor	Rationale	References
Sand and rubble	Sand or sediment acts as inhibitors to the settlement of coral larvae, while unstable rubble can induce post-settlement mortality in corals	Fox et al. (2003), Birrell et al. (2005), Chong-Seng et al. (2014), Risk (2014), Cameron et al. (2016), Yadav et al. (2016)
Crustose coralline algae (CCA)	Coral larvae are able to settle and grow on certain CCA species. CCA can also act as a competitor for space with macroalgae as well as corals themselves	Buenau et al. (2011), Vermeij et al. (2011), Yadav et al. (2016)
Macroalgae	Macroalgae are among the primary competitors for space with corals and can also induce post-settlement mortality to corals via physical and chemical pathways	McCook et al. (2001), Jompa and McCook (2003), Diaz-Pulido et al. (2010), Johns et al. (2018)
Herbivorous fish biomass	Feeding by herbivorous fish removes algae creating space for corals to settle and grow. The grazing impact scales with abundance and body size. Incidental predation by herbivorous fish on coral spat has also been reported	Bellwood et al. (2004), Lokrantz et al. (2008), Doropoulos et al. (2012), Mumby et al. (2013), Graham et al. (2015)
Sea urchin abundance	Similar to herbivorous fish, sea urchins can both facilitate and limit coral recruitment by (1) grazing algae that otherwise block potential coral settlement space and (2) incidental predation on coral spat	Glynn et al. (1979), Carpenter and Edmunds (2006), Furman and Heck (2009), Edgar et al. (2010), Hughes et al. (2010)
Structural complexity	Structurally complex reefs provide habitable space for a diverse range of organisms including fish or sea urchins and create niche space for coral settlement and survival	Vergés et al. (2011), Graham and Nash (2013), Rogers et al. (2014), Doropoulos et al. (2016)
Reef type	Three reef types were surveyed: carbonate, patch, and granite reefs; reef type can affect coral recruitment success	Jennings et al. (1995), Graham et al. (2007), Burt et al. (2009), Wilson et al. (2012)

Table 1 Biotic and abiotic variables considered in habitat predictor analysis to explain spatial variation in juvenile coral density

regression model via maximum likelihood estimation (Zuur et al. 2012). This is a two-part model that fits two distributions to the data-the first part fits a binomial distribution to the full dataset, treating the response variable as presence-absence data (zero component), while the second part fits a negative binomial distribution to all nonzero response data (i.e. where juvenile corals were present, count component). We initially fitted a zero-inflated mixed model ('site' as random factor) using the glmmTMB package (Brooks et al. 2017) and one without a random effect using the 'pscl' package (Zeileis et al. 2008). Model selection based on AIC (Zuur et al. 2009) classed the model without random effect as better performing, indicating that auto-correlation does not bias our parameter estimates. One variable ('sea urchins') was excluded in backward selection based on AIC, resulting in the final model:

Juvenile coral density \sim Sand and rubble + CCA

- + macroalgae + herbivores + complexity
- + reef type + reef type * complexity
- + macroalgae * complexity + macroalgae * herbivores

The model validation of this final model did show a slight residual clustering in the model's zero component which can be the case with zero-inflated models (Zuur et al. 2012). We visualised predicted relationships in ZINB models by predicting juvenile coral density across the

observed range of each variable, holding all other variables to constant means of 0 (Schielzeth 2010). All statistical analyses were conducted in R (R Core Team 2018). We provide our R-scripts and model predictions at an opensource repository (https://github.com/JanDajka/SeyBabies-2016-bleaching).

Results

Temporal patterns

Juvenile coral abundances in 2017 were less than half that of previous years (Fig. 1a, GLMM, z = -9.19, p < 0.001). A post hoc test (Table S1) showed that 2017 abundances were significantly lower than those of 2008 (Tukey HSD, $Z-\Delta = 9.19$, p < 0.001) and 2011 ($Z-\Delta = 9.99$, p < 0.001), while 2008 and 2011 were not significantly different ($Z-\Delta = -0.912$, p = 0.63). This pattern was also the case for *Acropora* and *Porites* coral genera (Fig. 1b, *Acropora* 2008–2017: $Z-\Delta = 3.82$, p < 0.001; *Acropora* 2011–2017: $Z-\Delta = 3.95$, p < 0.001; *Acropora* 2008–2011: $Z-\Delta = -0.31$, p = 0.95; *Porites* 2008–2017: $Z-\Delta = 4.82$, p < 0.001; *Porites* 2011–2017: $Z-\Delta = 4.48$, p < 0.001; *Porites* 2008–2011: $Z-\Delta = 0.53$, p = 0.86). Juvenile *Favites* abundances did not significantly differ between the years (*Favites* 2008–2017: $Z-\Delta = 2.29$, Fig. 1 Average juvenile coral densities per square metre $(\pm SE)$ of all sampled coral genera from 2008, 2011, and 2017 (a); average juvenile coral densities $(\pm SE)$ of common coral genera *Acropora*, *Favites*, and *Porites* from 2008, 2011, and 2017 (b)



p = 0.072; Favites 2011–2017: Z- $\Delta = 2.4$, p = 0.056; Favites 2011–2008: $\Delta = -0.07$, p = 0.997).

Habitat predictors

Presence–absence data (zero model) indicated a negative effect of herbivores on juvenile corals (Fig. 2a). Sand and rubble, granitic reef type, and macroalgae had very weak effects on juvenile coral densities, while CCA and complexity had positive effects. All interactions had a positive effect on coral densities. The interaction 'macroalgae * herbivores' highlighted a positive indirect effect of herbivores on juvenile coral densities. The 'macroalgae * complexity' interaction showed how macroalgae slightly reduced the positive effect that complexity alone had on juvenile coral densities while a granitic reef type increased the positive effect for complexity.

In the count component of the model, macroalgae, sand and rubble, and complexity had negative effects on juvenile coral densities (Fig. 2b). CCA and granitic reef type had very weak effects, while herbivores had a positive effect on juvenile coral densities. The 'macroalgae * complexity' interaction had a negative effect, the 'granite * complexity' interaction had a very weak effect, and the 'macroalgae * herbivores' interaction had a positive effect on juvenile coral densities.

The zero-inflation model rarely predicted juvenile coral densities when cover of sand and rubble or macroalgae was greater than 50%; however, when cover of these groups was low, predicted densities reached ~ 2.5 juvenile corals m^{-2} (Fig. 3a, b). In contrast, when CCA was absent, our model predicted ~ 1.5 juvenile corals m^{-2} and an expansion of up to 30% CCA cover elevated that prediction above 2 juvenile corals (Fig. 3c). The increasing standard error of additional CCA cover (30-60%) resulting from few occurrences of high CCA cover values does not allow for further interpretation. The model predicted ~ 1.5 juvenile corals m^{-2} when herbivores were absent, and this number stayed relatively constant up to 250 kg ha^{-1} herbivore biomass before falling to ~ 1 juvenile coral m⁻² at 900 kg ha⁻¹ herbivore biomass (Fig. 3d). Further interpretation of this trend was not warranted due to large standard errors resulting from few occurrences of high herbivore biomass values.

The 'macroalgae * complexity' interaction of our model predicted densities of ~ 1.2 juvenile corals m⁻² on low

Effect on juvenile coral density +
Herbivores
Sand & rubble
Granitic reef
Macroalgae
herbivores
Macroalgae * herbivores
Macroalgae * complexity
Granitic reef * complexity



Fig. 2 Effect size estimates of predictor coefficients in zero model with standard error (thick line) and 95% confidence intervals (thin line); zero model component: positive coefficient estimates predict coral absences (0) and negative coefficient estimates predict coral

(0–1 on the structural complexity scale)-complexity reefs when macroalgal cover was above 50%, but juveniles were rare on medium (1–3)- or high (3–4)-complexity reefs with macroalgal cover above 50% (Fig. 4a). When macroalgae cover was low (~ 10%), however, high- and mediumcomplexity habitats supported juvenile coral densities ~ 5 juvenile corals m⁻², while low-complexity habitats only supported a maximum of ~ 2.5 juvenile corals m⁻². The prediction of high juvenile coral densities in the highcomplexity habitat at 0% macroalgae cover was also accompanied by a large standard error resulting from little occurrences of high-complexity habitats without macroalgae in our data and was therefore not interpreted.

The 'macroalgae * herbivore' interaction led to highest densities reaching ~ 3.5 juvenile corals m^{-2} when both macroalgae cover (5%) and herbivore fish biomass were low (0–200 kg ha⁻¹; Fig. 4b). At low herbivore biomass,

presence (1), stronger negative values indicate stronger positive effect on juvenile coral density (**a**); count model component: negative coefficient estimates predict lower juvenile coral density and positive coefficients predict higher density (**b**)

increases in macroalgae cover to 50% caused a reduction to ~ 0.5 juvenile corals m⁻². This reduction in juvenile corals occurred at 65% macroalgae cover at medium (200–400 kg ha⁻¹) herbivore biomass and to 85% macroalgae cover at high (400–600 kg ha⁻¹) herbivore biomass. Yet, the maximum density of juvenile corals was also notably depressed as herbivore biomass increased. When herbivore biomass was low, the model predicted maximum densities of ~ 3.5 juvenile corals m⁻² and ~ 3 juvenile corals m⁻² at medium herbivore biomass. At high herbivore biomass, our model only predicted a maximum of ~ 2.3 juvenile corals m⁻².

For the 'reef type * complexity' interaction, juvenile coral density decreased as complexity increased on carbonate and patch reefs (Fig. 5). For example, in granitic reefs, juvenile corals were absent at low complexity (0-1) but increased from ~ 0.5 to 2.2 juvenile corals m⁻² at



Fig. 3 Model prediction trends of macroalgae (a), sand and rubble (b), CCA (c), and herbivores (d) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model; panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95% confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable



Fig. 4 Model prediction trend for interactions macroalgae * structural complexity (a) and macroalgae * herbivore biomass (b) for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Panels





show the fitted effect (line) and 95% confidence intervals (shaded bands) for each variable

Discussion

The densities of juvenile corals have been proposed as an important predictor of coral reef recovery from mass bleaching events (Hughes et al. 2010; Gilmour et al. 2013;



Fig. 5 Model prediction trend for interaction reef type * structural complexity for the count component of the zero-inflated negative binomial model. Panels show the fitted effect (line) and 95% confidence intervals (shaded bands)

Graham et al. 2015), yet predictors of juvenile corals themselves following large-scale bleaching are hitherto poorly explored. Following the 2016 bleaching event, we recorded a significant reduction in juvenile coral abundance in the inner Seychelles. High cover of macroalgae was associated with few juvenile corals shortly after a mass bleaching event, though interesting nuances were found in how their densities varied with interactions between macroalgal cover and other factors. Macroalgae appear to exploit structurally complex carbonate (limestone) reefs more efficiently and, as a result, may outcompete juvenile corals on these reefs; however, macroalgae cover on highcomplexity granitic reefs is generally low (Graham et al. 2006). Increased biomass of herbivorous fish reduced the negative effect of macroalgae on juvenile corals, though very high biomass of herbivores was associated with slightly lower density of juveniles when macroalgae were absent.

Our temporal findings depict the severity of the 2016 bleaching event to coral recruitment in the inner Seychelles via the loss of $\sim 70\%$ juvenile coral abundance. This roughly matches the magnitude of adult coral cover loss for the same region (Wilson et al., in review). Loss in adult corals leads to lowered reproductive output and less larval supply (Hughes et al. 2000), which is problematic as the isolated coral communities of the inner Seychelles are likely reliant on self-recruitment (Graham et al. 2006).

Before mass bleaching in 2016, the inner Seychelles' recovery from the 1998 bleaching event was slow for 7-10 years and then sped up exponentially at some sites (Graham et al. 2015), also typical for regions with coral recruitment from local sources (Gilmour et al. 2013). The 2016 bleaching event decimated juvenile Acropora corals. Fast-growing branching corals like Acropora tend to be among the most vulnerable to bleaching (Sheppard et al. 2002; Álvarez-Noriega et al. 2018) but can also drive the bulk of the coral reef's recovery (Emslie et al. 2008; Gilmour et al. 2013; Doropoulos et al. 2015). The low abundance of juvenile corals recorded post-bleaching, paired with their apparent inability to settle or survive on degraded sites (Chong-Seng et al. 2014) and reduced reproductive output of adults, suggests a significant delay of recovery in the inner Seychelles.

Our results indicate that macroalgal cover is a strong negative predictor of juvenile coral density. This supports the widely reported detrimental effect of macroalgae on coral recruitment (Diaz-Pulido et al. 2010; Rasher and Hay 2010; Johns et al. 2018; Steneck et al. 2018) in a postbleaching setting and adds an interesting nuance with two interaction effects. Macroalgae inhibit settlement of coral larvae by blocking space (Diaz-Pulido et al. 2010; Johns et al. 2018) and increase the corals' post-settlement mortality by chemical and physical interference (Tanner 1995; Jompa and McCook 2003; Nugues et al. 2004; Rasher et al. 2011). It appears that increased structural complexity interacts with macroalgae to the detriment of juvenile corals. This might stem from an increased competitive pressure from macroalgae when coral larvae settle in more complex microhabitats or crevices (Doropoulos et al. 2016), as macroalgae that grow in complex structural elements avoid being grazed by herbivores (Bennett et al. 2010; Poray and Carpenter 2013). Because of the limited space in a crevice, corals experience more contact with macroalgae (Rasher et al. 2011), exacerbating the effects of competition. This is underlined by more complex reefs supporting higher maxima of juvenile coral density when macroalgae cover is low or absent.

Higher biomass of herbivorous fish reduced the detrimental effect of macroalgae expansion on juvenile corals. In Seychelles, herbivorous fish biomass has increased following the 1998 bleaching event and is maintaining a productive inshore fishery (Robinson et al. 2018). Through their increased biomass, herbivorous fish graze more algal mass (Williams et al. 2001) which in turn opens settlement space for coral larvae (Doropoulos et al. 2013) and lessens the contact between corals and algae (Smith et al. 2006; Rasher et al. 2011). Herbivore biomass is a frequently highlighted parameter for coral reef recovery (Bellwood et al. 2004; Mumby et al. 2013) and was also one of the five positive predictors of coral recovery identified for Seychelles (Graham et al. 2015). Additionally, Steneck et al. (2018) found that herbivores reduced the negative effects of macroalgae and consequently had a beneficial effect on juvenile coral density in the Caribbean. In contrast, high herbivore biomass lowered the maximum density of juvenile corals in our study. This could be a result of incidental predation by herbivorous fish on coral spat (Doropoulos et al. 2012). Predation by herbivores, particularly scrapers, but also some grazers and detritivores, largely affects newly settled coral spat. These fish feed on a variety of reef substrates (e.g. turf algae, detritus), inadvertently removing coral recruits. This process largely affects corals within 3 months of settlement when they are still less than a centimetre in diameter, suggesting that predation by herbivorous fish is not visual and hence incidental (Doropoulos et al. 2016). This process might also relate to the macroalgae-complexity interaction, where maximum abundance of juvenile corals at 0% macroalgae cover appeared depressed in high-complexity habitats compared to medium- and low-complexity habitats. High-complexity habitats typically attract fish, such as corallivores or herbivores, that seek shelter to ensure their own survival (Rogers et al. 2014). Feeding by these fishes can result in targeted or incidental predation on newly settled coral spat (Doropoulos et al. 2012), leading to depressed juvenile coral densities in highly complex reefs without macroalgae.

The presence of rubble and sand was also a strong negative predictor of juvenile coral density. It is well reported that corals experience high post-settlement mortality on unconsolidated surfaces such as sand due to its constant movement with wave energy and ability to smother or crush coral spat (Birrell et al. 2005; Risk 2014; Baldock et al. 2015). Periodic movement is also thought to prevent post-settlement survival of corals on unconsolidated rubble. The constant movement of rubble caused by waves results in newly settled corals being crushed (Fox et al. 2003; Yadav et al. 2016). Rubble was previously highlighted as a cause of serious demographic bottlenecks to corals in the inner Seychelles (Chong-Seng et al. 2014), and both patch and areas of carbonate reefs were often surrounded by sand and rubble (Pers. obs.).

Our data highlight the positive role of crustose coralline algae (CCA) on coral juvenile density. Some species of CCA have been reported to create suitable conditions for corals by acting as settlement cues to coral larvae (Ritson-Williams et al. 2010; Arnold and Steneck 2011; Yadav et al. 2016) or by suppressing macroalgal expansion (Belliveau and Paul 2002; Vermeij et al. 2011). Competition for space has also been reported between corals and CCA—as CCA covers more space, corals run the risk of being overgrown (Buenau et al. 2011). Our results show that CCA can be important for coral replenishment in postbleaching scenarios.

An intriguing finding was the interaction between complexity and reef type. Paired with structural complexity, the granite reef type proved extremely beneficial to juvenile corals. We believe the benefit of granite in our study might be due to it being an unsuitable substrate for macroalgae rather than being a superior substrate for corals (Burt et al. 2009). Macroalgae attach to substrates via holdfasts which can penetrate the substrate up to 10 mm deep by exploiting the physical characteristics of mineral matrices. The density and matrices of granite and carbonate are very different (Morrison et al. 2009). It is likely that large fleshy macroalgae (e.g. Sargassum, Turbinaria) that commonly outcompete corals on carbonate reefs of the inner Seychelles cannot deeply penetrate the granitic mineral matrix (Milligan and DeWreede 2000), leading to an increased probability of algae dislodging as they grow (Thomsen 2004). Herbivorous fish could be assisting the coral's ability to more successfully exploit structural complexity on granitic reefs. Herbivore fish assemblages on granitic reefs in the inner Seychelles are more stable than those of carbonate and patch reef types (Graham et al. 2006). We found in our study that the average herbivorous fish biomass was very similar for carbonate and patch reef types ($\sim 300 \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$), yet it was slightly elevated in the granite reef type ($\sim 400 \text{ kg ha}^{-1}$).

Our results have multiple implications for coral reef management. Our study reaffirms the negative effect macroalgae can have on coral recruitment and that reducing the competitive advantage of macroalgae is key to triggering a potential shift back to coral dominance on regime-shifted reefs via the support of positive or destabilising feedback loops (Nyström et al. 2012). Many coral reef systems appear currently locked in degraded states, for instance dominated by macroalgae. To break this locked state and push the system towards coral dominance, some negative feedback loops need to be interrupted and positive loops need to be engaged (Mumby and Steneck 2008). Herbivores can assist this feedback shift-our findings and recent findings from a large-scale study (Steneck et al. 2018) suggest that herbivores have a potential to weaken the effect of macroalgae on coral recruitment. High levels of herbivory also tend to push algal communities towards those dominated by calcareous forms (Littler and Littler 1984; Belliveau and Paul 2002), adding to habitats favouring coral reinforcing feedbacks, underlined by the positive effect of CCA detected in our study. A recent review by Ceccarelli et al. (2018) highlights the potential for physical removal of macroalgae to benefit coral, yet its effectiveness over large spatial and temporal scales will depend on whether the underlying drivers (e.g. eutrophication, overfishing of herbivores, ocean warming) that keep reefs locked in negative or reinforcing feedback loops favouring macroalgal dominance (Johns et al. 2018) are addressed (Norström et al. 2016). Our findings also highlight the importance of complex granite reefs for juvenile corals and that these habitats are potential coral refugia in Seychelles. Maintaining low levels of local stressors on complex granitic reefs may therefore be important for recovery.

Climate change and coral bleaching are reshaping coral reefs to a yet unknown extent. The 2016 bleaching event decimated the juvenile coral community of the inner Seychelles, and concomitant obstacles such as macroalgal expansion have limited the ability for recovery on some reefs. As macroalgae interact with other reef characteristics such as structural complexity, herbivore biomass, and reef type, it becomes apparent that this obstacle has a very nuanced nature and addressing it will not be a straightforward process. If coral reef degradation progresses and the carbonate matrices break down, sand and rubble patches will expand, presenting another obstacle for coral recruitment. Should the more steadfast nature of granitic reefs prove suitable refugia to future corals, a greater understanding of the mechanisms that underlie resilience on these reefs and their potential to re-seed nearby carbonate reefs is required.

Acknowledgements We thank the Seychelles Fishing Authority, Seychelles National ParksAuthority, and Nature Seychelles for logistical support, and Rebecca Fisher and Gareth Williams for help with statistics. We also thank two anonymous reviewers for their helpful comments. This work was supported through grants from the Royal Society (Grant No. 1), the Australian Research Council (Grant No. 2), and a Lancaster University Faculty of Science and Technology (Grant No. 3) PhD studentship.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://crea tivecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

References

- Álvarez-Noriega M, Baird AH, Bridge TCL, Dornelas M, Fontoura L, Pizarro O, Precoda K, Torres-Pulliza D, Woods RM, Zawada K, Madin JS (2018) Contrasting patterns of changes in abundance following a bleaching event between juvenile and adult scleractinian corals. Coral Reefs 37:527
- Arnold SN, Steneck RS, Mumby PJ (2010) Running the gauntlet: inhibitory effects of algal turfs on the processes of coral recruitment. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 414:91–105
- Arnold SN, Steneck RS (2011) Settling into an Increasingly Hostile World: The Rapidly Closing "Recruitment Window" for Corals. PLoS ONE 6(12):e28681
- Babcock RC, Mundy CN (1996) Coral recruitment: Consequences of settlement choice for early growth and survivorship in two scleractinians. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 206:179–201
- Baldock TE, Golshani A, Atkinson A, Shimamoto T, Wu S, Callaghan DP, Mumby PJ (2015) Impact of sea-level rise on cross-shore sediment transport on fetch-limited barrier reef island beaches under modal and cyclonic conditions. Marine Pollution Bulletin 97:188–198
- Bates Douglas, Maechler Martin, Bolker Ben, Walker Steve (2015) Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67(1):1–48
- Belliveau SA, Paul VJ (2002) Effects of herbivory and nutrients on the early colonization of crustose coralline and fleshy algae. Marine Ecology Progress Series 232:105–114
- Bellwood DR, Hughes TP, Folke C, Nyström M (2004) Confronting the coral reef crisis. Nature 429:827–833
- Bennett S, Vergés A, Bellwood DR (2010) Branching coral as a macroalgal refuge in a marginal coral reef system. Coral Reefs 29:471–480
- Birrell CL, McCook LJ, Willis BL (2005) Effects of algal turfs and sediment on coral settlement. Marine Pollution Bulletin 51:408–414
- Box SJ, Mumby PJ (2007) Effect of macroalgal competition on growth and survival of juvenile Caribbean corals. Marine Ecology Progress Series 342:139–149
- Brooks ME, Kristensen K, van Benthem KJ, Magnusson A, Berg CW, Nielsen A, Skaug HJ, Maechler M, Bolker BM (2017) glmmTMB Balances Speed and Flexibility Among Packages

for Zero-inflated Generalized Linear Mixed Modeling. The R Journal 9(2):378–400

- Buenau KE, Price NN, Nisbet RM (2011) Local interactions drive size dependent space competition between coral and crustose coralline algae. Oikos 120:941–949
- Burt J, Bartholomew A, Bauman A, Saif A, Sale PF (2009) Coral recruitment and early benthic community development on several materials used in the construction of artificial reefs and breakwaters. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 373:72–78
- Cameron CM, Pausch RE, Miller MW (2016) Coral recruitment dynamics and substrate mobility in a rubble-dominated back reef habitat. Bulletin of Marine Science 92:123–136
- Carpenter RC, Edmunds PJ (2006) Local and regional scale recovery of Diadema promotes recruitment of scleractinian corals. Ecology letters 9:271–280
- Ceccarelli DM, Loffler Z, Bourne DG, Al Moajil-Cole GS, Boström-Einarsson L, Evans-Illidge E, Fabricius K, Glasl B, Marshall P, McLeod I, Read M, Schaffelke B, Smith AK, Torras Jorda G, Williamson DH, Bay L (2018) Rehabilitation of coral reefs through removal of macroalgae: State of knowledge and considerations for management and implementation. Restoration Ecology 26:827–838
- Chong-Seng KM, Graham NAJ, Pratchett MS (2014) Bottlenecks to coral recovery in the Seychelles. Coral Reefs 33:449–461
- Cole AJ, Pratchett MS, Jones GP (2008) Diversity and functional importance of coral-feeding fishes on tropical coral reefs. Fish and Fisheries 9:286–307
- Connell JH, Hughes TP, Wallace CC (1997) A 30-year study of coral abundance, recruitment, and disturbance at several scales in space and time. Ecological Monographs 67:461–488
- Diaz-Pulido G, Harii S, McCook LJ, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2010) The impact of benthic algae on the settlement of a reef-building coral. Coral Reefs 29:203–208
- Doropoulos C, Hyndes GA, Abecasis D, Vergés A (2013) Herbivores strongly influence algal recruitment in both coral- and algaldominated coral reef habitats. Marine Ecology Progress Series 486:153–164
- Doropoulos C, Ward S, Marshell A, Diaz-Pulido G, Mumby PJ (2012) Interactions among chronic and acute impacts on coral recruits: the importance of size-escape thresholds. Ecology 93:2131–2138
- Doropoulos C, Ward S, Roff G, González-Rivero M, Mumby PJ (2015) Linking Demographic Processes of Juvenile Corals to Benthic Recovery Trajectories in Two Common Reef Habitats. Plos One 10:e0128535
- Doropoulos C, Roff G, Bozec YM, Zupan M, Werminghausen J, Mumby PJ (2016) Characterizing the ecological trade- offs throughout the early ontogeny of coral recruitment. Ecological Monographs 86:20–44
- Edgar GJ, Banks SA, Brandt M, Bustamante RH, Chiriboga A, Earle SA, Garske LE, Glynn PW, Grove JS, Henderson S, Hickman CP, Miller KA, Rivera F, Wellington GM (2010) El Niño, grazers and fisheries interact to greatly elevate extinction risk for Galapagos marine species. Global Change Biology 16:2876–2890
- Edmunds PJ (2004) Juvenile coral population dynamics track rising seawater temperature on a Caribbean reef. Marine Ecology Progress Series 269:111–119
- Edmunds PJ, Bruno JF, Carlon DB (2004) Effects of depth and microhabitat on growth and survivorship of juvenile corals in the Florida Keys. Marine Ecology Progress Series 278:115–124
- Elmhirst T, Connolly SR, Hughes TP (2009) Connectivity, regime shifts and the resilience of coral reefs. Coral Reefs 28:949–957
- Emslie MJ, Cheal AJ, Sweatman H, Delean S (2008) Recovery from disturbance of coral and reef fish communities on the Great

Barrier Reef, Australia. Marine Ecology Progress Series 371:177–190

- Fox HE, Pet JS, Dahuri R, Caldwell RL (2003) Recovery in rubble fields: long-term impacts of blast fishing. Marine Pollution Bulletin 46:1024–1031
- Froese R, Pauly D (2018) FishBase (http://www.fishbase.org)
- Furman B, Heck KL (2009) Differential impacts of echinoid grazers on coral recruitment. Bulletin of Marine Science 85:121–132
- Gilmour JP, Smith LD, Heyward AJ, Baird AH, Pratchett MS (2013) Recovery of an Isolated Coral Reef System Following Severe Disturbance. Science 340:69
- Glynn PW, Wellington GM, Birkeland C (1979) Coral reef growth in the Galápagos: limitation by sea urchins. Science 203:47–49
- Goreau T, McClanahan TR, Hayes R, Strong A (2000) Conservation of coral reefs after the 1998 global bleaching event. Conservation Biology 14:5–15
- Graham NA, Jennings S, MacNeil MA, Mouillot D, Wilson SK (2015) Predicting climate-driven regime shifts versus rebound potential in coral reefs. Nature 518:94–97
- Graham NAJ, Nash KL (2013) The importance of structural complexity in coral reef ecosystems. Coral Reefs 32:315–326
- Graham NAJ, Nash KL, Kool JT (2011) Coral reef recovery dynamics in a changing world. Coral Reefs 30:283–294
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Bijoux JP, Robinson J (2006) Dynamic fragility of oceanic coral reef ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103:8425–8429
- Graham NAJ, Wilson SK, Jennings S, Polunin NVC, Robinson JAN, Bijoux JP, Daw TM (2007) Lag Effects in the Impacts of Mass Coral Bleaching on Coral Reef Fish, Fisheries, and Ecosystems. Conservation Biology 21:1291–1300
- Harris A, Wilson S, Graham N, Sheppard C (2014) Scleractinian coral communities of the inner Seychelles 10 years after the 1998 mortality event. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 24:667–679
- Hughes TP, Jackson JBC (1985) Population Dynamics and Life Histories of Foliaceous Corals. Ecological Monographs 55:141–166
- Hughes TP, Tanner JE (2000) Recruitment failure, life histories and long-term decline of Caribbean corals. Ecology 81:2250–2263
- Hughes TP, Graham NAJ, Jackson JBC, Mumby PJ, Steneck RS (2010) Rising to the challenge of sustaining coral reef resilience. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 25:633–642
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Dinsdale EA, Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Tanner JE, Willis BL (2000) Supply-side ecology works both ways: the link between benthic adults, fecundity and larval recruits. Ecology 81:2241–2249
- Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCook L, Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Steneck RS, Willis B (2007) Phase Shifts, Herbivory, and the Resilience of Coral Reefs to Climate Change. Current Biology 17:360–365
- Hughes TP, Anderson KD, Connolly SR, Heron SF, Kerry JT, Lough JM, Baird AH, Baum JK, Berumen ML, Bridge TC, Claar DC, Eakin CM, Gilmour JP, Graham NAJ, Harrison H, Hobbs J-PA, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom M, Lowe RJ, McCulloch MT, Pandolfi JM, Pratchett M, Schoepf V, Torda G, Wilson SK (2018) Spatial and temporal patterns of mass bleaching of corals in the Anthropocene. Science 359:80–83
- Hughes TP, Kerry JT, Alvarez-Noriega M, Alvarez-Romero JG, Anderson KD, Baird AH, Babcock RC, Beger M, Bellwood DR, Berkelmans R, Bridge TC, Butler IR, Byrne M, Cantin NE, Comeau S, Connolly SR, Cumming GS, Dalton SJ, Diaz-Pulido G, Eakin CM, Figueira WF, Gilmour JP, Harrison HB, Heron SF, Hoey AS, Hobbs JA, Hoogenboom MO, Kennedy EV, Kuo CY, Lough JM, Lowe RJ, Liu G, McCulloch MT, Malcolm HA,

McWilliam MJ, Pandolfi JM, Pears RJ, Pratchett MS, Schoepf V, Simpson T, Skirving WJ, Sommer B, Torda G, Wachenfeld DR, Willis BL, Wilson SK (2017) Global warming and recurrent mass bleaching of corals. Nature 543:373–377

- Jennings S, Grandcourt EM, Polunin NVC (1995) The effects of fishing on the diversity, biomass and trophic structure of Seychelles' reef fish communities. Coral Reefs 14:225–235
- Johns KA, Emslie MJ, Hoey AS, Osborne K, Jonker MJ, Cheal AJ (2018) Macroalgal feedbacks and substrate properties maintain a coral reef regime shift. Ecosphere 9:1–15
- Jompa J, McCook LJ (2003) Coral–algal competition: macroalgae with different properties have different effects on corals. Marine Ecology Progress Series 258:87–95
- Kohler KE, Gill SM (2006) Coral Point Count with Excel extensions (CPCe): A Visual Basic program for the determination of coral and substrate coverage using random point count methodology. Computers & Geosciences 32:1259–1269
- Letourneur Y, Kulbicki M, Labrosse P (1998) Length-weight relationship of fishes from coral reefs and lagoons of New Caledonia: an update. Naga 21:39–46
- Littler MM, Littler DS (1984) Models of tropical reef biogenesis: the contribution of algae. In: Round FE, Chapman DJ (eds) Progress in phycological research. Biopress, Bristol, pp 323–364
- Lokrantz J, Nyström M, Thyresson M, Johansson C (2008) The nonlinear relationship between body size and function in parrotfishes. Coral Reefs 27:967–974
- McCook LJ, Jompa J, Diaz-Pulido G (2001) Competition between corals and algae on coral reefs: a review of evidence and mechanisms. Coral Reefs 19:400–417
- Milligan KLD, DeWreede RE (2000) Variations in holdfast attachment mechanics with developmental stage, substratum-type, season, and wave-exposure for the intertidal kelp species *Hedophyllum sessile* (C. Agardh) Setchell. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 254:189–209
- Morrison L, Feely M, Stengel DB, Blamey N, Dockery P, Sherlock A, Timmins E (2009) Seaweed attachment to bedrock: biophysical evidence for a new geophycology paradigm. Geobiology 7:477–487
- Mumby P, Steneck R (2008) Coral reef management and conservation in light of rapidly evolving ecological paradigms. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 23:555–563
- Mumby PJ, Bejarano S, Golbuu Y, Steneck RS, Arnold SN, van Woesik R, Friedlander AM (2013) Empirical relationships among resilience indicators on Micronesian reefs. Coral Reefs 32:213–226
- Norström AV, Lokrantz J, Nyström M, Yap HT (2006) Influence of dead coral substrate morphology on patterns of juvenile coral distribution. Marine Biology 150:1145–1152
- Norström AV, Nyström M, Jouffray J-B, Folke C, Graham NAJ, Moberg F, Olsson P, Williams GJ (2016) Guiding coral reef futures in the Anthropocene. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 14:490–498
- Nugues MM, Smith GW, Hooidonk RJ, Seabra MI, Bak RPM (2004) Algal contact as a trigger for coral disease. Ecology Letters 7:919–923
- Nyström M, Norström AV, Blenckner T, de la Torre-Castro M, Eklöf JS, Folke C, Österblom H, Steneck RS, Thyresson M, Troell M (2012) Confronting feedbacks of degraded marine ecosystems. Ecosystems 15:695–710
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D and R Core Team (2018). nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. R package version 3.1-137
- Polunin NVC, Roberts CM (1993) Greater biomass and value of target coral-reef fishes in two small Caribbean marine reserves. Marine Ecology Progress Series 100:167–176

- Poray AK, Carpenter RC (2013) Distributions of coral reef macroalgae in a back reef habitat in Moorea, French Polynesia. Coral Reefs 33:67–76
- R-Core-Team (2018) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna
- Rasher DB, Hay ME (2010) Chemically rich seaweeds poison corals when not controlled by herbivores. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107:9683–9688
- Rasher DB, Stout EP, Engel S, Kubanek J, Hay ME (2011) Macroalgal terpenes function as allelopathic agents against reef corals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108:177726–177731
- Risk MJ (2014) Assessing the effects of sediments and nutrients on coral reefs. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 7:108–117
- Ritson-Williams R, Paul VJ, Arnold SN, Steneck RS (2010) Larval settlement preferences and post-settlement survival of the threatened Caribbean corals Acropora palmata and A. cervicornis. Coral Reefs 29:71–81
- Robinson JPW, Wilson S, Robinson J, Gerry C, Govinden R, Lucas J, Assan C, Jennings S, Graham NAJ (2018) Productive instability of coral reef fisheries after climate-driven regime shifts. Nature Ecology and Evolution
- Rogers A, Blanchard JL, Mumby PJ (2014) Vulnerability of coral reef fisheries to a loss of structural complexity. Current Biology 24:1000–1005
- Roth MS, Knowlton N (2009) Distribution, abundance, and microhabitat characterization of small juvenile corals at Palmyra Atoll. Marine Ecology Progress Series 376:133–142
- Schielzeth H (2010) Simple means to improve the interpretability of regression coefficients. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 1:103–113
- Sheppard CRC, Spalding MD, Bradshaw C, Wilson S (2002) Erosion vs. Recovery of Coral Reefs after 1998 El Niño: Chagos Reefs, Indian Ocean. Ambio 31:40–48
- Smith JE, Shaw M, Edwards RA, Obura D, Pantos O, Sala E, Sandin SA, Smriga S, Hatay M, Rohwer FL (2006) Indirect effects of algae on coral: algae-mediated, microbe-induced coral mortality. Ecology letters 9:835–845
- Steneck RS, Mumby PJ, MacDonald C, Rasher DB, Stoyle G (2018) Attenuating effects of ecosystem management on coral reefs. Science Advances: EAAO5493
- Tanner JE (1995) Competition between scleractinian macroalgae: An experimental corals and investigation of coral growth, survival and reproduction. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 190:151–168
- Thomsen MS (2004) Species, thallus size and substrate determine macroalgal break force and break location in a low-energy softbottom lagoon. Aquatic Botany 80:153–161
- Vergés A, Vanderklift MA, Doropoulos C, Hyndes GA (2011) Spatial Patterns in Herbivory on a Coral Reef Are Influenced by Structural Complexity but Not by Algal Traits. PLoS ONE 6:e17115
- Vermeij MJA, Dailer ML, Smith CM (2011) Crustose coralline algae can suppress macroalgal growth and recruitment on Hawaiian coral reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series 422:1–7
- Williams ID, Polunin NVC, Hendrick VJ (2001) Limits to grazing by herbivorous fishes and the impact of low coral cover on macroalgal abundance on a coral reef in Belize. Marine Ecology Progress Series 222:187–196
- Wilson SK, Graham NA, Polunin NVC (2007) Appraisal of visual assessments of habitat complexity and benthic composition on coral reefs. Marine Biology 151:1069–1076

- Wilson SK, Dolman AM, Cheal AJ, Emslie MJ, Pratchett MS, Sweatman HPA (2008) Maintenance of fish diversity on disturbed coral reefs. Coral Reefs 28:3–14
- Wilson SK, Graham NAJ, Fisher R, Robinson J, Nash K, Chong-Seng K, Polunin NVC, Aumeeruddy R, Quatre R (2012) Effect of Macroalgal Expansion and Marine Protected Areas on Coral Recovery Following a Climatic Disturbance. Conservation Biology 26:995–1004
- Yadav S, Rathod P, Alcoverro T, Arthur RJCR (2016) "Choice" and destiny: the substrate composition and mechanical stability of settlement structures can mediate coral recruit fate in postbleached reefs. 35:211-222
- Zeileis A, Kleiber C, Jackman S (2008). Regression Models for Count Data in R. Journal of Statistical Software 27(8), R package version 1.5.2
- Zuur A, Ieno E, Walker N, Saveliev A, Smith G (2009) Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Gail M, Krickeberg K, Samet JM, Tsiatis A, Wong W, editors. New York, NY: Spring Science and Business Media
- Zuur AF, Saveliev AA, Ieno EN (2012) Zero Inflated Models and Generalized Linear Mixed Models with R. Highland Statistics Ltd., Newburgh, UK

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

DOI: 10.1002/pan3.10092

PERSPECTIVE



Red and green loops help uncover missing feedbacks in a coral

EOPLE

reef social-ecological system

Accepted: 5 April 2020

Jan-Claas Dajka¹ | Anna J. Woodhead¹ | Albert V. Norström² | Nicholas A. J. Graham¹ | Maraja Riechers³ | Magnus Nyström²

¹Lancaster Environment Centre, Lancaster University, Lancaster, UK

²Stockholm Resilience Centre, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden

³Faculty of Sustainability, Leuphana University, Lüneburg, Germany

Correspondence Jan-Claas Dajka Email: j.dajka@lancaster.ac.uk

Funding information

Royal Society; Stockholm Resilience Centre; Lancaster University Graduate School; Lancaster University Faculty of Science and Technology

Handling Editor: Andrea Belgrano

Abstract

- Social-ecological systems (SES) exhibit complex cause-and-effect relationships. Capturing, interpreting, and responding to signals that indicate changes in ecosystems is key for sustainable management in SES. Breaks in this signal-response chain, when feedbacks are missing, will allow change to continue until a point when abrupt ecological surprises may occur.
- 2. In these situations, societies and local ecosystems can often become uncoupled. In this paper, we demonstrate how the red loop-green loop (RL-GL) concept can be used to uncover missing feedbacks and to better understand past socialecological dynamics. Reinstating these feedbacks in order to recouple the SES may ultimately create more sustainable systems on local scales.
- 3. The RL-GL concept can uncover missing feedbacks through the characterization of SES dynamics along a spectrum of human resource dependence. Drawing on diverse qualitative and quantitative data sources, we classify SES dynamics throughout the history of Jamaican coral reefs along the RL-GL spectrum. We uncover missing feedbacks in red-loop and red-trap scenarios from around the year 600 until now. The Jamaican coral reef SES dynamics have moved between all four dynamic states described in the RL-GL concept: green loop, green trap, red loop and red trap.
- 4. We then propose mechanisms to guide the current unsustainable red traps back to more sustainable green loops, involving mechanisms of seafood trade and ecological monitoring. By gradually moving away from seafood exports, Jamaica may be able to return to green-loop dynamics between the local society and their locally sourced seafood. We discuss the potential benefits and drawbacks of this proposed intervention and give indications of why an export ban may insure against future missing feedbacks and could prolong the sustainability of the Jamaican coral reef ecosystem.
- 5. Our approach demonstrates how the RL-GL approach can uncover missing feedbacks in a coral reef SES, a way the concept has not been used before.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited. © 2020 The Authors. *People and Nature* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of British Ecological Society

DAJKA ET AL.

We advocate for how the RL-GL concept in a feedback setting can be used to synthesize various types of data and to gain an understanding of past, present and future sustainability that can be applied in diverse social-ecological settings.

KEYWORDS

coral reef management, historical, interventions, Jamaica, leverage points, mixed methods, regime shift, sustainability

1 | INTRODUCTION

Increased globalization has been one of the underlying factors driving observed increases in human development (e.g. Human Development Index; Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel, 2018; United Nations Development Program, 2018). However, the increased connectivity of economies, ecosystems and human societies on a global level has been argued to be detrimental to the sustainability of local social-ecological systems (SES) when feedback relationships that indicate overharvesting of natural resources or environmental impacts are weakened or lost (Berkes, 2007; Levin, 1999; Nyström et al., 2019). This weakening-or decouplingcan emerge as the geographical distance between the location of consumption and production increases (Anderson, 2010; Clapp, 2014; Nyström et al., 2019). Overfishing of local fish stocks, for example, can be masked by importing fish caught elsewhere, leaving consumers relatively unaffected and unaware of ongoing changes in the ecosystem (Crona et al., 2016). For instance, the United Kingdom (UK) increased their imports of Atlantic cod from Iceland and the Faeroe Islands between the late 1980s and 1990s (Crona et al., 2016). Because cod was available in UK markets from multiple competing sources, the prices did not represent the decreasing cod stocks in local UK waters. This masked the mechanism for UK consumers to keep track of the increasing cod rarity and hence did not cause consumers to match their consumption patterns to the state of local ecosystem degradation. Such mechanisms are often referred to as 'feedback mechanisms' because they have the potential to feed information about the state of a system back to society.

Capturing, interpreting and responding to signals that indicate changes in ecosystems are key facets of sustainable management in SES. If feedbacks are ignored or masked (e.g. by trade), change is allowed to pass unnoticed until a point when an abrupt ecological surprise (i.e. regime shift) may occur. Once manifested, the new ecological state can be difficult, very costly and potentially even impossible to reverse (Nyström et al., 2012). Pathways toward improved local sustainability have to feature managing feedbacks that underpin social–ecological trajectories.

Here, we demonstrate how the RL-GL concept highlights missing feedbacks and how it can be used to synthesize various types of data and to understand past, present and future sustainability in diverse social-ecological settings. Our study is the first that is integrating these two approaches to unpack social-ecological dynamics for improved sustainability of SES.

1.1 | Reinstating missing feedbacks to recouple social-ecological systems

When feedbacks are masked, they are referred to as 'missing feedbacks' (Barnett & Anderies, 2014; Crona et al., 2016). In the context of social-ecological dynamics, this often means that the social system gets decoupled from the local ecosystem (Hoole & Berkes, 2010), which opens unsustainable pathways that the SES may follow (Crona et al., 2016). To avoid this from happening it is critical to reinstate missing feedbacks and recouple the SES by 'closing the loop' between humans and ecosystems (Patterson & Coelho, 2008). A global example of this recoupling feedback approach is the current climate change discussion. Carbon taxes or carbon credits are meant to act as a 'global' feedback to recouple anthropogenic changes to the atmospheric system back to society (Van der Ploeg, 2014). Cod prices in the UK provide a local example; the missing feedbacks mentioned above could be reinstated by strengthening information flow from fishers to consumers or by directly increasing overfishing awareness in citizens and political actors through publicity (Crona et al., 2016). Another example of reinstating feedbacks comes from the Etosha National park in Namibia (Hoole & Berkes, 2010). Decoupling was connected to the loss of Herero knowledge of the park, which led to failing wildlife conservation initiatives and exacerbated poverty levels in local Herero communities. Reinstating this missing feedback, through management collaboration between the park and Herero communities, as well as Herero inclusion in park management and as employees was used to reinstate feedbacks, ultimately improving the outcomes for the Herero and conservation management. Addressing missing feedbacks can have a transformational impact on the SES but it requires very detailed knowledge of the SES dynamics to uncover where feedbacks are missing (Crona et al., 2016; Meyfroidt & Lambin, 2009; Patterson & Coelho, 2008). Individual case studies are extremely variant in their display of feedback dynamics and detecting missing feedbacks will vary from case to case.

FIGURE 1 Summary schematic of our approach to (1) using red-loop green-loop classification of historical time periods to (2) uncovering missing feedbacks for which we suggest (3) mechanisms to reinstate the feedbacks and recouple the coral reef social-ecological system



1.2 | Using the 'red loop-green loop' model to identify missing feedbacks

We argue that a framing is required which assists with feedback classification and can identify missing feedback scenarios. The 'red loop-green loop' (RL-GL) concept (Cumming et al., 2014) provides this framing for two differing forms of ecosystem dependence and sustainable resource use.

The RL-GL concept proposes that human resource dependence on a national scale tends to follow one of two fundamentally different trajectories that are reinforced by weak ties with local ecosystems and strong ties with distal systems (red loop), or strong ties with local ecosystems and weak ties with distal systems (green loop; Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel, 2018). In both red- and green-loop countries, the entire economy or certain economic sectors can evolve into trap situations that can severely threaten the long-term sustainability of the current trajectory (Cumming et al., 2014). Green traps can occur as the human population in a green-loop economy grows without adequate food production from the local ecosystem, leading to a spiral of increased overharvesting and environmental degradation (Steneck, 2009). To avoid this green-trap situation, societies can divert their dependence towards external ecosystem services, for instance by means of food import, which would lead towards red-loop dynamics. In a red-loop trajectory, the economy's ecological impact reaches to distal ecosystems as well as the local system. For instance, reforestation in parts of Vietnam between 1987 and 2006 was achieved at the expense of forest displacement from other parts of the country as well as partly illegal imports from deforestation in neighbouring countries such as Cambodia and Laos (Meyfroidt & Lambin, 2009). The example illustrates a red-trap situation where supply and consumption are maintained without recognition of the ecological degradation entails in other local ecosystems due to missing feedbacks.

In summary, as sectors in the economy relying on local ecosystems for resources approach a red trap and the economy as a whole increases its dependence on distal systems, the likelihood of missing feedbacks between the country's society and local ecosystems increases. Therefore, societal and ecological dimensions of the SES run the risk of decoupling and a recoupling of the SES becomes more necessary for local system sustainability.

We argue that once the missing feedbacks have been identified, interventions to reinstate them could recouple local SES and move economic sectors out of red- or green-trap trajectories. Applying the RL-GL concept to historical SES data can facilitate an understanding of how feedback dynamics have changed through time (Cumming et al., 2014; Hamann, Biggs, & Reyers, 2015) and what trajectory an economic sector is currently following (Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel, 2018). This can highlight points where the SES decoupled and thus identify opportunities to recouple the SES and avoid trap scenarios.

In this study, we apply the RL–GL framework to understand and classify the SES dynamics in the context of Jamaican coral reefs (Figure 1), using mixed historical data dating back to roughly the year 600. With this historical understanding, we focus on uncovering missing feedbacks between the Jamaican people and their coral reef system. Lastly, we propose mechanisms that could move the current Jamaican coral reef SES out of recently assumed red-trap dynamics.

2 | JAMAICAN CORAL REEF SES DYNAMICS THROUGH TIME

We identified and categorized social-ecological trajectories and feedbacks of Jamaican coral reefs across eight time periods (Table 1), from around 600 to the present. For the first six time periods (Ostionan, Meilican, Spanish occupation, British colonization, Post-emancipation and World Wars I & II), the available data are mostly qualitative. Hardt (2009) and Hicks, Crowder, Graham, Kittinger, and Cornu (2016) conclusively reconstructed the social-ecological dynamics for these time periods and we use them as our primary reference to infer about the nature (red or green loop) of those dynamics.

Time period	Data type	References	TABLE 1 Historical data types and sources per time period of Jamaican
Ostionan (600–900)	Qualitative:	Hardt (2009) and Hicks et al. (2016)	history
Meilican (900–1500)	Kitchen midden analyses		
Spanish occupation (1509–1655)	Qualitative: Sailors' logbooks & historical descriptions by naturalists, historians & fisheries scientists	Beckwith (1929), Hardt (2009), Hicks et al. (2016), Munro et al.	
British colonization (1656-1834)		(1971) and Thompson (1945)	
Post-emancipation (1834–1900)			
World Wars I & II (1901–1945)			
Post-war (1946–1985)	Quantitative:	Clayton (2001), FAOSTAT (2019),	
Shifted reefs (1985-2017)	Fisheries, demographic, economic and ecological data	Hardt (2009), Hicks et al. (2016), Hughes (1994), Lingard et al. (2012), Oswald (1963), United Nations Development Program (2018) and World Bank (2019)	



FIGURE 2 Jamaica's inferred dependence on coral reefs from low to high (black line) and human population (red line) through time. Time up to future scenarios is split into eight separate time periods and for each we determined ecological reef regime state of the reef (fish & coral/algae symbols) as well as major economic state of Jamaica (pie graphs). Colour of the pie graph segments indicates Jamaica's economic state along the RL-GL spectrum: green loop (light green), green trap (dark green), red loop (light red), red trap (dark red); population based on Hardt (2009; up to 1950) & United Nations, DESA, Population Division, World Population Prospects 2019, http://population.un.org/wpp/ (from 1950)

Most quantitative data became available from 1950 and we use them to infer about social-ecological dynamics in the last two time periods (Post-war and Shifted reefs; Clayton, 2001; FAOSTAT, 2019; Hardt, 2009; Hicks et al., 2016; Hughes, 1994; Lingard et al., 2012; Oswald, 1963). To illustrate social-ecological dynamics between the Jamaican society and their coral reefs over eight time periods, we used a mixed quantitative and qualitative approach. For each time period, we inferred Jamaican social-ecological dynamics from indicators of social change, changes in human population size, economic diversification, as well as ecological change (Figure 2). We then focused on the social-ecological dynamics around local Jamaican coral reefs, viewed them as an individual economic sector, as well as through an RL-GL lens for each of the time periods and suggest mechanisms to approach green-loop dynamics in future scenarios (Figure 3).

2.1 | Ostionan period (600s-900s): Green-loop dynamics

From roughly the 600s–900s, Jamaica was inhabited by Ostionan period people and dependence on coral reefs was largely based on fishing (Figure 2). This resource extraction increased with a growing





human population with no indication of trade or other connections to other systems (Hardt, 2009), as well as a relatively small population size, leading to the classification of this period as a green-loop state (Figure 3).

2.2 | Meilican period (900s-1500s): Green-trap dynamics

During the Meilican period, the human population on Jamaica grew rapidly and by 1500 had reached ~1 million people (Hardt, 2009; Hicks et al., 2016; Figure 2). Decreasing reef fish catch sizes indicate that the reef ecosystem was overexploited under the pressure of the growing human population and there is no evidence of trade prior to the first European contact that could have reduced pressure on the coral reef ecosystem (Hardt, 2009). Based on gradually decreasing fish sizes in kitchen middens suggesting a 'fishing down the food web' situation (Pauly & Palomares, 2005), we concluded that the SES between the Jamaican people and the reef ecosystem during the Meilican period was characterized by green-trap dynamics (Figure 3).

2.3 | Spanish occupation period (1509–1655): Green-loop dynamics

With the Spanish occupation in 1509 the Jamaican population declined significantly due to the introduction of new diseases and harsh treatment of the local population (Hicks et al., 2016). By the mid-1510s, the population had been reduced by over 99% from the Meilican period, to approximately 5,000 people, which lessened pressure on the reef ecosystem (Hardt, 2009; Figure 2). Pressure was further reduced via an alternate source of protein by the introduction of pigs and cattle from Spain (characteristic of a red-loop dynamic), resulting in a temporary recovery of reefs (Hardt, 2009). Due to these two pressure reduction factors and minimal dependence on coral reef resources, the local SES returned to a green loop during Spanish occupation (Figure 3).

2.4 | British colonization period (1656–1834): Green-loop dynamics

With the colonization by the British in 1656, Jamaica was being developed into a hub for international trade. Sugar, coffee and bananas were increasingly used as trade commodities for salt fish from the UK, USA and Canada (red-loop dynamic; Figure 2). As a result of this resource diversification, reefs were further relieved from fishing pressure (Hardt, 2009; Hicks et al., 2016). The human population of Jamaica started to grow rapidly with the increase in slavery (>300,000 slaves by 1810) as the colonizers expanded their plantations (Hicks et al., 2016). Again, the reef system began to show signs of overexploitation around 1800 as reef fish were increasingly used as food for the plantation owners (Hardt, 2009). During British colonization, the Jamaican community gradually came to re-kindle their

dependence on the reef system after barely depending on it during Spanish occupation. Although reef dependence was largely based on subsistence fishing, fishing regulations (e.g. minimum mesh size for fishing nets) put in place by the colonizers suggest that there was an awareness of changes occurring in the local SES and a feedback between society and the reef ecosystem existed (Hardt, 2009). While the larger part of the Jamaican economy was involved in global trade and hence red-loop dynamics (Figure 2), the coral reef SES dynamics remained localized and in a green loop (Figure 3).

2.5 | Post-emancipation period (1834–1900): Red-trap dynamics

With emancipation in 1834, Jamaica's human population surged towards Meilican levels (~1 million by 1900) and reef dependence shifted from feeding the local population to using reef fish as a trading commodity for salt fish (Figure 2), which the Jamaican community had become used to during times of slavery (Hicks et al., 2016). The salt fish dependence was so strong that by the 1830s, local reef resources (including fish and coral) were traded to be able to import salt fish from the USA, Canada and the UK (Hardt, 2009). This indirect dependence on local reefs for trade masked the feedback within the SES and began to decouple the reef environment from the local society, likely for the first time in Jamaican history. The increased fishing of reef fish for trade with salt fish producing countries, shifted the coral reef SES dynamics from green loop to red trap (Figure 3).

2.6 | World Wars I & II period (1901–1945): From red- to green-trap dynamics

With the advent of tourism and urbanization in the 1900s, redtrap dynamics were further reinforced (Beckwith, 1929; Hicks et al., 2016; Thompson, 1945; Figure 2). Accelerated population growth in the early 1900s led Jamaicans to depend on reef resources for both subsistence and trade (Hardt, 2009). Technological development of fishing gear, especially the adoption of wire mesh fish traps in the 1910s (Munro, Reeson, & Gaut, 1971), caused a shift in dominant fishing mode from seine nets to traps (a technique with even heavier impact on purely reef-dwelling fish) and spiralled further reef degradation (Hicks et al., 2016).

With the onset of World War II, trade suffered a dramatic decline and the Jamaican population had to increasingly rely on local reef fish for food instead of imported salt fish. Green-loop dynamics were forced to be resumed between Jamaican society and reef ecosystem and the SES began to recouple. In 1945, Jamaica's dependence on local fish stocks peaked (Hardt, 2009) and overfishing of near-shore fish stocks was officially recognized for the first time by government fisheries scientist E. Thompson (1945). Due to a rapidly growing population (~1.3 million in 1945), limited economic diversification and Jamaican reef dependence rising as a result, the human population quickly outgrew the provisioning capacities of the reef ecosystem (Hardt, 2009). We argue that the SES could not sustain this quick fall-back on the reef ecosystem for resources during WWII and the resumed green-loop dynamics quickly manifested as green-trap dynamics (Figure 3).

2.7 | Post-war period (1946–1985): Green-trap dynamics

As Jamaica's dependence on local reefs for food peaked, the government established the Fisheries Division and developed an off-shore fishery (Oswald, 1963) to be able to keep up with the increasing demand for seafood (Figure 2). Thompson's suggestions to subsidize job transitions for fishers into other jobs were ignored, and the expansion of the reef fishery was instead heavily subsidized in the 1970s and 1980s (Hardt, 2009), which reinforced the green-trap dynamics. In parallel, increasing urbanization, tourism and industrialization (e.g. development of large-scale bauxite mining) were causing reef degradation through pollution of near-shore waters (Hardt, 2009; Hicks et al., 2016). During the 1980s, Jamaica also reported the highest regional deforestation rates, leading to a substantial loss of mangroves (Agard et al., 2007). In 1983-1984, reefs suffered surges of hurricane damage and a sea urchin disease, which in combination with overfishing led to an ecological regime shift where coral reefs became rapidly overgrown by algae (Hughes, 1994). This regime shift and the noticeable catch reductions of reef-dwelling and reef-associated fish species due to overfishing (Figure S1) caused a further spatial expansion of Jamaica's fisheries so that the most productive fisheries were now in far offshore environments (Lingard et al., 2012; Oswald, 1963). The combined effects of reduced catches from reef fisheries and resulting further fisheries off-shore expansion, as well as the coral reef regime shift, led Jamaican social-ecological reef dynamics to spiral into a green trap (Figure 3). By the late 1980s, Jamaica's economy had diversified and moved into globally connected red-loop dynamics (e.g. revamping salt fish trade), which in part compensated for the heavily degraded reef ecosystem (Figure 2).

2.8 | Shifted reefs period (1985–2017): Red-trap dynamics

Following the ecological regime shift, the reef system was severely degraded and the dependence of Jamaicans on the reefs was decreasing. The percentage of employed fishers in the rising Jamaican population declined (FAOSTAT, 2019) and workers in non-ecosystem service sectors increased (Clayton, 2001; Figure 2). Jamaica's fisheries catches were largely made up of subsistence catches, but a part was, once again, used for exports (Figure S1; FAOSTAT, 2019; Lingard et al., 2012). Resuming the resource extraction from the exhausted reef ecosystem for trade, again led to the missing feedback and repeated the decoupling of the SES we described for the post-emancipation period and dynamics of a red trap (Figure 3).

2.9 | Jamaica's recent red-loop economy supporting a red-trap coral reef SES

Although the Jamaican coral reef SES was kept in a red-trap situation between 1990 and 2017, the country increased its Human Development Index (HDI) from 0.638 to 0.732 (14.8% increase: United Nations Development Program, 2018). Generally, red-loop and green-loop countries appear to separate along a gradient of the HDI, where HDI class 1 countries assume red loops and HDI class 4 countries assume green loops, while HDI class 2 and HDI class 3 countries are more difficult to classify and show characteristics of both loops (Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel, 2018). Economic diversification allowed Jamaica with its ~2.9 million population (Figure 2), to be placed in a HDI class 1 in 2017 (United Nations Development Program, 2018), at the median of red-loop countries (HDI of ~0.7; Cumming & von Cramon-Taubadel, 2018). The economic stability gained from diversification has allowed some other nations to improve local ecosystem sustainability (Hansen et al., 2018; Martens & Raza, 2010). A diversified economy is a relatively recent development for Jamaica that had not yet developed when the local SES attempted to move away from red-trap dynamics (i.e. during the World Wars I & II period, Figure 3). A diverse, largely red-loop economy that can lessen the requirements placed on the local coral reef SES could be of great assistance in intervening with current local reef SES red-trap dynamics, provided that the correct guidance is applied to proposed interventions. We propose a set of mechanisms for current Jamaican red-trap dynamics that are meant to reinstate a feedback between society and reef ecosystem to recouple both.

3 | REINSTATING MISSING FEEDBACKS IN A LOCAL RED-TRAP SYSTEM

Based on the historical assessment of Jamaican SES dynamics, we discuss possible interventions that may lead to a recoupled Jamaican local reef SES. Highlighting missing feedbacks can help steer a system out of red-trap dynamics (Figure 3). Importantly, we propose a set of mechanisms that are supposed to tackle the systemic design of the Jamaican coral reef SES rather than only few systemic parameters. This prioritization of interventions is highlighted by the 'Leverage Points' perspective (Abson et al., 2017; Fischer & Riechers, 2019; Meadows, 1999) and guided our proposed intervention. The leverage points perspective argues for prioritization of interventions that have large transformational potential (deep leverage) over those that are usually used but have little to no impact (shallow leverage; Abson et al., 2017). These deep leverage points are difficult to implement because they often prioritize tackling system design and intent (deep leverage) over system parameters (shallow leverage), which is why they are under-used and under-researched (Fischer & Riechers, 2019). Their transformational potential applies well to our case study and hence guides the interventions we are proposing to implement here.

3.1 | Pursuing a green-loop coral reef socialecological system design through seafood export bans

With an annual per capita fish consumption of 25.8 kg (2017), Jamaica ranks amongst the highest seafood consuming countries in the Americas. Yet, 79% of Jamaica's supply of all fishery products consumed domestically in 2017 stemmed from imports (FAOSTAT, 2019). Our historical analysis of Jamaica shows that seafood exports were a main driver in decoupling the feedback within the coral reef SES, especially in the post-emancipation period, World Wars I & II period and the shifted reef period (Figure 3).

We propose an intervention strategy following a deep leverage point in the system's design (Abson et al., 2017). The local coral reef SES could be gradually designed towards green-loop dynamics in which locally sourced reef produce are rerouted from exports to domestic markets. In envisaging the local reef SES, local seafood catches from the near-shore and off-shore environment would not serve as exports and only be used for domestic markets, including consumption (e.g. by locals) and sales (e.g. to tourists). A system averse to exports of locally sourced seafood would reinstate a direct feedback between the Jamaican society and the local reef ecosystem. However, for this reinstated feedback to be sustainable, and avoid a green-trap scenario, careful monitoring and management of the resource will be necessary. This could lead to the desired recoupling of the Jamaican coral reef SES and enable movement towards locally connected green-loop dynamics within an otherwise globally connected red-loop system.

A coral reef SES in which seafood is locally sourced and used, would, according to RL-GL thinking, be more sustainable than the current red-trap situation (Cumming et al., 2014). For this reinstated feedback to have the desired effect, it is crucial that the information on the ecosystem's state that is fed back to the Jamaican society is reacted on appropriately. This means that the feedback is not ignored, as was the case in 1945 when the suggestions and warnings by fisheries scientist Thompson were ignored by the Jamaican government (Hardt, 2009). Existing feedbacks that are ignored can also have destructive effects on the ecosystem (Degnbol & McCay, 2007), although, our historical analysis of the Jamaica case indicates that missing feedbacks were more frequently occurring in the coral reef SES than ignored ones.

3.2 | Strengthening green loops in other regions

Examples of mechanisms that can assist the transition from red-trap to green-loop dynamics exist in the literature. As in the cod example above, one mechanism to reinstate the missing feedbacks could be in strengthening information flow from fishers to consumers (Crona et al., 2016). Eco-labels could provide this transparency to consumers; specifically, labels with a 'locally grown' claim have been suggested to be more highly valued by consumers in the United States (Giovannucci, Barham, & Pirog, 2010; Loureiro & Hine, 2002; Onozaka & McFadden, 2011). A 'locally sourced' eco-label could lend itself to reinstate sustainable stewardship of local reef produce. Besides such labelling schemes, education and public campaigns are central instruments for consumers to make informed decisions that can help reinstate feedbacks (Crona et al., 2016). Moreover, traceability is a key mechanism in this context to ensure supply chains are devoid of unacceptable behaviour, ranging from illegal sourcing and forced labour to poor sanitation and mislabelling (Nyström et al., 2019).

Addressing unsustainable trajectories from deep within a SES is complex and sometimes difficult to monitor through time. For example, it has been suggested that many South-East Asian economies (van Mulekom et al., 2006) could alleviate malnutrition and poverty by redirecting the considerable resources gained through fishing away from exports and towards domestic use, particularly given the rich micronutrient yields in these catches (Hicks et al., 2019). For a region as large as South-East Asia, it is difficult to understand whether these suggestions have led to improvement, largely because the documentation is very inconsistent (Béné et al., 2016). However, shifts towards fishing for domestic markets have been noted in the province of Phang-nga, Thailand (Jones, Gray, & Umponstira, 2010) and the Philippines (Fabinyi, 2016). Some South-East Asian countries might not be as economically well-placed to manifest a green-loop dynamic for their local reef ecosystems, since the marine seafood sector creates a large percentage of national revenue. For instance, Indonesia appears to favour an increase in marine seafood exports, believing that further development of marine resource exports (4.2 billion USD; FAOSTAT, 2018) is vital for bringing Indonesia out of its recent economic crisis (Rizal, Herawati, Zidni, Apriliani, & Ismail, 2018).

A recent study from Seychelles demonstrated substantial catch declines in prized red snapper species, locally called 'bourzwa' (Robinson et al., 2020), with exports leading to price increases to the point where the fish became unaffordable to locals. In attempts to protect livelihoods, lower the prices and achieve recovery of the species' stocks, export bans from 2020 have been proposed for bourzwa (Robinson & Graham, 2020). Similar price dynamics might be driving the Jamaican affinity for imported fish consumption in our case study. Export bans could lead to price reduction in local reef fish, make it more affordable for locals and hence increase their consumption. In the optimal case, this could gradually increase local seafood sustainability, as well as increase the perceived value of the local reef ecosystem and an increased sense of stewardship (Chapin et al., 2010) to gradually close the feedback loop.

The success of an export ban, however, depends on the availability of data to fully understand SES dynamics. In the Seychelles example, Robinson et al. (2020) use detailed fisheries data to show that local markets were already buying four times as much bourzwa as is exported and elude to the limited likelihood that export bans may have on reducing bourzwa prices, and that other local fisheries management efforts will be key to sustainability (Robinson et al., 2020). Comparative data in Jamaica are very limited, with the most recent (2002) specific seafood export information noting lobster, conch and 'some fish' (FAOSTAT, 2019). An export ban, if implemented, should be preceded and accompanied by detailed monitoring of fisheries data to uncover if similar dynamics to Seychelles could be at play in Jamaica. Similarly, an example from Palau, where the government banned 80% of fishing from foreign vessels in their off-shore waters caused effort to transition to near-shore waters, increasing the pressure on reef fish species (Dacks, Lewis, James, Marino, & Oleson, 2020).

The above examples demonstrate the possible effectiveness of an export ban for recoupling feedbacks within an SES. Yet, these case studies also emphasize the importance of having detailed data to understand past, current and future SES dynamics. In the following section, we propose where further data could enhance the establishment of a green-loop coral reef SES.

3.3 | Monitoring required for the green loop

Based on our historical analysis of SES dynamics, we argue that the diverse red-loop economy of Jamaica is at a point where the small export revenue derived from the local reef fishery (12.9 million USD) could be rerouted to domestic markets to increase local coral reef SES sustainability (FAOSTAT, 2019). In our historical analysis, when Jamaica was forced to resume green-loop dynamics for the local reef SES during WWII, the economy had only five main sectors whereas today it has nine (World Bank, 2019). Jamaica acts as a conceptual example in which we demonstrate how a diverse economy could help leverage a green-loop pathway for its local ecosystem dependence.

For a green loop through export bans to work, a thorough, species-specific comparison of seafood imports and exports needs to be established to be able to gauge the full benefit of an export ban (Robinson & Graham, 2020). In addition, the local and international demand for species-specific seafood needs to be thoroughly understood so that the government can anticipate potential knock-on effects (Dacks et al., 2020).

Consistent ecological monitoring of the Jamaican reef system has usually been scarce, as we have seen through our historical analysis. The peak of ecological monitoring was likely during the benthic regime shift and even recently, consistent government-led ecological monitoring of the reefs has been spatially and temporally fragmented (Creary, Smith, & Green, 2012; Lapointe, Thacker, Hanson, & Getten, 2011). Consistent monitoring should provide concurrent ecological awareness that would enable more reactive management to ecological change in the future.

The interventions we suggest above were formulated by searching for points in the system's design that we could leverage to prolong its sustainability. We decided to pursue the design of a green loop coral reef SES and we highlight the benefits and drawbacks for this pathway, but our suggestions are not exhaustive. For instance, within the leverage points framework, there are more pathways which could lead to different interventions (e.g. pursuing the alteration of the system's intent through alternative governance) which future studies could explore.

4 | CONCLUSION

Within sustainability research there are different concepts to disentangle social-ecological dynamics. We demonstrate the value of examining complex dynamics through a conceptual lens by using Jamaica's complex coral reef SES dynamics as a case study. We identified a decoupling in the SES using the feedbacks concept—the feedbacks from coral reefs to Jamaican society had become masked. The resulting missing feedbacks were uncovered with the RL-GL concept. Throughout Jamaica's social-ecological history, the SES dynamics between people and the coral reef ecosystem have moved between all four dynamic states described in the RL-GL concept: green loop, green trap, red loop and red trap.

Jamaica's society has experienced the effects of a degrading near-shore system in the past, at the very least in the form of changes in the types of seafood available for consumption. In its current form, the Jamaican economy has effectively diluted any severe repercussions through a rapidly diversifying economy. Historically, when rapidly growing human populations led to the near-shore system being heavily exploited, or when the dependence on other fisheries products were interrupted, Jamaica had relatively productive reef systems to fall back on. Whether this can be done again in the future will depend on the intent of the SES and whether feedback mechanisms are in place to signal ecological condition.

We propose mechanisms that could guide transitions away from the red trap that the SES dynamics have currently settled on. We highlight examples of countries that have used a specific intervention in order to move from an unsustainable local red-trap situation to more sustainable green-loop dynamics. We suggest that a successful transition into green-loop dynamics will strongly depend on data availability and continued monitoring of the SES. Future studies should seek to draw on different and multi-disciplinary perspectives to explore this and other interventions and test their feasibility with empirical data.

We arrived at our conclusion through using a conceptual lens that highlights the feedbacks within RL-GL concept and applying it to Jamaica's rich social-ecological coral reef history to reveal potential future pathways. These pathways need to be carefully re-considered under the light of a range of proficiencies, including political, economic and social expertise, before they can be successfully implemented. We want to highlight the practicality of how we applied the RL-GL concept to uncover missing feedbacks within complex social-ecological dynamics and encourage future studies to apply it to other systems to further advance sustainability research.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Christina Hicks, Joshua Gittins, Graeme Cumming and one anonymous reviewer for their constructive feedback on the manuscript. This work was supported through grants from the Royal Society, Stockholm Resilience Centre, Lancaster University Graduate School and a Lancaster University Faculty of Science and Technology PhD studentship.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

AUTHORS' CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors conceived core ideas and contributed critically to the design of the study; J.-C.D. acquired and analysed the data; all authors interpreted the results. J.-C.D. wrote the first draft of the manuscript, and all authors contributed critically to subsequent drafts and gave final approval for publication.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All data used in this paper have already been published or archived elsewhere (see Table 1).

ORCID

Jan-Claas Dajka Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-0797-9229 Anna J. Woodhead Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-4535-8482 Albert V. Norström Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-0706-9233 Nicholas A. J. Graham Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0002-0304-7467 Maraja Riechers Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-3916-8102 Magnus Nyström Dhttps://orcid.org/0000-0003-3608-2426

REFERENCES

Abson, D. J., Fischer, J., Leventon, J., Newig, J., Schomerus, T., Vilsmaier, U., ... Lang, D. J. (2017). Leverage points for sustainability transformation. *Ambio*, 46, 30–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13280-016-0800-y

- Agard, J., Cropper, A., Aquing, P., Attzs, M., Arias, F., Beltrân, J., ... Corredor, J. (2007). Caribbean Sea ecosystem assessment (CARSEA). *Caribbean Marine Studies*, *8*, 1–85.
- Anderson, K. (2010). Globalization's effects on world agricultural trade, 1960–2050. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365, 3007–3021.
- Barnett, A., & Anderies, J. (2014). Weak feedbacks, governance mismatches, and the robustness of social-ecological systems: an analysis of the Southwest Nova Scotia lobster fishery with comparison to Maine. *Ecology and Society*, 19, 39.
- Beckwith, M. W. (1929). Black roadways: A study of Jamaican folk life. Chapel Hill, NC: The University of North Carolina Press.
- Béné, C., Arthur, R., Norbury, H., Allison, E. H., Beveridge, M., Bush, S., ... Williams, M. (2016). Contribution of fisheries and aquaculture to food security and poverty reduction: Assessing the current evidence. *World Development*, 79, 177–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.world dev.2015.11.007
- Berkes, F. (2007). Community-based conservation in a globalized world. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 104, 15188–15193. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.07020 98104
- Chapin, F. S., Carpenter, S. R., Kofinas, G. P., Folke, C., Abel, N., Clark, W. C., ... Swanson, F. J. (2010). Ecosystem stewardship: Sustainability strategies for a rapidly changing planet. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 25, 241–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.10. 008

- Clapp, J. (2014). Financialization, distance and global food politics. Journal of Peasant Studies, 41, 797–814. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150. 2013.875536
- Clayton, A. (2001). Developing a bioindustry cluster in Jamaica: A step towards building a skill-based economy. *Social and Economic Studies*, 50, 1–37.
- Creary, M., Smith, L. J., & Green, S. (2012). Reef health monitoring to inform climate change policy in Jamaica. In *Proceedings of the 12th International Coral Reef Symposium*, 9–13 July 2012, 18B (pp. 9–13). Cairns, Australia: Managing Coral Reef Ecosystems under a Changing Climate.
- Crona, B. I., Daw, T. M., Swartz, W., Norström, A. V., Nyström, M., Thyresson, M., ... Troell, M. (2016). Masked, diluted and drowned out: How global seafood trade weakens signals from marine ecosystems. *Fish and Fisheries*, 17, 1175–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12109
- Cumming, G. S., Buerkert, A., Hoffmann, E. M., Schlecht, E., von Cramon-Taubadel, S., & Tscharntke, T. (2014). Implications of agricultural transitions and urbanization for ecosystem services. *Nature*, 515, 50–57. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13945
- Cumming, G. S., & von Cramon-Taubadel, S. (2018). Linking economic growth pathways and environmental sustainability by understanding development as alternate social–ecological regimes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115, 9533–9538. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1807026115
- Dacks, R., Lewis, S. A., James, P. A., Marino, L. L., & Oleson, K. L. (2020). Documenting baseline value chains of Palau's nearshore and offshore fisheries prior to implementing a large-scale marine protected area. *Marine Policy*, 103754, in press. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.marpol.2019.103754
- Degnbol, P., & McCay, B. J. (2007). Unintended and perverse consequences of ignoring linkages in fisheries systems. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 64, 793–797. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsm040
- Fabinyi, M. (2016). Producing for Chinese luxury seafood value chains: Different outcomes for producers in the Philippines and North America. *Marine Policy*, *63*, 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol. 2015.03.024
- FAOSTAT. (2018). *Indonesia. FAO Statistics Division* (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Ed.). Rome, Italy: FAOSTAT.
- FAOSTAT. (2019). Jamaica. FAO Statistics Division (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Ed.). Rome, Italy: FAOSTAT.
- Fischer, J., & Riechers, M. (2019). A leverage points perspective on sustainability. *People and Nature*, 1, 115–120. https://doi.org/10.1002/ pan3.13
- Giovannucci, D., Barham, E., & Pirog, R. (2010). Defining and marketing 'local' foods: Geographical indications for US products. *The Journal of World Intellectual Property*, 13, 94–120. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1747-1796.2009.00370.x
- Hamann, M., Biggs, R., & Reyers, B. (2015). Mapping social-ecological systems: Identifying 'green-loop' and 'red-loop' dynamics based on characteristic bundles of ecosystem service use. *Global Environmental Change*, 34, 218–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2015. 07.008
- Hansen, U. E., Nygaard, I., Romijn, H., Wieczorek, A., Kamp, L. M., & Klerkx, L. (2018). Sustainability transitions in developing countries: Stocktaking, new contributions and a research agenda. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 84, 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.11.009
- Hardt, M. J. (2009). Lessons from the past: The collapse of Jamaican coral reefs. *Fish and Fisheries*, 10, 143–158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-2979.2008.00308.x
- Hicks, C. C., Cohen, P. J., Graham, N. A. J., Nash, K. L., Allison, E. H., D'Lima, C., ... MacNeil, M. A. (2019). Harnessing global fisheries to tackle micronutrient deficiencies. *Nature*, 574, 95–98. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-019-1592-6
- Hicks, C. C., Crowder, L. B., Graham, N. A. J., Kittinger, J. N., & Cornu, E. L. (2016). Social drivers forewarn of marine regime shifts. *Frontiers in*

Ecology and the Environment, 14, 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1284

- Hoole, A., & Berkes, F. (2010). Breaking down fences: Recoupling socialecological systems for biodiversity conservation in Namibia. *Geoforum*, 41, 304–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2009. 10.009
- Hughes, T. P. (1994). Catastrophes, phase shifts and large-scale degradation of a Caribbean coral reef. *Science*, *265*, 1547–1551. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.265.5178.1547
- Jones, E. V., Gray, T. S., & Umponstira, C. (2010). Small-scale fishing: Perceptions and threats to conserving a livelihood in the province of Phang-Nga, Thailand. *Environment Asia*, 3, 1–7.
- Lapointe, B. E., Thacker, K., Hanson, C., & Getten, L. (2011). Sewage pollution in Negril, Jamaica: Effects on nutrition and ecology of coral reef macroalgae. *Chinese Journal of Oceanology and Limnology*, 29, 775-789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-011-0506-8
- Levin, S. A. (1999). Fragile dominion: Complexity and the commons. Reading, MA: Perseus Books.
- Lingard, S., Harper, S., Aiken, C., Hado, N., Smikle, S., & Zeller, D. (2012). Marine fisheries of Jamaica: Total reconstructed catch 1950–2010. In S. Harper, K. Zylich, L. Boonzaier, F. Le Manach, D. Pauly, & D. Zeller (Eds.), *Fisheries catch reconstructions: Islands, Part III*, Fisheries Centre Research Reports (Vol. 20, pp. 47–59). Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia.
- Loureiro, M. L., & Hine, S. (2002). Discovering niche markets: A comparison of consumer willingness to pay for local (Colorado grown), organic, and GMO-free products. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, 34, 477–487. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1074070800009251
- Martens, P., & Raza, M. (2010). Is globalisation sustainable? *Sustainability*, 2, 280–293. https://doi.org/10.3390/su2010280
- Meadows, D. H. (1999). Leverage points: Places to intervene in a system. Hartland, VT: Sustainability Institute.
- Meyfroidt, P., & Lambin, E. F. (2009). Forest transition in Vietnam and displacement of deforestation abroad. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106, 16139– 16144. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0904942106
- Munro, J., Reeson, P., & Gaut, V. (1971). Dynamic factors affecting the performance of the Antillean fish trap. *Proceedings of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute*, 23, 184–194.
- Nyström, M., Jouffray, J.-B., Norström, A. V., Crona, B., Jørgensen, P. S., Carpenter, S., ... Folke, C. (2019). Anatomy and resilience of the global production ecosystem. *Nature*, 575, 98–108. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41586-019-1712-3
- Nyström, M., Norström, A. V., Blenckner, T., de la Torre-Castro, M., Eklöf, J. S., Folke, C., ... Troell, M. (2012). Confronting feedbacks of degraded marine ecosystems. *Ecosystems*, 15, 695–710. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10021-012-9530-6
- Onozaka, Y., & McFadden, D. T. (2011). Does local labeling complement or compete with other sustainable labels? A conjoint analysis of direct and joint values for fresh produce claim. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 93, 693–706. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajae/ aar005

- Oswald, E. (1963). Developing an offshore fishery in Jamaica. *Proceedings* of the Gulf and Caribbean Fisheries Institute, 15, 134–139.
- Patterson, T. M., & Coelho, D. L. (2008). Missing feedback in payments for ecosystem services. In R. L. Chapman (Ed.), *Creating sustainability* within our midst: Challenges for the 21st century (pp. 61–72). New York, NY: Pace University Press.
- Pauly, D., & Palomares, M.-L. (2005). Fishing down marine food web: It is far more pervasive than we thought. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, 76, 197–212.
- Rizal, A., Herawati, H., Zidni, I., Apriliani, I. M., & Ismail, M. R. (2018). The role of marine sector optimization strategy in the stabilisation of Indonesian economy. *World Scientific News*, 102, 146–157.
- Robinson, J. P., & Graham, N. A. (2020). Tropical fisheries: Does limiting international trade protect local people and marine life? London, UK: The Conversation Trust Limited.
- Robinson, J. P., Robinson, J., Gerry, C., Govinden, R., Freshwater, C., & Graham, N. A. (2020). Diversification insulates fisher catch and revenue in heavily exploited tropical fisheries. *Science Advances*, 6, eaaz0587. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aaz0587
- Steneck, R. S. (2009). Marine conservation: Moving beyond malthus. *Current Biology*, 19, R117–R119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008. 12.009
- Thompson, E. F. (1945). The fisheries of Jamaica. Development and Welfare in the West Indies Bulletin, 18, 102.
- United Nations Development Program. (2018). Jamaica. Development program (Human Development Report Office, Ed.). New York, NY: United Nations.
- Van der Ploeg, F. (2014). Abrupt positive feedback and the social cost of carbon. European Economic Review, 67, 28–41. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2014.01.004
- van Mulekom, L., Axelsson, A., Batungbacal, E. P., Baxter, D., Siregar, R., & de la Torre, I. (2006). Trade and export orientation of fisheries in Southeast Asia: Under-priced export at the expense of domestic food security and local economies. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, 49, 546–561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2006.06.001
- World Bank. (2019). Jamaica. Financial sector assessment program. Washington, DC: World Bank; International Monetary Fund.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section.

How to cite this article: Dajka J-C, Woodhead AJ, Norström AV, Graham NAJ, Riechers M, Nyström M. Red and green loops help uncover missing feedbacks in a coral reef socialecological system. *People Nat*. 2020;00:1–11. <u>https://doi.</u> org/10.1002/pan3.10092